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Chairman’s statement

On 1 October 2010 UK Asset Resolution Ltd ('UKAR') was established as the holding company for Northern Rock (Asset Management)
plc {{NRAM'} and Bradford & Bingley plc (B&B’}, bnnging together the two companies under shared management and a commen
Board of Directors

This 15 the first annual report of NRAM since its combination with B&B under the ownership of UKAR There Is no legal requirement
to produce consolidated UKAR accounts this year dus to the short accounting penod covered so we have only produced separate
accounts for NRAM and B&B, saving taxpayers' money However, my repert and the Chief Executive Officer's (‘'CEQ'} report, and a
number of other sections of these accounts, cover both companies

UKAR and its two component firms share a common Board of Diectors This 1s an efficient and cost effective way of working but we
have to ensure that each firn operates independently as there are two distinct and separate pools of creditors We are managing an
orderly wind-down, so we have to be very careful to mantan the correct hierarchy of creditors and ensure conflicts of interest are
property managed

In addition to myself, the Board of UKAR comprises three Non-Executive Directors from NRAM — Kent Atkinson, Sue Langley and
Keith Morgan together with three Non-Executive Directors from B&B - Michael Buckley, Louse Patten and John Tattersall Therg 1s
one Executive Director, Richard Banks, our Chief Executive Richard, assisted by a management team drawn from the two firms, has
done a good job setting up UKAR The new Board compnses strong banking, nsk and operational expertise which will be essential to
oversee the activities of the Company

Bob Davies, previcusly a NRAM Non-Executive Director, stocod down from the Board on 31 December 2010 and | thank hum for his
contribution to the businesses throughout the year On 1 October 2010 Philip Remnant, who served as a Non-Executive Director of
NRAM, stocd down together with the Chief Executive, Gary Hoffman, and Chief Operating Officer, Andy Tate | would like to take this
opportunity to thank all three for theur efforts in leading the NRAM business dunng the year

UKAR has, In total, an £80bn book of residential mortgage assets and running this down will take many years The NRAM book
comprises manly residential mortgages and has a faster run-off rate than B&B which comprises a mayority of buy-to-let mortgages
Very few of our mortgages would be wntten on thew current terms by any financial institution today Either the loan to value or earnings
multiple would be considered too high, or the pricing would be viewed as too cheap

However, the vast majorty of customers are up to date with ther payments — in NBAM 87% and In B&B 91% In terms of 3+
months arrears, B&B has made good progress during the vear This reflects tight management of collection actvity and, for buy-
to-let customers the advantageous borrowing rate 1s less than the rental yield Customers more than 3 months in arrears including
possessions fell from 55% tc 4 1% In NRAM arrears rose from 4 7% to 6 6% reflecting the transfer of £10 3bn mortgages to
Northern Rock plc {'NR") on 1 January 2010, the declining total book and the nature of the mortgages in the book, which have high
loan to value ratios and do not have the benefit of the lower interest rates applicable to the majonty of B&B buy-to-let customers

Some of our customers have many challenges to face and the role of our customer service teams is to treat them farly and take
account of therr Indvidual circumstances We employ around 2,400 colleagues in total of which around 1,000 are engaged in dealing
with customers in arrears or facing payment difiiculties

The faster redempiion rate of NRAM mortgages enabled our Government loan balances to be reduced by £1 1bn by the year end
B&B did not draw any addittenal borrowing from the Government In total the two firns erther dirsctly or indirectly owe the taxpayer
£48 7bn and repaying this in full 1s the major focus of the UKAR team

Both firms benefited from the low cost of funding provided by the Government and this enabled profits to be achieved Underlying
proiits at NRAM were £277 4m and at B&B were £200 1m In addition, profits were generated from liability management exercises
whereby debt capital instruments 1ssued by both companies were purchased back from holders at a market value below their par
value This generated extra shareholder equity of £851m for NRAM and £566m for B&B which together with the retained profits has
left both firms with high quality capital resources at the year end
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Chairman’s statement (continued)

2010 was a year of progress for NRAM and B&B and, looking forward to 2011, there are some challenging targets to achieve These
include NRAM'’s final separation from NR which 1s a project invotving the transfer of around 400,000 mertgage accounts and 150,000
associated unsecured loan accounts to the B&B IT platiorm and the integration of NRAM and B&B operations, which will provide
opportunities for significant cost savings benefiing the taxpayer and creditors of both organisations

In ne with the commitment made when NRAM was first taken into public ownership, £15m was paid by NRAM to The Narthern Rock
Foundation in 2010 However, given our focus on repayment of our Government loans we feel that it 1s inappropnate for the Company
to continue to make such substantial donations to a single chanty For 2011, UKAR has a modest budget that enables us to support
our colleagues in carrying out charntable and volunteer work in the communities in which they live and work In addition, we will be
maintaning our focus on preventing and alleviating the causes of homelessness through continued support to both the Business
Action on Homelessness programme, part of Business in the Community, and the debt advice agencies

UKAR 15 a unique nstitution involved in a complex run-off The team of colleagues assembled to undertake this task are seasoned and
mature professionals conscious of ther responsibilities to taxpayers, creditors and customers | would like to thank everyone tor therr
efforts In 2010 and the Board looks forward to the continued successful implementation of our strategies in 2011

Richard Pym
Chairman
30 March 2011
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Chief Executive Officer’s review

Introduction

I am pleased to report that both NRAM and B&B made good progress against therr business objectives and met all of the financial
objectives agreed with our Shareholder for 2010 Throughout the year we worked closely with UK Financial Investments ('UKFI') and
the Financial Services Authonty (‘FSA) In preparation for NRAM's separation from NR and the integration of NRAM and B&B into
UKAR This has gone extremely well and | thank the UKAR executive team and all our colleagues for their tremendous efforts and
support throughout the year

Business and objectives

The combination of NRAM and B&E under the UKAR holding company bnngs iogether two businesses with combined assets
of £112bn Included within this total are £80bn of residential mortgages, £1bn of commercial mortgages and £3bn of unsecured
loans The business is now operating over three main sites In the North of England with around 2,400 employees We have a unique
opportunity to deliver value to the Shareholder, the UK's taxpayers, by managing this business effectively as the assets wind-down,
or are recovered

Since bringing the UKAR companies together we have focused on developing a clear sense of direction Cbjectives for the business
were agreed by the Board in October 2010 with the overall am to maximise value for the taxpayer This wilt be achieved by focusing
on key activities and themes based on each of the following four cbjectives

* Reduce, prctect and optimise the Balance Sheet,

= Integrate our operations n NRAM and B&B and mirumise unit costs through continuous improvement,
*  Mantan and develop excellence in debt management,

* Create a great place to work

These objectives will be underpinned by the need to treat customers and creditors farrly

Customers

In total, UKAR has almost 850,000 customers, 726,000 mortgage accounts and 351,000 unsecured personal loan accounts In the
man, these loans are performing well and our operating actvities are focused on providing effectve and straightforward services
to these customers Given the current economic crcumstances we are also dealing with a significant number of customers with
difficulties meeting their repayments We continue to work closely with those customers offering a wide range of solutions to help
them manage therr finances

In 2009, arrears In both NRAM and B&B increased significantly and this rate of increase has been arrested in 2010 with the number
for B&B actually fallng Whilst arrears at NRAM have continued to increase, this i1s at a slower rate As at the end of 2010 there were
13,086 cases of B&B mortgages 3 or more months In arrears including possessions, a fall of 32% compared to the end of 2009
For NRAM, the equivalent figure was 25,419 cases, up by 3%, a much reduced rate of Increase compared to the 18% experienced
In 2009

In dealing with customers In arrears, we seek to exhaust all reasonable efforts to repair and recover the loans rather than resorting to
repossession proceedings, which we use only as a last resort Unfortunately, in some cases, this 1s the only outcome Durnng 2010,
UKAR made over 44,000 mortgage arrangements and account modifications to assist customers with therr repayments and continue
their existing mortgage

The number of properties In possession for B&B has fallen from 662 in 2009 to 623 at the end of 201¢ For NRAM the numbers of
properties in possession fell from 2,061 in 2009 to 1,984 at the end of 2010

Community

We support a number of charties and are particularly concerned to focus this support on organisations that assist people in
financial difficulties

In the North East in 2010, we adopted Samaritans as our corporate chanty and many of our colleagues have staged events to raise
funds and provide practical support for this vital servce From Aprl 2011, we will be adopting Shelter as our chosen chanty In West
Yorkshire, in particular the Arre Valley, we continue to support organisations such as Business Action on Homelessness, part of
Business in the Community

ANRAM
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Chief Executive Officer’s review (continued)

Colleagues
We are extremely conscious of the huge task that lies ahead for UKAR as we fully integrate the operations of B&B and NRAM in
order to minimise unit costs We are committed to ensunng that UKAR i1s a great place to work, and that all our colleagues have the
training and development they need to do ther jobs well and to give them the confidence and skills to adapt to the changing needs
of tha business

Qutlook
The: cutlook for the UK economy remains uncertain with further contrachon a possibility

The current low level of the Bank of England base rate means that loan repayments remain affordable for many, therefore, increases
i interest rates coutd be detrmental to the performance of both NRAM and B&B given the focus of our business on mortgage loans

The level of loan mpairments remains largely driven by the performance of the economy and, in particular, the rates of unemployment
and households' disposable Incomes We expect that dealing with arrears and poor performing loans will remain a significant focus of
our activities during the coming year gven the uncertain economic outlook

The NRAM book in particular 1s continuing to prove challenging with many customers being more vulnerable to changes in environmental
factors The impact of higher taxaticn and Increases In unemployment combined with the prospect of higher interest rates and hugher
inflation, 1s likely to mean that more customers will fall into arrears during 2011

In these somewhat gloomy cirgumstances we will maintain our strong relationships with debt adwisery agencies We will continue to
help our customers through short term difficulties wherever possible and assist those with more fundamental problems to make an
orderly sale of thetr property

Mortgage market

The attention to nsk management across the sector and consequent tightering of mortgage lending conditions s likely to continue to
dampen activity In the housing and mortgage markets We expect demand to reman subdued with house pnces flat at best but more
Iikely to fall sightly In the coming year As a result, the number of our customers who are able to find alternative mortgage providers
will remain imited and we expect redemption rates to continue at the current low levels

Conclusion

It has been an extremely challenging but rewarding year for me, both as Managing Director {'MD') of B&B and now as CEO of UKAR,
NRAM and B&B | have been impressed by the professionalism and dedication of all my colleagues at our offices in the North East,
Yorkshire and London who have rsen to the challenges we have faced whilst continuing to look after our customers well In particular
I thank the Chairman, Richard Pym, the Board of Directors and my executive management team for therr support to me personally and
for their continued commitment to ensunng UKAR Is successiul

Looking forward, | believe we have the nght strategic plans and people in place to achieve our mission of maximising value for
the taxpayer

Richard Banks
Chief Executive Officer
30 March 2011
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QOverview of 2010

As reported tast year, the EC approved the Government's State aid package for the former Northern Rockin October 2009 A requirement
of State aid approval for NRAM in 2010 was to separate from NR Subsequently, it was agreed that NRAM would merge with B&B and
management time has been focusaed on progressing the merger with B&B and mplementing the Busness Plan

On 1 January 2010 certain balance sheet assets and liabilities were transferred from NRAM to NR NRAM also ceased to offer new
lending products from this date The transfer to NR included all staffing and infrastructure so, although the NRAM business was legally
separated from NR, the servicing and the infrastructure support required by NRAM was provided by NR under a service agresment

NRAM's pnmary objective s to repay the Government funding as soon as market conditions allow, protecting and creating valug for
taxpayers, whilst treating customers and creditors farly In 2010, NRAM repaid £1 1bn in this respect

At the start of the year, the FSA approved NRAM's application for MIPRU regulatory status, in recognition that NRAM 1s a provider of
mortgage services rather than a bank

In June, NRAM successfully completed an exercise to repurchase certain debt capital insiruments with a face value of £1,083m This
resulted N a net gain of £780m which, reflecting the nature of the instruments, was accounted for In shareholder funds and was not
included in the reported profit for the year The Company launched a further iabiity management exercise tendering for £520m of debt
capital and subordinated llakilities on 9 November A 46% take-up was achieved This resulted in a net gain of £171m, £60m of which
was accounted for as profit in the Income Statement

During the second half of the year NRAM have, along with UKFI, focused on the merger and integration of the operations of the two
Government owned mortgage books in wind-down The new holding company, UKAR, was created on 1 July and on 1 October the
shares of each of NRAM and B&B were transferred intc UKAR

On 1 November, NRAM largely completed its physical separation from NR, with colleagues working on NRAM business being
transferred to B&B under TUPE regulations and segregation and access controls put in place in December on NR's [T systems
1o separate NRAM's business and customer data from NR's data NRAM currently accesses Its data on NR's IT system under a
transitional services agreement

The statutory profit before tax for 2010 was £400 5m (2009 £257 5m loss) This represents the first full year results for NRAM
following the legal and caprtal restructure of the former Northern Rock on 1 January 2010 The comparative year's information included
within the Income Statement is as previcusly published and covers the whole of the former NR business and has not been restated to
reflect the transfer resulting from the legal and capital restructure There were several signfficant year-on-year movements relating to
urigque Items accounted for in 2009 and not repeated In 2010 and vice-versa

The commentary below focuses on the underlying performance of the business, excluding the effects of items that management do
not regard as ongoing, or routine, business activity This approach to analysing undertying profit differs to that previously adopted
N relation to the treatment of non-recurning costs and The Northern Rock Foundation donaticn The defintion has been aligned to
that deemed appropriate for UKAR going forwards  Underlying performance also excludes unigue items, including the repurchase of
debt caprtal instruments and unrealised movements in far value and hedge ineffectiveness relating to financial instruments which are
expected to be held to matunty as opposed to being traded Excluding these tems undertying profit before tax was £277 4m (2009
£313 4m loss) manly due to lower loan Impaiment in the unsecured loan book, lower funding costs following the transfer of retal
deposit balances to NR and the lower cost of funds inrelation to LIBOR linked funding Analysis of the difference between the statutory
accounting measure of profit and the underlying profit of NBAM 1s provided on page 11

The ongoing cost  assets ratio reduced to 0 23% (2009 0 28%) whilst the statutory cost  assets ratio increased to 0 43% {2009
0 35%) mainly as a conseguence of the level of one-off costs incurred in relation to the integration and restructure

Total capital resources are £178m lower than 2009, although equity attributable to the shareholder 1s £1,157m higher, largely due to
the repurchase of debt capital instruments and hability management exercises that took place In June and November

=
=<
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Key performance indicators (‘KPIs’)

In addition to the pnmary Financial Statements, we have adopted the following KPls in managing the business' performance in the
context of its strategic prionties

Strategic pricrities Financial measures 2010 2008 Commentary
Financial performance Underlying profit/{logs) 2774 313 4) The underlying profit/loss) of the busness excludes non-
before tax £m* recurring  costs, partcularly  those  associated wath  the
integration with B&B and other one-off tems including the
repurchase of capital nstruments, prowision for customer
redress and State ad claw-back in 2009 The year-on-year
improvement 1s primarnly due to reduced unsecured perscnal
lean impairment, lower funding costs following the transier of
retal deposits to NR, and lower administrative expenses
Statutory profit/{loss) 4005 (257 5) The year-on-year movement in statutory profit/{loss) before tax
before tax £m Is primarily due to movements described above In addiion
the year-on-year impact of several significant unigue items
including an increased provision for customear redress in 2010
and State aid interest and fees clawback 1in 2009 are largely
cffset by fair value movements
Net interest margin % 199 191 The underlying margin improved prnmanly because of the
Underlying %~ 199 124 change In the funding mix following the transfer of retal
deposits 1o NR Mortgage asset yield also increased due to
lengthening of mortgage lives Statutory net interest ncome In
2009 included clawback of £224m from HM Treasury
Run deown the Wholesale asset 13 143 As part of the legal and capital restructuring £1 3bn transfarred
Balance Sheet balances £bn to NR The remainder of the fall s made up of £11bn reduction
in collateral cash £0 4bn of matwrties and reduced closing
cash balances
Total lending balances £bn 478 643 In addition tc the £10 3bn transfer of mortgage balances to
Secured £bn 447 BG4 NR, customer repayments reduced balances by £6 2bn (11%)
Unsecured £bn 31 39 during the year Unsecured lending balances reduced by
£0 8bn primarily due 10 repayments and the lack of new lending
Unsecured balances include both the Together and Standatone
unsecured loan books
Residental loan 43 74 Residential redemptions of £4 3bn were £3 1bn lower than last
redemptions £bn vear reflecting the reduced size of the mortgage book following
the transfer of balances to NR and the inability of customers to
remortgage te other lenders
Loans from HM 217 143 Loans increased by £8 5bn on 1 January 2010 as part of the
Treasury £bn legat and capital restructure £11bn of repayments have been
made since that time
Minimise impairment Resigential arrears over 3 037 C24 The value of missed payments continued to nse in 2010 but at
and losses ™* months and possessions a slower rate than in 2009
total morigage balance %
Residential arrears over 3 There was detenoration 1n both the value and number of
months and possessions accounts In arrears but the rate of increase was slower than
as % of the book i 2008 and balances of performing loans reduced due to the
- by value 798 564 transfer to NR
- by number of accounts 658 467
Impawment provisions ©m The unsecured Impairment charge in the year was significantly
Assets cover % reduced but asset coverage increased 10 14 8% and Balance
Unsecured £m 542 3 5643 Sheet provisions held at broadly the same level Residential
Cover % 148 26 secured cover Increased to 2 23% frem 0 98%
Residential secured £m 1,013 0 5961
Cover % 223 098
Loan imparment charge 8128 1,044 8 The loan loss imparment charge started to reduce i the
£m second half of 2009 This bas continued In 2010, although the
Comprnsing second half imparment charge reflects algnment to UKAR
Secured £m 6315 5467 provisioning methodology The charge on secured {pans
Unsecured £m 181 3 498 1 ncreased by 16% whilst on unsecured personat loans the

charge reduced by 64%
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Key performance indicators (‘KPIs’) (continued)

Strategic prnonties Financial measures 2010 2009 Commentary
Restructire and realign Total costs £m 3036 33585 Both total and ongoing costs in 2010 cannot be directly
tha business Ongoing costs £m™™ 165 2 2656 compared to those of 2009 as NRAM has moved from incurring

costs directly to being recharged by B&B and NR for services
provided and in 2009 costs reflect the whole of NR In general,
cost reductions reflect the reduced size of NRAM following the
transfer out of NR and cost efficiencies in terms of staffing and

infrastructure
Cost assets ratio™ The absolute value of costs in 201G reduced on bath a statutory
statutory % 0.43 035 and ongeoing basis by £319m and £100 4m respectively On
engoing % 023 028 an asset rabo basis both of these performances are adversely

distorted by the transfer out of NR assets on 1 January 2010

* Underlying results exciude certain items that are not expected to recur on an ongoing basis An analysis of the difference between statutory and underlying
profit/{loss} 1s provided on page 11 An analysis of the difference between statutory and underlying net interest ncome 1s provided on page 12
“The transfer of assets on 1 January 2010 adversely impacts year-on-year arrears imparrment and cost ratios relative to assets on the book
**0Ongoing costs exclude certan tems that are not expected to recur on an ongoing basis An analysis of items excluded from ongoing costs 15 prowded
onpage 15
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Financial review

Performance

Underlying net operating income was 27 5% higher in the year at £1,270 4m {2008 £886 3m), dnven mainly by the reduction in cost
of funds due to Government Funding replacing retal deposits upon the separation of NRAM and NR Undertying net interest income at
£1,259 9m (2008 £1,035 2m) was 21 7% higher, whilst undertying non interest income at £10 5m {2009 £38 9m charge) was better
by £49 4m Ongoing administrative expenses fell £100 4m to £165 2m (2000 £265 6m) Imparment losses on loans and advances to
customers reduced by £232 Om to £812 8m (2009 £1,044 8m) and investment impairment losses at £15 0m {2009 £0 7m reversal)
increased by £15 7m on 2009

Income Statement 2010 2008
For the year ended 31 December £m Em
Underying nat mterest ncome 1,259.9 1,0352
Underlying norn interest income” 10.5 (38 9}
Underiying net operating income 1,270.4 996 3
Ongoing administrative expenses (165.2) {265 6)
Impairment on loans and advances to customers (812.8) (1,044 8)
Net impairment on investment secunties {15.0) c7
Underlying profit / (loss) before taxation 277.4 (313 4)
Unreaised farr value movements on financial instruments 417.7 106 0
Hedge ineffectiveness (65.0) (101 7)
Other net admirustrative expenses (138.4) -
Exceptional operating expenses - (39 9)
State aid clawback - 2000
Gan on repurchase of capital instruments 59.7 -
Provision for customer redress (160.0) (78 5)
The Northern Rock Foundation donation - (3G 0}
Defined benefit pension scheme curtalment 8.1 -
Statutory profit / {loss) before taxation 400.5 (257 5)

“Undertying non interest income includes net fee and commission income/{expense), net realised gans less losses on investment secunties and other operating
Income

Net interest iIncome
Underlying net interest iIncome at £1,258 9m (2008 £1,035 2m) was 21 7% up on 2009

Interest-earning assets fell by £20 0bn to £63 4bn (2008 £83 4bn) This reduction was partly driven by the transfer of assets
(£12 5bn) to NR on 1 January 2010 The value of interest-earning assets transferred amounted to £11 6bn The rest of the reduction
of £8 4bn 1s due to residential mortgage and unsecured lending repayments and redemptions with fewer wholesale assets also a
contnbuting factor

The yield on interest-earning assets improved by 0 05% to 2 75% (2008 2 70%), despite a fall in average undertying base rates,
reflecting an adjustment made to the Effective Interest Rate (‘EIR') calculation to reflect the lengthening lives of mortgages
The adjustrnent made more accurately accounts for EIR income, recognising the current inertta within the mortgage book

The underlying cost of interest-beanng funding fell by 0 70% to 0 78% (2009 1 49%), largely as a consequence of the change mn
funding mix following the transfer of retail deposits to NR In addition, falls in average base rate and 1 month LIBOR had a postive
impact on the cost of funding, because of the volume of funding where Interest rates are inked to these indices
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Financial review (continued)

Statutory net interest income N 2009 included the benefit of clawback by NRAM of £223 9m on the previously incurred cost of
Government net funding and HM Treasury guarantees, following approval for State aid by the EC in October 2002 This was partially
oftset by an additional fee of £23 9m, relating to the same penod, resulting in the net benefit of £200 Om as shown on the face of the
summary Income Statement above

This was In effect a credit for a funding subsidy (the State aid) not provided until EC approval was given

Net interest income 2010 2009
For the year ended 31 December £m £m

Interest receivable and stmilar iIncome

On secured advances 1,537.5 1,814 7
On other lending 131.0 1701
On investment secunties and deposits 73.3 164 4
Underlying interest receivable and similar income 1,741.8 2,2492

Interest expense and similar charges

On retall customer accounts - (323 4)
On other deposits including lcans from HM Treasury {191.1) (324 3)
Other {290.8) (566 3)
Underlying interest expense and similar charges {481.9) 1,214 0)
Underlymng net interest income 1,259 9 1,0352

Average balances

Interest-carning assets ('IEA) 63,425 83,396
Financed by
- Interest-bearing funding 61,314 81,541
- Imterest-free funding 2,111 1,855
Average rates % Y% %
Gross yield on average [EA 2,75 270
Cost of interest-beanng funding {079) (1 49)
Interest spread 196 121
Contribution of interest-frea funding 003 003
Underlying net interest margin on average 1IEA 199 124
Annual average Bank Base Rate 050 065
Annual average 1-month LIBOR 056 083
£m £m
Underlying net interest income 1,259.9 1,0362
Add back State aid clawback - 2239
Statutory net interest Income 1,259 9 1,259 1
Statutory net interest margin on average IEA % 199 151
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Financial review (continued)

The contnbution from interest-free funding was unchanged at O 03% (2008 O 03%} with average interest-free funding balances
growing from £1 9bn in 2009 to £2 1bn 1in 2010

Non interest iIncome

Undertying non interest income at £10 5m (2009 £38 9m charge) was better than last year by £49 4m The most matenal component
was £21m of lower charges due to the removal of the retall deposit guarantee and fees, following the transfer of retaul deposits to NR
NRAM far the first time receved £7m of rental Income from NR relating to the Gosforth office site

Non interest income / (expense) 2010 2009
For the year ended 31 Decembar £m £m
Underlying non nterest mcome* 10.5 (38 9)
Urrealised farr value movements on financial instruments a7.7 1060
Hedge ineffectiveness (65 0) {101 7)
HM Treasury fees - (23 9}
Prowvision for customer redress {160 0) {78 5)
Statutory non interest income 203.2 (137 0)

“Undertying non interest ncome includes net fee and commission ncome / {expense), net realised gains less losses on nvestment secunties and other operating
ncome

Accounting volatility on derivative financial instruments

Volatity in reported results anses from the accounting treatment of denvative financial instruments that hedge risk exposure on an
economic basis Such accounting volatitity, which 1s largely a tming effect that will offset over time, anses due to farr value movements
on designated hedges or because effective hedge accounting has not been adopted or 1s not achievable on certain transactions, for
example, hedging of equity Instruments NRAM manages its nisk exposures on an economic basis and, therefore, does not include
such accounting volatiity in the assessment of underlying perfermance or in assessing the effectiveness of its denvative pos:itions in
any one financial penod

NRAM enters into denvative financial nstruments for economic hedging purposes Some of these are designated and accounted for
as 1AS 39 comphant farr value or cash flow hedge relationships Where effective fair value hedge relationships can be established, the
movement in the farr value of the denvative 1s offset In full or in part by opposite movements in the farr value of the instrument being
hedged Any ineffectiveness ansing from different movemnents in far value will offset over tme  The charge for ineffectiveness in 2010
was £65 0m (2009 £101 7m)

Where denvatives are econcmucally effective for hedging purposes but cannot be included within effective IAS 39 compliant accounting
hedge relationships, for example where the underlying economically hedged instruments are Included in equity, the movement in therr
farr value 1s recorded in non interest ncome  The same treatment applies to the revaluation at the balance sheet date of economically
hedged fore:gn currency assets and liabilites Fair value movements and hedge ineffectiveness, i total, benefited non interest income
by £352 7m (2009 £4 3m}n the year due to the nature of movements in exchange rates and nterest rates

The major elements of these movements are a result of swaps held to hedge equity instruments, the covered bond and securitisation
programmes

Denvatives hedging subordinated debt instruments were terminated in June 2010 when the subordinated notes were repurchased,
however ther movement in the first & months of the year {due to movements in exchange rates between GBP and USD and in interest
rates), resutted 1n a gain of £110 9m
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Financial review {continued)

The covered bond programmes (denominated in EUR and USD) have a GBP notional value of ¢ £8bn These bonds and ther
associated dervatives are set-up as far value hedges thus the movement on the fixed interest rate cash flow of the dervative 1s
mirrored by the moverment on the bond However, due to the size of the denvatives, a significant amount of volatility can still be denved
from the LIBOR related cash flow of the swaps A Key contributor to this volatility 1$ the movement in the cross currency basis spreads,
which resulted in an increase in value for the year of £103 7m

The dispanty in accounting treatments between the bonds within the economic hedges of the secuntisation programme, which
are held at amortised cost and translated into sterding at spot prices, and the denvatives, which are farr valued on a daily basis and
translated, generated an increase In value of £118 2m The factors which dnve the dervative valuations nclude relative movements
between Interest rates In GBP, EUR and USD

HM Treasury fees
An additional fee of £23 9m was charged in 2009 as part of the overall State aid clawback There was no similar adjustment in 2030

Provision for customer redress

As at 31 December 2008, NRAM held a provision in respect of customer compensation of £72 4m, of which £71 4m related to clams
for compensation from customers regarding Payment Protection Insurance {'PPI’), and £1 Om related to other general customer
claims Dunng the year, the level of customer complaints regarcing PPI sales has ncreased significantly with 14,800 (2009 8,000)
received in the year, of which 8,800 were made in the second half Of the opening provision, £29 3m has been utiised in 2010 and
based on the increase In claims, our root cause analysis and follow-up work into the selling processes adopted by NR in the past, a
further provision of £155 Om has been mads to cover the cost of the claims anticipated in the future In addition to PP, claims for other
mis-sold products, such as endowments, continue, albeit much fewer than PP, and a further provision of £5 Om 1s made for these
general clams We expect future clams to be settled over the next few years The exact amounts and timing of the settlements wll
depend upon the level and value of future claims which could differ from the estimates used in the establishment of this prowsion and
could also be impacted by the outcome of the ongoing judicial review Into the FSAs policy staternent PS 10/12 on PPI

Ongoing administrative expenses

With effect from 1 January 2010, all employees of the former Northern Rock transferred to NR and, with effect from 1 November 2010
staff who were servicing the requirements of NRAM transferred from NR to B&B under the TUPE regulations NRAM, therefare, did
not directly employ any staff dunng 2010 Instead, NRAM was charged for services provided, the charges being governed by service
agreements put in place with each service provider Consequently, these arrangements have a significant bearng on the composition
of administrative expenses in 2010

Ongoing administrative expenses totalled £165 2m (2009 £265 6m), with the ratio of casts to assets improving to 0 23% (2009
0 28%) The reduction in 2010 costs and improvement in the cost  asset ratio were manly the result of the separation of NRAM from
the former Northern Rock and efficiencies built into the set-up of NRAM commensurate with its ongoing objectives to run-down the
loan book The reduction in cost not only related to staffing but all other administrative expenses incurred in respect of supporting the
business, with much of the NRAM office complex in Gosforth now being occupied by NR, for which rent 1s received

The UKAR Group has incentive schemes in place which have been agreed with UKFI These enable staff to earn bonuses which are
aligred to Company and individual performance For 2010, bonuses, including those of the Executive Directer, of £6 5m were earned
£4 7m of these will be paid in 2011, and the remainder will be deferred and paid 1n future years All deferred bonuses are subject 10
clawback terms

=
=
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Administrative expenses 2010 2009
For the year ended 31 December £m £m
Adrinistrative expenses directly incurred 39.4 2658
Recharges 1258 -
Ongoing (underlying} administrative expenses 1652 2656
The Northern Rock Foundation donation - 300
Exceptional operating expenses - 399
Other net administrative expenses

- lmpairment of goodwill 30.7 -
- Accelerated depreciation 51.8 -
- Transformation costs 47.2 -
— Restructure costs 87 -
Total other net administrative expenses 138.4 -
Total admimistrative expenses 3036 3355
Ratio of ongoing costs to assets % 0.23 028
Ratio of costs to assets % 043 035

Other net administrative expenses

Other net administrative expenses Include transformation and restructuring costs of £55 9m relating to the costs of restructuning and
separation from NR, the goodwill Impairment charge of £30 7m in respect of acquired mortgage businesses now fully written down
because NRAM can no longer ongnate new loans, and a charge of £51 8m in respect of a revaluation of a proportion of the office
complex in Gosforth which 1s currently leased to NR and was, consequently, reclassified as an investment property dunng the year

In 2008, exceptional costs of £39 9m were mainly In respect of activities undertaken In relation to the separation of the former
Northern Rock business into NRAM and NR These costs are similar to those incurred in 2010 in relation to iransformation costs but
nevertheless were classified as exceptional

The former Northern Rock made a charge of £830 Om in the 2009 Income Statement in respect of the contnbution of £15 Om paid in
that year and £15m paid in 2010 to The Northern Rock Foundation NRAM has no continuing commitment to The Foundation

Impairment on loans and advances to customers

As expected dunng an economic downturn, arrears levels increased during the year with 23,435 (2009 22,564) accounts more than
3 months in arrears representing 6 07% (2008 4 28%) of all accounts This compares to 5 32% on 1 January 2010 following the
transfer of £10 3bn residential loans to NR The impact of transferring out the NR balances means that the level of arrears as a
proportion of a reduced balance increases

The arrears performance of the unsecured loan book detenorated In respect of the number of accounts over 3 menths in arrears
In total, arrears in the Together unsecured loan book experienced an Increase to 9 61% (2009 6 09%) and the Standalone unsecured
loan book saw an increase to 5 73% (2009 3 683%)

NRAM
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Financial review (continued)

Arrears and loah impairment: secured residential lcans

As reported last year, the loan {oss impairment charge started t¢ reduce in the second half of 2008 This has continued In 2010,
albent the second half impairment charge reflects an amount for house price deflation expected in 2011 and, given the current
outlook for the UK housing market to remain depressed for the foreseeable future, this 1s considered to be an appropriate position
to take

In respect of the secured residential book, the level of provision as at 31 December 2010 amounted to £1,013 Om compared to
£596 1m at the end of 2009 As a proportion of residential assets this represented 2 23% compared to 0 98% for 2009 Coverage of
arrears and possessions increased to 28 63% from 17 599% for 2009 The transfer of asset and labilty balances comprising the NR
business on 1 January 2010 did not matenally affect the arrears and possession asset values, but does significantly affect the provision
as a proportion of total residential assets because assets transferred to NR had neglgible arrears

Secured residential loans arrears and possessions
At 31 December 2010 2000

Arrears over 3 months

- number of cases 23,435 22,564
- % of total cases 6.07 428
- value of cases in arrears (Emy} 3,284 4 31350
— % of book 74 522

Possessions

— number of cases 1,984 2,061
- % of total cases 051 033
— value (Em) 2541 2546
- % of book 0.57 042

Total arrears over 3 months and possessions

= number of cases 25,419 24,625
- % of total cases 6.58 467
- value (Em) 3,5385 3,389 6
— % of book 7.98 564

Payments overdue
total value of payments overdue {£m) 162.7 1458
- % of total book Q.37 024

Reswential loan impairment allowance

Imparment allowance (£m) 1,013.0 596 1
- % of residential assets 2.23 0es8
- % of arrears and possessions 28 63 17 58
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Financial review {continued)

Loan impairment: unsecured loans

In respect of unsecured loans, the total balance sheet provision was broadly the same at £542 3m (2009 £564 3m) As a propertion
of the unsecured book, this represented 14 8% (2009 12 6%}, up on the level evident at the end of 2009

The charge for loan impairment 1n 2010 was much reduced at £181 3m (2009 £498 1m), an improvemnent of £316 8m

Unsecured loans impairment 2010 2009
At 31 December £m £&m
Asset value before iImpairrment provision 3,656.1 4,476 9
Balance sheet impairment provision (542.3) (564 3)
Asset value net of impairment provision 3,113 8 39126
Total asset coverage % 14 8% 12 6%

Net impairment on investment securities

In the first half of 2010, there were imparrment losses on loans and recevables of £7 3m and available-for-sale secunties of £8 1m
This position has not changed matenally at the year end The imparment losses on avalable-for-sale securities moved to the ‘net
impairment on investment securities’ caption The total level of impairment in the year was therefore £15 Om (2009 £0 7m reversal)

Gain on repurchase of capital nstruments

The repurchase of capital Instruments in 2010 with a carrying value of £1,343 Om resulted in total gains of £950 7m  Of this value,
£59 7m was recognised through the Income Statement in respect of instruments classified as liabilities The balance of the gan,
£891 Om ansing from instruments classified as equity, was recognised in Shareholder equity

Defined benefit pension scheme curtallment
Closure of the defined benefit pension scheme as a result of the transfer of all employees to NR at the beginning of 2010 resulted n
a one-off £9 1m curtalmeni gan

Taxation

A credit of £9 1m of tax for the year 1s reported Current year profits have been offset by brought forward tax losses resulting in no
current tax charge for the year Prior year adjustments relate to the settlement of certain previcusly outstanding items with HMRC
resulting in the credit of £9 1m

Deferred tax liabilities have been offset against relevant deferred tax assets in the year Further deferred tax assets have not been
recognised due to the uncertainty over interest rates chargeable on the loan from HM Treasury, given that this rate may be vared and
could, therefore, potentially reduce or elminate future profit
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Balance Sheet

2010 01/01/2010 Final Transfer to 2008
Balance Sheet summary Statutory Adusted adjustment NR Statutory
At 31 December (unless stated otherwise) £m £m £m £m m
Leans and advances 1o customers
- Residential mortgages 44,3323 49,724 6 (10,343 1) 60,0677
- Commercial secured loans 3124 2879 - 2879
— Unsecured lending 3,113.8 38124 {0 2) 3.81286
Wholesale assets 11,321.2 12,3327 (668 4) (1,268 5) 14,300 6
Fair value adjustments on portfolio hedging 5396 9713 {160 3) 1,13186
Derwative financial iInstruments 6,542 5 74738 - 7,4738
Other assets 1149 197 4 (739 2713
Total assets 66,276.7 74,9001 (668 4) (11,877 0) B7,4455
Loans from HM Treasury 21,713 4 22,8215 8,506 0 - 14,3155
Wholesale funding 44,7841 47,7607 (235 3) 47,8960
Customer accounts - {20,607 6) 20,607 6
Denvative financial instruments 826.4 1.6738 - 1,6738
Other habilities 1,634 4 1,589 6 (207 6) 1,797 5
Other capital Instruments 2091 1,441 1 1,4411
Equity 1,109 3 (386 S} 09} {386 0)
Total habiities and equity 66,276 7 74,900 1 8,606 0 (21,051 4} 87,4455

The closing statutory Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2009 reflects the closing position for NRAM before the subsequent transfer out on 1 January 2010
of NR balances as previcusly disclosed, togsther with the final settlement adjustments to armve at a revised Batance Shest position, which 1s comparable in
compaosition to that at 31 December 2010 The final settlement adjustments represent a draw-down on HM Treasury funding to maintain NRAM’s Balance Sheet
and a balancing settlement to NR in cash being the difference between all other assets and habilities transferred

Assets

Lending balances, excluding those transferred to NR, reduced by 11% dunng the year to £47 8bn (January 2010 £53 9bn} This
reflected £4 9bn of redemptions and £1 3bn of other repayments, partly offset by £0 4bn of lending to existing customers which we
were contractually cbliged to uphold  With effect from 1 January 2010 NRAM did not offer new lending products

Liabilities

Whoalesale liabilites reduced by £7 Obn reflecting repayments and changes in exchange rates The reduction in ¢ther capital instruments
18 & result of the two debt capital tender exercises resulting in the repurchase of £1,343m of instruments

At the end of 2010, the net amount due io Government, after deducting hquidity deposits held with the Bank of England (excluding
deposits relating 1o swap collateral), was £18 4bn The gress loan balance, after taking account of the £8 5bn advanced on 1 January
2010 to facitate the separatton of NR, has reduced by £1 1bn since 1 January 2010

The £8 5bn advanced on 1 January 2010 allowed additional cash resources to be provided to NR in connection with the transfer of
its deposit labilities and enabled NR to continue to Increase mortgage lending, supporting mortgage market capacity

NRAM
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Financial review (continued)

At3 At AL 31

December 2010 January 2010 Dacamber 2009

HM Treasury loan £bn fbn £bn
Gross amount due to HM Treasury 21,7 228 143
Liguidity deposit accounts with Bank of England (33 29 396
Net amount due to HM Treasury 184 199 107

Caputal
NRAM met its capital requirements in full throughout the year and has received no additional capital from HM Treasury

NRAM 15 subject to the MIPRU regulatory regime under which the concepts of tier 1 and tier 2 capital are not relevant The Board
consider core equity at a Group level, formerly tier 1 capital, of pre-eminent importance In the capital structure of the business and
continue to monitor this, In addition to the total level of capital

The table below sets out capital resources at 31 December

Capital resources - Company 2010 2009
At 31 December £m fm
Total equity attnbutable to equity Shareholder 1,243 7 870
Reserve capital Instruments 156.2 298 3
Tier one notes 1357 2337
Subordinated notes 52.9 1,141 8
Subordinated liabilites 9050 909 2
Total available capital resources 2,493 5 2,671 0

Total capital resources are £177 &m lower than 2009, although total equity atinbutable to the equity Shareholder 1s £1,156 7m higher,
mainly due to the £950 7m gains ansing following the repurchase of debt capital Instruments

Under the MIPRU regulatory regime, the minimum capital resource reguiremant s set at 1% of total Balance Sheet assets and any
undrawn commitments However, this requirement 1s set at the Company level as opposed to the Group consolidated position

For the NRAM Company, the total value of Balance Shest assets and undrawn commitments as at 31 December 2010 amounted to
£62,631m and £2,520m respectively, totaling £65,151m of which 1% 1s £652m

The MIPRU rules, as indicated, require a minimum capniial resource of 1% of total assets and undrawn commitments, and there 1s
no prowvision within the MIPRU rules to extend regulatory requirements above this amount However, the Board still consider that the
assessment of capital adequacy requirements should include the full range of matenal risks that each legal entity faces Consequently,
and in agreement with the FSA, the Board maintains capital levels above the 1% minimum requirement

NRAM
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Corporate governance

Introduction

On 24 March 2010 the then Chancellor announced the Gaovernment’s intention to Integrate NRAM and B&B under a single holding
company and the Shareholder asked Richard Pym, Chairman of the two companies, to charr the new holding company A Committee
compnsing Richard Pym together with a Non-Executive Direcior of NRAM, a Non-Executive Director of B&B and two representatives
from UKFI was formed to recruit a Chief Executive Following a selection process, the Committee's recommendation 1o appoint
Richard Banks was ratified by the Shareholder and recewved Ministenal approval on 31 March 2010

On 9 April 2010 UKFI announced the appointment of Richard Pym as Charman designate and Richard Banks as Chief Executive
designate of the single holding company It was agreed that the three companies, UKAR, NRAM and B&B, would share a common
Board of Directors comprising Executive and Non-Executive Directors from both the NRAM and B&B boards and a representative
from UKFI These Non-Executive Directors formed designate Board, Nominations and Remuneration Committees and met at vanous
times from May 2010 to review and agree the progress of establishing the holding company, the structure and senicr management
appointments for the three companies

UKAR was formally incorporated on 1 July 2010 and on 1 October 2010 UKF) announced the establishment of UKAR as the new
holding company for NRAM and B&B Richard Pym was formally appointed as Chairman of UKAR and Richard Banks Chuef Executive
UKAR's Non-Executive Directors comprised Keith Morgan, Head of Wholly-Owned Investments at UKFI and Non-Executive Directors
from NRAM {Kent Atkinson, Bob Davies and Sue Langley) and B&B (Michael Buckley, Louise Patten and John Tattersalll These
Board appointments were also made at each of NRAM and B&B in order to achieve a common compoesition of Directors for the
three companies

The wholly-owned subsidiary companies, NRAM and B&B, remain as separate legal entities with therr own Balance Sheets and
Government support arrangements whilst having the same Directors

NRAM Intends to operate a governance structure which, as far as practicable, takes appropriate account of best practice for a
company listed on the Official List, including where practicable complying with the requirements of the listing rules and the UK
Corporate Governance Code of the United Kingdom Listing Authonty and the guidance on corporate governance of the Financial
Reporting Councill

This corporate governance section summarises

* The composition of the Board at the date of thus report, and
¢ The governance regime in place at the date of this report

The Financial Review on pages 11 to 19 also address certan governance matters in relation to events in 2010

Our Board

On 1 October 2010 UKAR was established as the holding company for NRAM and B&B, brnnging together the two companies
under shared management and a cormmon Board of Directors The individual profiles included in this section therefore set out the
Drrectorships of each of UKAR and B&B as well as NRAM at 31 December 2010

Richard Pym - Non-Executive Chairman
Richard became Charman of UKAR in July 2010 having been appointed Chairman of B&B in November 2008 and NRAM n January
2010 He also charrs the Nominations Committees of all three companies

Richard 1s a Non-Executive Director of The British Land Company PLC and Non-Executive Chairman of BnghtHouse Group Ltd and
Nordax Finans AB He was Group Chief Executive of Allance & Leicester plc untit July 2007, and prior to that he held a number of
financial and general management roles at The Burton Group plc, BAT Industries plc, British Gas and Thomson McLintock & Co
Formerly a Vice President of the British Bankers’ Association, a Non-Executive Director of Old Mutual ple and Selfnidges ple, and
Charrman of Halfords Group ple, Richard 18 a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a physics
graduate of the University of Warwick

=
=
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Corporate governance (continued)

Kent Atkinson - Semior Independent Director

Kent joined the Boards of UKAR and B&B in October 2010, and has been a Non-Executive Director of NRAM (previously NR) since
August 2008 He 1s the Senior Independent Birector, Chairman of the Audit Committees and a member of the Risk Committees of all
three companies

Kent was previously Group Finance Director of Uoyds TSB Group ple, and subsequently 2 Non-Executive Director He 1s the Senior
Independent Director and Charman of the Audit Committee of Coca-Cola HBC SA He 1s a Non-Executive Director, Chairman of
the Group Audit and Compliance Committes, and a member of the Risk and Capital Committee and the Investment Committee of
Standard Life plc He 1s a Non-Executive Director and member of the Audit Committee and the Strategy and M&A Committee of
Gemalto NV He was formerly the Senior Independent Director and Chairman of the Audit Committees of Cookson Group plc and
Telent plc (previcusly Marconi Corporation plc), and a Non-Executive Director of Millicom International Cellular S A

Richard Banks - Chief Executive Officer
Richard became Chief Executive Officer of UKAR in July 2010 and was appointed Chief Executive Officer of NRAM and B&B in
October 2010

Before joining the Beoard of B&B as Managing Director n May 2009, Richard’s career has been in retal and commercial banking,
he was previously & Director of Allance & Leicester plc where he was Group Risk Director and before that Managing Director of
Commercial Banking He 1s also a Non-Executive Director of ICICI Bank UK PLC and a Non-Executive Director of Liverpool Compact,
which provides work expenience for 14-19 year olds Richard has a BA in Business Studies, and 1s an Associate of the Chartered
Institute of Banking

Michael Buckley - Non-Executive Director
Michael has been a Non-Executive Director of B&EB since July 2007 and joined the Boards of UKAR and NRAM in October 2010
He 15 a member of the Audit, Risk and Nominations Committees of all three companies

Michael 15 Non-Executive Charman of DCC plec and a Non-Executive Director of M&T Corporation in the USA He 1s also a senior
adwviser to a number of privately held Insh and US based companies, serves on McKinsey and Company's European Banking Practice
Adviscry Board and 1s an Adjunct Professor at the Department of Economucs at NUI University College, Cork He was Group Chief
Executive of Allied Insh Banks ple from 2001 to 2005 having earlier served as Managing Director of AIB Capital Markets and AIB
Poland Previcusly, he was Managing Director of the NCB Group, and a senior public servant in Ireland and the EU

Sue Langley - Non-Executive Director
Sue joined the Boards of UKAR and B&B in October 2010, having joined the Board of NRAM in January 2010 She 15 Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomnations Commitiee of all three companies

Sue 13 currently Director of Market Operations for Lloyd's of London, joining in July 2007, and Chairman of Lloyd's Japan Previously,
she was Chief Operating Officer and a member of the Executive team for the Miscox Group and Board member for Hiscox Syndicates
and Hiscox Insurance Sue Is currently a Director of ACORD and Trustee of the Uoyd's Chanties Trust Prior to joining Hiscex,
Sue worked for Thomson Tour Operations and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, where she was a Pnncipal Consultant specialising in
change management

Kerth Morgan - Non-Executive Director
Keith joined the Boards of UKAR and B&B in October 2010, having joined the Board of NRAM In January 2010 He I1s a member of
the Risk and Remuneration commitiees of all three companies

Keith 15 Head of Wholly-Owned Investments at UKFI, responsible for managing the Government's sharehcldings in UKAR, B&B,
NRAM and NR

Keith joined UKFI from Banco Santander Until July 2008, he was a Director of Sovereign Bancorp in the US A focusing on the
integration of Soveraign into Santander He was previously Director of Strategy & Planning at Abbey National, where he was a member
of the Executive Committee, and was also Chairman of Santander's Asset Management and Credit Card bustnesses in the UK
Before joining Abbey In 2004, Kerth spent 18 years at L E K consulting, where he was a partner specialising in financial services
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Corporate governance (continued)

Louise Patten - Non-Executive Director
Louise joined the Boards of UKAR and NRAM in October 2010, and has been a Non-Executive Director of B&B since December 2003
She 1s a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Noeminations Committee of all three companies

Louise is a Non-Executive Director of Marks and Spencer Group plc as well as senior adviser to Bain & Co She began her career at
Citibank and remained in financial services until 1993, when she joined the management consultancy, Bain & Co, as a partner Her
previous experience as a Non-Executive Director includes the Hilton Group, Brixton plc, Great Universal Stores and Somerfield

John Tattersall - Non-Executive Director
John joined the Boards of UKAR and NRAM in October 2010, having joined the Board of B&B in Apnl 2010 He 1s Charrman of the
Risk Commuittees and a member of the Audit Committees of all three companies

John retired as a partner in PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP i 2009, where he had worked since 1975, latterly as leader of the firm’s
Financial Services Regulatory Practice and a senior client relationship partner He started his career in the financial services sector
with Kleinwort Benson Limited in 1973 Untik 2009 he was Chairman of the Risk and Regulation Commitiee of the Financial Services
Faculty of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and a member of the faculty board He is currently a
Non-Executive Drector of R Raphael & Sons PLC (Raphasl's Bank), CCLA Investment Management Limited and the South East
Institute for Theological Education and a member of the Independent Commission on Equitable Life payments He 1s also a board
member of the Gibraltar Financial Services Commussion, a member of the court of the Royal Foundation of St Katharne, and a non-
stipendiary prigst in the Church of England He acted as Consultant Editor and joint author of two recent books ‘A Practitioner's Guide
to the Basel Accord’ and ‘A Practitioner’s Guide to FSA Regulation of Banking'

Details of Board appointments and retrements during 2010 are as follows

Richard Pym Non-Executive Chairman for the whole year
Kent Atkinson Director for the whole of 2010

Richard Banks Appointed 1 October 2010

Michael Buckley Appointed 1 October 2010

Bob Davies Director for the whole of 2010, resigned 31 December 2010
Gary Hoffman Resigned 1 October 2010

Sue Langley Director for the whole of 2010

Keith Morgan Director for the whole of 2010

Louise Patten Appointed 1 October 2010

Philip Remnant Resigned 1 October 2010

Andy Tate Resigned 1 October 2010

John Tattersall Appainted 1 October 2010
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Corporate governance (continued)

Board and Committee meetings
Duning 2010, the number of meetings attended by each Director was as follows

Board Audrt Remuneration Risk
Number of meetings held 15 5 4 5
R A Pym — Chairman 15/15 2/2
M K Atkinson 15/15 5/5 4/5
R L Banks 4/4
M D Buckley 4/4 on 0N
R J Davies —resigned 31 December 2010 13/15 4/4
G A Hoffman — resigned 1 Cctober 2010 11/11 2/2
S C Langley 15/15 4/4 4/4
K C W Morgan 15/15 4/4 2/2 5/5
L AV C Patten 3/4 2/2
P J Remnant — resigned 1 October 2010 8/11 4/4
A M Tate — resigned 1 October 2010 11411
J H Tattersall 4/4 1/1 11

In addition there was one further Board meeting and four Committee meetings which dealt with specific 1Issues where only a restricted
number of Directors attenced

There were no meetings of the Nominations Committee in 2010 with all appointment related matters being considered by the Board

Throughout 2010, the Charrman of each Committee was as follows

Audit Committee Kent Atkinson 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2010

Risk Committee Keth Morgan 1 January 2010 to 30 September 2010
John Tattersall 1 October 2010 to 31 December 2010

Remuneration Committee  Bob Davies 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2010

Nommations Committes Richard Pym 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2010

The current membership of the Committees 1s set cut on pages 26 and 27

=
=
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Corporate governance (continued)

Governance structure

Since the transfer to public ownership, the governance structure has been determined by a framework document {‘the Framework
Document’) agreed between the Company and its uttimate Shareholder, HM Treasury The Framework Document has been updated
penodically to reflect changing circumstances and most recently was amended to reflect the establishment of the UKAR Group

UKAR, as the Company’s Parent, I1s responsible for ensunng that it adopts and adheres to the provisions of the Framework Document,
where such provisions relate or refer to 1t

The Company operates in accordance with the terms of the latest revision to the Framework Document, ‘UK Asset Resolution
Limited and UK Financial Investments Limited Relationship Framework Document’, which sets out how the relationship between
the Company and UKFI, acting on behalf of HM Treasury, will work in practise The terms of this agreement are reflected below and
throughout this report

The Framework Document 1s intended to ensure that the relationship between the companies in the UKAR Group, UKFI, HM Treasury
(as ultimate Shareholder and the provider of financial support) and the FSA (as regulator), operates in the context of the over-arching
objective of maximising value for the taxpayer, whilst paying due regard 10 the maintenance of financial stability and to acting in a way
that promotes compettion The Framework Document requires the UKAR Group to deliver a strategic and funding business plan to
achieve these objectives

The principles of the Framework Document
The relationship between UKAR, the Company and UKFI operates according to the following principles under which UKFI
* Appoints the Chairman of the Board and 1s entitled to appoint one or more Nen-Executive Directors,

s Isrequired to consent to the appointment of other members of the Board proposed for appointment by the Nominations Committee
and agrees the terms on which the Directors are appomnted and incentivised,

* Agrees with the Board the high level objectives of the business plan (‘the Plan’) and any revisions to it,
* Reviews with the Board from time to time the Company's strategic options,

* Requrres that the Board I1s accountable to it for delivering the agreed Plan,

* Gives the Board the freedom to take the action necessary to deliver the Plan,

* Monitors the Company's performance to satisfy itself that the Plan 1s on track, and

* Isrequired to give its consent for certain significant actions

Board structure and governance

Under the terms of the Framework Document the Board operates the following committees
* Audt Committee,

* Risk Committee,

*  Remuneration Committes, and

e Nominations Committee

Further details about the Board Committees and therr role are provided on pages 26 and 27

Dunng 2010 and early 2011 the Board reviewed and updated its governance processes in ight of changes to the corporate structure,
emerging best practice and the requirements of the Plan Whilst a number of these processes have been outsourced under a service
agreement with NR or undertaken by other comparies wittun the UKAR Group, the ultimate responsiblity for governance issues rests
with the Board
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Corporate governance (continued)

Board appointments and composition

UKFI considers that the composition of the Board 15 a critical facter and seeks to secure an environment in which it shares
a common view about Board composition and succession with the Chairman including size and balance of experience and
background To achieve this and ensure that a common governance approach is apphed across the UKAR Group, UKAR and its
subsidiary companies (NRAM and B&B) operate under the following principles

+ The Charman and either the Chairman of UKFI or a senior employes nominated by the Chairman of UKF! {'the Nominated Officer’),
will discuss and confirm Board composition and succession regularty in the hght of performance and the requirements of the Plan,

«  UKFIwill be entitled to appoint to the Board one or more Non-Executive Directors nominated by UKFI {the ‘Shareholder Directors')
Mr Morgan 1s currently appointed as such a Director The Company acknowledges that the Shareholder Directors intend to haise
with and report to representatives of UKF! from time to time in relation to the business of the Company and decisions made, or to
be made, by the Board in order to assist with the exercise of their powers and duties as Directors of the Company,

* (One or more senior representatives of UKFI will, if so requested by UKFI, attend meetings of the Board in an observer capacity,
* The Charman will discuss with the Nominated Officer any impending changes to Board membership,

+ The Charman of the Nominations Committee will meet with the Nominated Officer as necessary to obtain UKFI's approval to any
proposed Board changes before they become subject to the formal appointment/consent procedure The Company’s Articles of
Association require that at every Annual General Meeting each Director, other than the Shareholder Directors who are expressly
exempt from this provision, shall retire from office and may offer themselves for re-appointment,

+ Non-Executive Directors are appointed for a specified term, normally one year, subject to re-appointment in accordance with the
above procedures, and

s The Board will ensure that sutably ngorous appraisals are made of the effectiveness of the Charrman and the Board

Board responsibilities
Duning 2010, the Board was responsible for developing and delivering the Plan to restructure the Company in order to meet the State
ad requirements of the European Commission

The Board 1s responsibie for

» Setting the Company's strategic ams and for developing and recommending revisions to the Plan to deliver the over-arching
objective of protecting and creating value for the taxpayer, paying due regard to the maintenance of financial stability and to acting
In a way that promotes competition Any proposed revisions to the Plan will be subject to review and approval by UKFI,

= Delvering the Plan in accordance with the requirements of the Framework Document In this respect, decisions on the day-to-day
running of the Company, subject to the Framework Document and the Company's Articles of Association, rest with the Board in
accordance with the Directors’ statutory, common law and fiduciary respensibilittes  UKFI 1s committed to gving the Board the
freedom necessary to deliver the agreed Plan and will not interfere in day-to-day operational and commercial matters, and

* Ensunng that the necessary financial and human rescurces are in place for the Company to deliver the agreed Plan, set the
Company's values and standards and ensure that its obligations to HM Treasury as ulbmate Shareholder are understood and met

The Board has a wntten schedule of those matters reserved for its determination and those matters reserved for UKFI, in accordance
with the Framework Document

Balance of Executive and Non-Executive Directors

More than half of the Board compnses Non-Executive Directors, all of whom have expenence in a range of commercial or banking
actvities




Directors’ Report Annual Report & Accounts 2010 \

Corporate governance (continued)

Monitoring performance

UKFI will regularty moniter the Company's performance against the Flan by means of the following main mechanisms

* Meetings between the Company and UKFI to review performance to date against the Plan, and

* Monthly (or, at UKFI's request, more frequent) financial and business performance monitaring to track the progress of the Plan and
the Company’s performance against agreed cbjectives on a timely, regular and appropriate basis

In addition, UKFI has certain moritoring and information access nghts and its approval must be obtained for certain matena! actions
and transactions

Board Committees
The Board operates a number of Committees, each of which has detailed terms of reference setting out its remit and authonty Details
of the membership and role of each Committee are set out below

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee currently compnses Kent Atkinson (Charman), Michael Buckley and John Tattersall, all of whom are Non-
Executive Directors

The Audit Committee met five times in 2010
The Committee monitors, reviews and advises the Board on

¢ Allregulatory, prudential and accounting requirements that may affect the Company,
* The integrity of the Financial Statements and external reporting responsibilties,

»  The Company’s whistleblowing policy, and

= The results of the external audit and any significant matters identified

The Committee approves the terms of reference for Internal Audit and reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the actvities
undertaken In addiion, the Committee reviews the effectiveness of the system of internal control annually In accordance with
the UK Corporate Governance Code

The Committee received reports at each meeting (other than meetings held specifically to consider the Company’s results) from the
managers responsible for Audit These reports highlight existing and emerging matters of significance, areas of concern, planned
actions, monitoring procedures and any other matters which are lkely to impact on internal controls and financial reports

The Committee 1s responsible for recommending the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors It revtews the
scope and results of the annual external audit, its cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors
The Committee also reviews the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditor to ensure that these do not
imparr the auditor's independence or ohjectity

The external auditors may attend all meetings of the Committee and they have direct access to the Committee and its Chairman at all
tmes The Head of Internal Audit provides further assurance that the significant nsks identrfied by the business are properly managed
The Mead of Internal Audtt also has direct access to the Audit Committee and its Charrman The Committee regularly receives reports
of reviews conducted throughout the Company by the Internal Audit function

In 2010, the Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the external auditors and made a recommendation that they be re-appointed
for a further 12 months The Beard accepted this recommendation and an appropnate resolution was passed at the 2010 Annual
General Mesting

NRAM
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Risk Committee

The Risk Committee currently compnises John Tattersall (Chairman), Kent Atkinson, Michael Buckley and Keith Morgan, all of whom
ara Non-Executive Directors

The Risk Committeg met five times during 2010

The main role of the Risk Commuttee Is 1o review, on behalf of the Board, the key nisks inherent in the business, the systems of control
necassary to manage such risks, and to present its findings to the Board

This responsibility requires the Risk Committee to keep under review the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management frameworks
and systems of internal contrel, which include financial, operational, compliance and nsk management controls and to foster a culture
that emphasises and demonstrates the benefits of a nsk-based approach to internal control and management of the Company The
Risk Committee fulfils this remit through its oversight of the embedding of a supportive culture In relation to the management of nsk
and by making appropnate recommendations to the Board on all signdicant matters relating to the Company's risk appetite, strategy
and policies

To assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities for the setting of risk policy, the Risk Committee pericdically reviews the Company's
materal nsk exposures In relation to the Board's nsk appetite and the Company’s capital adequacy

The Risk Committes also ensures that the public disclosure of information regarding the Company’s nsk management policies and key
risk exposures 1$ In accordance with statutory requirements and financial reporting standards

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Sue Langley (Chairman), Louise Patten and Keith Morgan, all of whom are Non-
Executive Directors

The Remuneration Committee met four times in 2010

The Committee has regard to recommendations from the UKAR Remuneration Committee and subject to compliance with the
requrements of the Framework Document, the Committee 1s responsitle for advising the Board on the remuneration arrangements
for FSA Code employees including Executive Directors The Committee also reviews and recommends to the Board the remuneration
arrangements and policies for those executives directly below Board leve! and the remuneration policies for all other staff

The Committee takes internal and external professional advice where necessary to discharge its obligations

Nominations Committee

The Nominations Committee currently compnses Richard Pym {Charrman), Michael Buckley, Sue Langley and Louise Patten all of
whom are Non-Executive Directors The Committee did not meet duning 2010 with all nominations related matters being considered
by the Board

Subject to compltance with the requirements of the Framework Docurnent and oversight by UKFI, the Committee 1s responsible for
reviewing the composition of the Board and preparing succession plans The Committee 1s also responsible for identifying potental
Executive and Non-Executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board concerning the appointment or re-appontment of
Directors, having regard to the requirement for the Board to have the appropriate range of skills and experience

The Committee also reviews the leadership needs of the Company and succession plans for key executive roles

Management Committees

The Company operates a number of Management Committees, including the Executive Committee, detalls of which are set out on
pages 30 to 32

Relationship between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

A clear division of responsibility exists between the Chairman, who 1s responsible for running the Board, and the CEC who has
responsibility for running the business This division 1s set out In writing and has been approved by the Board
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Induction and training

The Board requires all newly appointed Directors to undergo a formal induction traning programme appropnate to their skills and
expenence, to ensure that they

s Are fully aware of therr role, duties and responsibilittes as a Director, and
* Have a good understanding of the cperation of the business, so as to contribute effectively

The Board also requires Non-Executive Directors to undertake relevant angoing traning and development to improve therr capabilities
and thereby contribute more effectively to Board decision making

The Board has a comprehensive thematic training programme

Board evaluation

Following numerous Board changes in 2010 and with a Shareholder representative Director present at Board meetings, it was agreed
by the Board that a thorough evaluation process would be deferred unti 2011

Board procedures

To ensure that the Board functions effectively, Directors have full and tmely access to all nformation which may be relevant to
the discharge of therr duties and oblgations All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who
Is responsible for ensunng that Board procedures and applicable rules are followed Where necessary, Directors are able to take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense

Internal control and nsk management

The Board 1 responsible for the Company’s system of internal control and seeks regular assurance to satisfy itself that the system 1s
functioning effectively in managing nisks In the manner which it has approved Such a system can only provide reasonable, and not
absolute, assurance against matenal misstatement or loss, as it 1s designed to manage, rather than eliminate the sk of failure to achieva
business objectives Throughout the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company has operated a system of internal control, which
includes an ongaing nsk management process for identfying, evaluating and managing the significant nsks faced by the Company
During the year, the Board has continued to review the effectiveness of the Company’s systern of financial and non-finangial controls
ncluding operational and compliance controls, nsk management and the Company's most significant nsks and mitigating actions

In addiion, as part of the process of prepanng this statement, the Board has also performed 'ts annual assessment of the effectiveness
of internal controls The Board of Directors 1s not aware of any significant failures in internal control that arose n the business of the
Company dunng 2010 that are not being addressed In accordance with the internat control procedures of the Company Management
regularty takes action to improve internal controls, either as a result of its own initiative or In respense to reports from Internal Audit and
other oversight review functions

Changes in financial regulation continue within the industry The Company’s nsk management processes are kept under regular review to
ensure that the Company responds appropnately to both implemented and proposed regulatory changes

The Company operates a nsk management process, praducing a Company-wide nsk profile This identfies the Company’s significant
nsks, the probability of those nsks occumng and ther impact should they occur, and has the prime responsibility for the design and
operation of sutable controls and mitigating actions The nsk management process 1s complemented by a formalised raporting and
escalation process for control 1ssues Internal Audit has a key role In mamntaining the control environment by prowiding iIndependent
assurance on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems The Risk Committee and the Audit Committee oversee the
sk management process, regularly consider the Cormpany-wide nsk profile, and receive monitonng reports to update it on progress

The Company 18 committed to developing and mantaning an approprate nsk management framework and culture with the am of
continuing to ensure that management understand the key nsks that the business faces This 1s achieved through an organisational
structure with clear reporting knes and governed by appropnate business monitoring mechanisms, codes of conduct and policy
staterments

NRAM
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Internal control and nsk management (continued)
The system of internal control has been in place throughout 2010 and up 1o the date of approval of the Annual Report & Accounts

In reviewing the effectiveness of this system, the Board takes into account the work of the Risk Committee which reviews the Company's
significant nsks and how these are baing managed The Risk Committea also considers reports from Compliance and management on
the systern of internal contral, adherence to regulatory requirements and matenal control weaknesses, where these exist, together with
actions taken to address them The Audit Committee considers reports from Internal Audit and External Audit on the system of internal
control and matenal control weaknesses, where these exst, together with actions taken to address them

The Chairmen of the Risk Committee and the Audit Committee report on the outcome of each meeting to the Board, where appropriate,
and the Board also receves minutes of these Committee meetings

Going concern

As setoutin note 1 to the Financial Statements, HM Treasury has provided vanous on-demand facilities to the Company and provided
confirmation to the Directors that it 1s its intention to continue to fund the Company so as to mantan the Company as a going concern,
and enable the Company to meet its debts as and when they fall due, for a period up to at least 31 December 2012 Accordingly,
the Directors are satisfied at the tme of approval of the Financial Statements that the NRAM Group and the Company have adequate
resources to continue In business for the foreseeable future For this reason, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis
In prepanng the Financial Statements
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Risk management and control Pages 30 to 36 form an integral part of

the audited Financial Statements

Introduction

In accordance with the reguirements in the Framework Document referred to on page 24, NRAM's approach to nsk management
1$ bult on formal governance processes and relies on indwidual responsibility and collective oversight, informed by comprehensive
reporting The following sections describe the approach to nsk management The first section covers the nisk governance structure
The second section explains the way In which the Company identifies, categonses and manages the nsks it faces

Other factors could also affect NRAM's results, mcluding economic factors Therefore, the nsks described below should not be
considered to represent all of the potential risks and uncertainties which could impact NRAM

Risk governance

The responsibiity for the strategy and approach to nisk governance and management lies with the Board The Board 1s responsible
for determining nsk strategy, setting the nsk appetite and reviewing the effectiveness of nsk and control processes in support of
NRAM's strategy The Board 15 also responsible for establishing a clearly defined nsk management structure with distinct roles and
responsibiites Under that structure, the Risk Committee and Internal Audit provide ‘third line of defence’ challenge and review of
the management of nsks within the business Management committees and the Risk function provide ‘second line of defence’
oversight, challenge and review, and line managers have ‘first line of defence’ responsibiity for the identification, measurement and
management of the nsks within therr business areas

The management of the nsk framewaork including oversight and challenge to the business on the effectiveness of their nsk management
activity, and reporting of Cperational and Finaneial Risk, 1s performed by specialist teams in the Risk Function Second ling of defence
monitoring of the nsk management framework I1s also provided by the Risk Function

The Board and Management Committees, under the authonty delegated by the Board are described below Dunng the year, the
terms of reference and composition of the Management Committees have changed to align with orgamisatienal and structural
changes within NRAM

Risk Committee (‘RC’)

The main role of the RC I1s to keep under review the effectiveness of NRAM's nsk management framework and systems of internal
control, which include financial, operational, compliance and nsk management controls and to foster a culture that emphasises and
demonstrates the benefits of a nsk-based approach to internal control and management of NRAM The RC fulfils this remit through its
oversight of the embedding of a supportive culture in relation to the management of nsk and by making appropriate recommendations
to the Board on ali significant matters relabing to the Board's nisk appetite, strategy and policies

To assist the Board In discharging its responsibilities for the setting of nsk policy, the RC periodically reviews NRAM's maternal nsk
exposures in relation to the Board’s nsk appetite and NRAM's capital adequacy The RC also ensures that the public disclosure of
information regarding NRAM's risk management policies and key nsk exposures 1S In accordance with statutory requirements and
financial reporting standards

NRAM
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Executive Committee (‘EXCOQ’)
EXCO s an advisory committee which supports the CEO in managing the busingss 1o achieve its strategic cbjectives

The following sub-committees of the Executive Committee have been established

Executive Risk Committee

Assets & Liabidites Committeg™

Integration & Change Committee

Fraud & Professional Negligence Committee
Retal Credit Risk Committee*

Operational Risk & Compliance Committee”

“8Bub committees of the Executive Committee 1 January 2010 ~ 81 October 2010 Please see descnptions below for infermation in respect of composition from
1 Novemnber 2010

Executive Risk Committee

As a resuft of the restructuring of NRAM Management Committees at the time of the establishment of UKAR the executive Risk
Committee was established in November 2010 and 1s a managament sub-committes of EXCO with a reporting Iine to the RC The
pnmary objective of the executive Risk Committee 1s to provide technical oversight of the key financial and operational nsk and
governance 1ssues including review of the adequacy of nsk mitigating actions and cost and capital effectiveness The Commities
supports, advises and makes recommendations to the RC

Assets & Liabihties Commuttee (‘ALCO’)

The primary objectives of ALCO are to support, advise and make recommendations to the executive Risk Committee on asset
and llabiity management (including interest rate and currency nsk management, basis nsk, margin compression and investment
assets), related wholesale credit, and capital and hquidity adequacy nsks and 1ssues In November 2010, ALCO was re-structured
as a management sub-commitiee of the executive Risk Commuttee

Integration & Change Committee

As a result of the restructuring NRAM Management Committees at the time of the establishment of UKAR the Integration &
Change Commuttee (formerly the Change Development Committee) was established in November 2010 The Committee monitors
and reviews major projects to ensure appropriate returns are received from investment in change, and priontises projects
and niatives

Fraud and Professional Neghgence Committee
The Fraud & Professional Negligence Committee determines and oversess the implementation of the strategy to mitigate the
impacts of fraud and/or professional negligence and ensures that recoveries are maxmised

Retail Credit Risk Committee (‘RCRC’)
RCRC was established in January 2010 as a management sub-committee of EXCO, through which all aspects of Retail Credit Risk
were monitored, reported and controlled RCRC developed and recommended a Retal Credit Risk Appetite for approval by EXCO
and the Board [t also reviewed and approved Credit Risk Strategy and Policy In November 2010, the RCRC was absorbed into
the executive Risk Committee {see above)

Operational Risk and Compliance Committee (‘ORCC')

ORCC was established in January 2010 as an executive level committee through which all aspects of the high level operational nsk
and control environment were monitored ORCC developed and recommended the Operational Risk Policies and Risk Appetite
for approval by EXCO and the Board ORCC regularly reviewed all operational losses In line with risk appetite and budgets, and
reviewed other significant nsk events and failures in order to enhance operational nsk management Throughout the year, ORCC
alse developed and recommended compliance policies and considered new/revised regulatory requirements In November 2010,
ORCC was renamed the Operational Risk Committee (see below) and the Complhance element of CRCC was absorbed into the
executive Risk Commitiee (see above)
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The followang 1s a sub-committee of the executive Risk Committes

* Operational Risk Committee {ORC)
In November 2010, the operational nsk responsibilities of the ORCC (see above) were transferred to the ORC

Principally, ORC supports the executive Risk Committes In its oversight of the business’ adherence to the Operaticnal Risk Framework,
Operational Risk Strategy and Policy ORC also prowides challenge to the business on the accuracy, robustness and reliability of
operational nsk information and reports

Risk control

The Risk Control function compnses a team of risk management specialists with responsibility for the embedding and oversight of
financial and strategic nsk management across the business, and analysis and reporting of risk matters to the Board, and Board and
Management Committees Key functional responsibiities comprise

* Development of a nsk management strateqy, enterprnise-wide nsk management framework and policies for financial and strategic
nsk management, aligned with business requirements,

¢ Prowision of support to NRAM In the implementation of the framework,

¢ Aggregation of analyses of nsk concentrations and sensitivities across NRAM,

* Acting as a point of reference for nsk and control matters, providing advice to management, shanng best practice and carrying out
risk assurance reviews as drrected by the executive Risk Committee and the Chief Risk Officer (CRQO), and

¢ Performing ongoing independent credit model validation across retail & wholesale, retal applcation & behavioural scorecards,
forecasting and debt management areas

Compliance
The role of Compliance Is to

* Provide assurance to the Board and Executive, through the RC, that control processes are In operation to manage ali prudential
and non-prudential regulatory risks across the business,

¢ Contribute to the continuous iImprovement of the regulatory environment through prowvision of advice to the business, and

s Oversee and co-ordinate laison with the FSA on a day-to-day basis to promote open and co-operative relationships

Internal audit

For the first ten months of 2010, the Internal Audit function of NRAM was performed by NR Internal Audit and managed through
the Internal Services Agreement betwaen NR and NRAM Following the establishment of UKAR, Internal Audit responsibilities for
NRAM were transferred to Ernst & Young LLP, including the provision of a seconded Head of Internal Audit This person 1s required
to be approved for the position by the FSA and by the Board However, the oversight of the Intermal Audit function remains firmby
with NRAM The Head of Internal Audit reports through to the Charman of the Audit Committee and to the CEC

The pnme objective of the Internal Audit department 1s to provide reliable, valued and timely assessment to the Board and Executve
Management on the effectiveness of the system of internal controls mitigating current and evolving key nsks and in doing so, assist
the organisation in enhancing the effectiveness of the approach to nsk management within the organisation

Business and support actvities of NRAM are included in the scope of Internal Audit's responsibility and are subject to regular and
approprate internal audit review In accordance with Internal Audit's nsk based Audit Plan
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Risk categonsation
NRAM categorises nsk under the following headings

(i} Credit nsk
Credit nsk 1s the potential financial loss caused by a retal customer or wholesale counterparty faling to meet ther obligations to
the Company as they become due As the Company 1s no longer making any matenal loans, the absclute level of credit nsk i1s
expected to decline as NRAM's loan assets mature

Credi nsk s the largest nsk the Company faces and the monitering of the recoverability of loans and amounts due from counterparties
1S inherent across most of the Company’s activites The Company s firmly commutted to the management of credit nskin both its retail
and wholesale loan bocks The Company employs credit behaviour scoring and fraud detection techniques to support loss minimising
strategles As no new lending 15 now being undertaken, the focus of credit nsk activities 15 on

* A proactive approach to the identification and control of loan impairment in the Residential and Commercial Credit Risk and Credit
Control areas,

+ Fraud and professional negligence mvestigation, and

* The use of credit behaviour sconng and other technigues to monitor the nsk profile of the existing book

Adverse changes m the credit quality of borrowers or a general detencration in UK economic conditions could affect the recoverability
and value of the Company's assets and therefore its financial performance As credit nsk i1s the man nsk to the Company, a credit
rsk framework has been astablished as part of the overall governance framework to measure, miigate and manage credit nisk within
the Company’s nsk appetite To a lesser degree, the Company 1s exposed to other forms of credit nsk such as those ansing from
settlement activities where the risk 1S a consequence of a transaction, rather than a driver of it

The extent of credit nsk in the Company's Balance Sheet 1s shown by the following table of provisions for mark-downs on impaired assets

Balance Sheet Balance Sheet
value Provision value Pravision
31 Decamber 2010 31 December 2010 1 January 2010 1 January 2010
£m £m £m m
Residental mortgages 44,332 1,013 49,725 596
Commercial mortgages 312 30 288 13
Unsecured personal loans 3,114 542 3,812 564
Treasury assets 11,321 461 12,333 566

The Company's ability to influence the structure of its credit nsk profile, in the absence of asset sales, Is largely restncted to the degree
of control which it has over nsk strategy, loan redemptions and credit collections actvity With the composition of the loan portiolio
largely fixed in the short to medium term, the Company's credit nsk profile 15 now determined by the credit quality of the existing
portfolio alone Changes in credit qualty will anise ether from changes in the underlying economic environment, our assumptions
about the future trends in the economy, changes in the specific charactenstics of indvidual loans and the credit nsk strateges
developed to add value to the book while mitigating credit nsk

It 1s the Company’s policy to monitor the profile of its lending exposure on a regular basis Changes in the nsk profile are reported as
part of the Company’s stress tests The stress test forecasts losses, mparment and capital requirements at a portfolic and product
level over a 10 year honzon for a downside economic scenarno

The Board receves a monthly update on changes in the key drivers of the lending credit nsk profile, with more detalled information
on the factors underlying these key drivers being reported monthly to the Retaill Credit Risk Committee, and which became monthly
reporting to the executive Risk Committes from November 2010
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The Company also holds a structured finance portfolio that primarnly consists of investments in asset backed securities ((ABS") The
credit nsk s determined by the gquality of the underlying secuntised assets and this drives the market dernand for these investments
Credtt Imits have been set for the structured finance portfolios No new structured finance investments were made in 2010

Credt related policies and kmits are developed and maintained within Credit Risk and are reviewsd and approved annually by the
Board or when significant changes to policies are recommended The Retall Credit Risk Committee, which became the executive
Risk Committee in November 2010, ensures that any exposure to credit nsk remains within overall nsk exposure levels as agreed
by the Board Authonsed credit risk himits for wholesale money market counterparties reflect the size, depth and qualty of each
counterparty’s capital base and, where published, credit ratings assigned by the major credit rating agencies

{(n) Market nsk
Market nsk 1s the potential adverse change in Company income or Company net worth ansing from movements in interest rates,
exchange rates or other market pnces Effective identfication and management of market nsk 1s essental for maintaining stable
net interest ncome NRAM does not trade or make markets in any areas and market nsk anses only as a consequence of carrying
out and supporting core business activities

Market nsk wittun the Company can be subdvided into the following nsks

+ Mismatch The effect that vanations in the relationship between different points on the interest rate yield curve have on the value
of fixed rate assets and labilities

* Prepayment The effect that vanations in early repayment have on expected run-off profiles of fixed rate loans and therefore on the
effectiveness of hedging transactions

¢+ Basis Created where balance sheet assets and labilities are sensitive to different underlying nterest rates Basis nsk arises for
example where mortgage interest rates are linked to Bank Base Rate but the hiabilities funding them are linked to LIBOR

*+ Reset Exposure to the timing of repricing of assets and liabilites or to a sudden spike In a key underlying interest rate on a
particular day

* Foreign Exchange Volatiity iIn earmings resulting from movements in exchange rates altening the stering value of unmatched
ioreign currency income streams, assets and habilities (principally US$ and Euro positions)

The Company has legacy mortgage products with varying interest rate features and matunties which create potential interest rate nsk
exposures Primary nsks anse as a result of tming differences on the repncing of assets and liabilties, unexpected changes n yield
curves and changes in the correlation of interest rates between different financial instruments

Risk exposures are controlled using gross risk position limits and net ‘earnings at nsk’ volatility imits which require Group Treasury
to manage proactively expected mterest margins to within predefined imits In addition, the impact of specific stress scenarios on
portfolio exposures are analysed to ensure that unexpected events do not carry unacceptable rnisk levels

Interest rate nsk

Interest rate sensitvity anses from the relationship between interest rates and net interest income resulting from the penodic repricing
of assets and labiites The Company carres legacy fixed rate residential mortgages on its Balance Sheet on which the interest
rate paid by the customer is fixed for an agreed pericd of tme at the start of the contract The Company clasely monitors mortgage
redemption and repayment patterns and reduces the mismatch of the expected maturity profiles of tts interest-earning assets and
interest-bearing labilities through the use of interest rate denvatives, which are principally Interest rate swaps which are over-the-
counter arrangements with highly rated banking counterparties The Company also takes advantage of the natural offset of its asset
and liability positions to minimise the costs and risks of arranging transactions external to the Company
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Foreign exchange risk

NRAM has legacy funding and investments in currencies other than sterling Accordingly, foreign exchange nsk anses from activities
related to the Company managing borrowing costs and investment returns  As with interest rate nsk, Group Treasury is responsible for
managing this exposure within the Imits prescnbed in the Market Risk Policy as approved by ALCO and the Board

The Company will remain exposed to foreign exchange risk until all assets and labitities denominated in foreign currencies have
matured or been sold

Foreign currency exposure 1s measured dally by Group Treasury taking into consideration all non-sterling assets and liabilites This
exposure position i1s broken down by indmdual foreign currency and the net exposure circulated daily to senior managers with an
overall summary position provided to ALCO on a monthly basis

(it} Ligudity nsk
Liguidity nsk represents the nsk of being unable to pay llabilities as they fall due and anses from the mismatch in cash flows
generated from current and expected assets, labilities and denvatives

Liguidity nsk management within the Company considers both the overall Balance Sheet structure and projected dally hquidity
requirements, measunng the combined effect of asset and abiity matunty mismatches across the Company, undrawn commitments
and cther contingent obligaticns The day-to-day management of iquidity 1s the responsibility of Group Treasury

Liguicity nsk management I1s set out in the Lguidity Policy as approved by the Board This considers the qualty of lquid assets as well as
projected funding requirements The Company obtains any sterling funds required from a stering denominated tacity prowded by HM
Treasury This facility enables sufficient stering lquidity to be avalable even in extreme circumstances The Company remains dependent
on the markels, as it pnncipally generates liquidity in foreign currencies by converting funds from stering with foretgn exchange swap
transactions in the financial markets Thus, whilst hquidity nsk in sterding 1s very low, that in foreign currencies remains

The iImpact of iguidity nsk 1s monitored by liquidity stress tests, the results of which are considerad by ALCO and reported to the Board

(v) Operational nsk
NRAM defines Operational Risk as follows

“The nsk of loss resulting from inadequate or faled internal processes, people and systems or from external events’ .
Operational nsks are further classified mto the following broad categones

* Fnancial cnme — Including the nsks of external and nternal fraud, theft and non compliance with antt money laundenng regulations

= Business continurty — covenng the nsks asscciated with the inability of the organisation to mamntan and recover operations in the
event of an incident or major cnsis

* Business processes — (ncluding the nsks associated with cutsourcing arrangements, process / procedural design, documentaton
and delivery, MI production and delivery, transaction processing, and operational nsks arising from change

e Technology — coverng the nsks associated with IT systems {including both hardware and software) in terms of development,
delivery, maintenance and application

e People — encompassing the risks associated with employing the nght people, deployment and succession planning, colleague
engagement and commitment, performance, reward and recognition processes, dversity, dignity, farness and respect, and
compliance with HR regulations

+ |Legal — covenng the nsks associated with contractual arrangements and libgation claims against NRAM
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Risk management and control (continued) Pages 30 to 36 form an ntogral part of

the audited Financiat Statements

The Company’s business areas manage Operational Risk through execution of the Operational Risk Framework using the
methodclogy, approach, tools, techniques and processes provided by the Operational Risk Function in accordance with the NRAM
Operational Risk Policy

The NRAM Operational Risk Framework consists of three main components

* Risk and Control Self Assessment
* Risk Event Reporting
+ Monitonng and Reporting Operational Risk

These components and the underlying processes supperting them are designed to ensure the key phases of the nsk 'Iife cycle’
(identfication, assessment, mitigation, and monitoning and reporting) are fully embedded within the Operational Risk Management
activities for NRAM

Risk and control self assessment

Provides the business with a mechanism to identify, assess and, where appropnate, mitigate operational nsk exposures outside
NRAM'’s Operational Risk appetite This process utllises a probability and impact matrix and helps the business ascertan its inharent
versus residual risk profile (gross versus net) as well as assess the adequacy of its internal control framewaork

Risk event reporting

Risk events can indicate movement in the Cperational Risk profile of the business as well as identifying deficiencies and fallures within
the control framework

A process IS In place for the recognition, capture, assessment and reporting of nsk events This process 1s used to help identify where
process and control requirements are needed 1o reduce the recurrence of nsk events The Risk Event Reporting process 1s designed
to ensure all Operaticnal Risk Events are suitably escalated to the Executive and Senior Management of NRAM and catalogued for
regulatory monitonng and reporting purposes The process also ensures that management are aware of Indvidual Operatonal Risk
Events and the aggregate level of events including actual losses and exposures (1 € potential losses} and the appropnate remedial
activity 1s underiaken to prevent recurrence or reduce the level of Impact If recurrence 1s Inevitable

Operational Risk Events for reporting purposes are classified as those which have an actual or potential financial impact in excess of
£10,000 or have a significant non-financial impact e g reputational damage, smpact on normal business operations, compliance or
regutatory breach including fraud events or business continuity Incidents

Monitorning and reporting operational rnisk

Prior to November 2010, Operational Risk matters were reported to the Operational Risk Working Group, the Business Continuity
Working Group, the Information Secunty Working Group and the Operational Risk and Complance Committee (ORCC), all of which
met on a monthly basis The ORCC reported into the Executive Commuittees of both NR and NRAM  Since November, NRAM
Cperational Risk matters have been reported to the ORC In turn, the ORC reports to the executive Risk Committee

Information secunty, business contnuity management and financial cnme specialists monitor activity in their areas of expertise and
contnbute towards monthly reporting

The Company's business areas manage Operational Risk through appropnate monitonng, controls and loss mitigation actions,
ncluding insurance These actions nclude a balance of policies, appropnate procedures and internal controls to ensure compliance
with laws and regulations At a detalled level, nsk and control assurance 1s facilitated by Fisk Control, in conjunction with line managers,
on the nsks and control effectiveness within therr areas of responsibility

The Company currently calculates its capital requirerment for Operational Risk using the Basel Il Standardised Approach, although
not strictly required to do so under the MIPRU regulatory regme Operational nsk will remain an important part of the Company's nsk
profile throughout the wind-down process
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Directors’ remuneration report

This section of the Annual Report outlines the role ang responsibilities of both the NRAM and B&B Remuneration Commitiees,
summanses the key focus for the year and provides detals of the remuneration for the Directors Thus remuneration report does
not form part of the Financial Statements and s not audited It also outlnes the overarching reward policy covernng all colleagues
Given the current structure and commonality of the Directors in the two organisations, it 1s appropnate to provide one Directors’
Remuneration Report for the Company

As outlned in the Relationship Framework Document, the ongoing relationship between the Company and UKFI ensures the
Company operates in the context of the agreed business plan and the overarching strategic objectives In addition, the Company will
seek to ensure that remuneration policy and practices are appropriate and both incorporate, and are reflective of, sound nsk
management prnciples

This report covers the overarching principles of remuneration for UKAR and its subsidiary companies, NRAM and B&3, since they were
transferred to UKAR ownership on 1 October 2010 and the UKAR Group was established The report also references both NRAM and
B&B dunng the pencd prior fo UKAR establishment (1 January - 30 September 2010) There were no Directors or colleagues directly
employed by NRAM dunng 2010 The remuneration and fees of the Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and all employees
were recharged from NR to NRAM under the terms of the service agreement between the two companies, which for Directors was up
to 30 September 2010 from when they were paid by B&B and recharged to NRAM under a new service agresment

FSA code of practice on remuneration
UKAR does not need to comply with the FSA's code of practice on remuneration, as non-banks are not in scope, but UKAR and its
subsichary companies will continue to ensure the principles of the Code underpin its remuneration policies and practices

Advisers

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were ndependent advisers to the Remuneration Committee of B&B for the year They provided external
advice on market data, structure and design of Incentives across all levels of the organisation and a review of compliance against the
FSA Cede of Practice on Remuneration In addition, Hewitt New Bnidge Street advised the companies on incentive scheme design
As NRAM had no employees, its Remuneration Committee did not seek any external advice

Remuneration policies

UKAR and its subsiciary companies operate aligned reward and incentivisation policies that am to support the achievernent of our
overall business strategy by establishing objective, consistent and far schemes to support the consistent application and management
of remuneration policies in order 1o provide a competitive, yet cost-effective, salary and benefits package to all employees

Remuneration Committees

Dunng the year the CEQ, HR Director, Risk Director and Head of Reward were invited to attend B&B Remuneration Committee
mestings for those tems other than therr own arrangements and to provide advice UKFI representatives also atiended mestings to
represent the interests of the Shareholder

Service agreements

The Company’s policy Is to employ Executive Directors on one-year rolling contracts It 1s not the Company’s policy to make non-
contractual payments to Executive Directors on termination of therr senvice agreement and no such payments were made n 2010
Executive Directors are entitled to pay in lieu of notice, should therr coniract be terminated, and statutory redundancy only Since
1 October 2010 Richard Banks has been the only Executive Director of the Company

Pre-UKAR establishment: 1 January 2010 - 30 September 2010

Remuneration Committees
The NRAM Remuneration Committee met twice dunng this tme 1o consider its Terms of Reference

The B&B Remuneration Committes met three times and, amongst other items, considered Company-wide annual borus payments
for 2009 and 2010 salary review and bonus scheme proposals The scope of the Committee was to focus on remuneration policy
across all levels of the organisation
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Directors’ remuneration report (continued)

The Remuneration Committees of both companies were composed entirely of Non-Executive Directors as outined below

Table 1 - Remuneration Committee membership up to 30 September 2010 (pre-UKAR)

B84B NRAM

Louise Patten (Chairmany Robert Davies {Chairman)
Michael Buckley Sue Langley

Richard Pym Richard Pym

Table 2 — Executive Directors’ service contracts {pre-UKAR)

Date of service Company's Director’s
contract Company notice pencd notice penod
Richard Banks 27/04/2009 BaB 12 months 6 months

Gary Hoffman was Co-CEO of NRAM and NR, and Andrew Tate was Chief Operating Officer (COO) of NRAM Both were Executive
Directors of NRAM for the period 1 January - 30 September 2010 They both resigned from the Board of NRAM on 30 September 2010

Table 3 — Non-Executive Directors’ terms of appointment (pre-UKAR)

Date of Company's Director’s

appointment Company notice penod notice pericd
Richard Pym 01/07/2009 B&B 1 cay 1 menth

01/01/2010 NEAM 3 months 3 months
Michael Buckley 26/07/2007 B&B Nil Nil
Louise Patten 17/12/2003 B&B Nl Nil
John Tattersall C1/04/2010 B&B 3 months 3 months
Robert Davies 01/01/2010 NRAM 3 months 3 months
Sue Langley C1/01/2010 NRAM 3 months 3 months
Kent Atkinson 01/01/2010 NRAM 3 months 3 months
Keith Morgan 01/01/201Q NRAM 3 months 3 months
Phihp Remnant 01/G61/2010 NRAM 3 months 3 months

Non-Executive Chairrman and Non-Executive Directors’ fees (pre-UKAR]}

Richard Pym's total fees for Chairng both NRAM and B&B from 1 January 2010 remain unchanged at £250,000 p a Between
1 January and 30 September 2010, 25% (equivalent to £62,800 p a) of this was paid by NRAM, 75% (equivalent to £187,200
p a) by B&B

Fee levels for NRAM Non-Executive Directors were determined by NR before the legal separation of NRAM and NR  Fees comprised
a basic feg of £50,000, with additional sums of £20,000 paid to the Chair of the Risk Committee, £15,000 to the Charrs of the Aucit
and Remuneration Committees and £6,000 for membership of a Board Committee Non-Executive Directors did not participate in any
incentive arrangements, did not have service contracts and did not receive any other benefits

Fee levels for B&B Non-Executive Directors were determined by a committee, which had a membership of the Managing Director,
HR Director and Finance Director At the beginning of the year fees comprised a basic fee of £48,000, with additional sums of
£22,000 pad to the Char cf the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committees and £10,000 pad to the Char of the Remuneration
Committee On 1 July 2010, following a review of committee structures and the spliting of Audit and Risk into two committees, these
additonal sums changed to £15,000 for the Audit Committee Char, and £10,000 for both the Risk and Remuneration Committes
Chairs Non-Executive Directors do not participate in any incentive arrangements, do not have service contracts and do not receve
any other benefits

NRAM
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Directors’ remuneration report (continued)

The emoluments of the Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors for the year are detaled in table 7

Components of Executive Director remuneration {pre-UKAR)
Remuneration frameworks were structured to place appropnate importance on fixed pay and short term bonus — there were no share
schemes and no long-term incentive opportunities have existed since nationalisation

¢ Basic salary
NRAM did not have any employees but did have twa Executive Directors pre establishment of UKAR — Gary Hoffman, Co-CEQ for NR
and NRAM and Andrew Tate, COO of NRAM They were both emploved by NR and therr services were provided and charged under
the service level agreement between these two companies Gary Hoffman was a Director of NR and his total remuneration 1
disclosed in the Annual Report & Accounts of NR Andrew Tate was seconded to NRAM and was not a Director of NR therefore
his total remuneration 1s not disclosed in the Annual Report & Accounts of NR His salary and emoluments attributable to NRAM
totaling £250,152, whilst a Director of NRAM, were charged to NRAM so are not disclosed in table 7 of this report

Richard Banks, Managing Director, was the only Executive Director of B&B and his basic salary was the only element of pay that
pension was calculated from He recewed a remuneration package determined by the Board and the Remuneration Committeg
His salary increased from £250,000 p a at the beginning of the year to £256,000 pa from 1 Apnl 2010

* Annual bonus arrangements
Although NRAM did not have any employees, an accrual for bonus payments is included in the Company’s Financial Statements
This 1s to cover any bonus payments for all these colleagues who transferred from NR post UKAR establishment, as it was agreed
that all colleagues would participate in the NR annual bonus scheme for all of 2010

B&B senior employees participated In an annual bonus scheme which was aligned to targets derved directly from the Business
Flan and individual payments Inked to achievermnent of perscnal objectves A maximum of 30% annual bonus was awarded, with
60% of any benus earned payable in March 2011, and the remaining 40% deferred and payable in three equal iInstalments over
three years Where bonus payments have been deferred, they will be pad prowded that there are no matenal adverse 1ssues
regarding personal and/or business performance which, in the opinion of the Remuneration Committee, were not evident at the
tme of making the award Richard Banks falls into the scope of this bonus arrangement

* Pensions and other benefits
Richard Banks recewved an annual supplement of 30% of basic salary in lieu of any company pension benefit In ine wath typical
market practice, other executive benefits are provided in the form of a company car allowance, housing allowance, pnvate medical
nsurance, Iife assurance, permanent disability msurance and accident insurance

The emcluments for the year of the Executive Director who was in place at the year end are detaled ntable 7

Post-UKAR establishment: 1 October 2010 — 31 December 2010

The information below detalls any changes that were made as part of the establishment of UKAR when the Remuneration Committees
for UKAR, NRAM and B&B were aligned with common membership

Appointment of Chief Executive Officer

Richard Banks, previously Managing Director of B&B, was apponted as Designate CEQ of UKAR 1n April 2010 and this appointment
was confirmed on 1 October 2010 His salary of £340,000 p a was determined by the ‘Designate’ Members of the Board and
Remuneration Committee of UKAR taking into account the increased size and scope of the new role encompassing both NRAM and
B&B External advice was sought as to the appropnate salary range for this role

The Remuneration Committee

The prnmary objective of the UKAR Remuneration Commitiee 1s to have oversight of the remuneration policy of the UKAR Group
Companies It 15 responsible for recommending to the Boards of NRAM and B&B all aspects of the remuneration arrangements
for Executive Directors, Senior Executives, Approved Persons and Code Employees (as defined by the FSA Code of Practice on
Remuneration} across the Comparies regardless of whether such appointments are on a permanent or an intenm basis The UKAR
Rermuneration Committee monttors the targets for any performance-related pay schemes operated by the Comparies The Commuttee
Is also responsible for reviewing proposals as to the remuneration policies of the Companies for all staff and monitors and advises
on any major changes in employee benefit structures throughout the Companies

NRAM
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Directors’ remuneration report (continued)

The full Terms of Reference for the Committee are available on the NRAM corporate website

The Remuneration Committee met twice between 1 October and 31 December 2010 and, amongst other items, considered changes
to relevant regulations and best practice approaches within remuneration and 2011 incentive arrangements

The Remuneration Committees of UKAR, NRAM and B&B are composed entirely of Non-Executive Directors as follows

Table 4 - Remuneration Committee membership (post-UKAR}

Robert Davies (Chairman) * 1 October 2010 to 31 December 2010

Sue Langley (Chairman) * From 1 October 2610
Keith Morgan From 1 Qctober 2010

Louise Patten From 1 October 2010

“Robert Dawvies resigned on 31 December 2010 and Sue Langley took over as Charman of the Remuneration Committee from that date

Components of Executive Director remuneration

Executives and senior management are elgible for an annuat bonus of up to 60% of basic salary For 2010 this will be pro-rated as
approprate, 40% will be payable in March 2011, and the remaining 60% deferred and payable in three equal instalments over three
ysars

Service agreements

Service agreements following UKAR's establishment are shown below

Table 5 - Executive Directors’ service contracts {post-UKAR}

Date of service Company's Diractor's

contract notice penod notice penod

Richard Banks 1 Octcber 2010 12 months 6 manths
There was no change to Richard Banks' notice period post UKAR establishrnent

Table 6 — Non-Executive Directors’ terms of appointment (post-UKAR)

Date of Inttial term Company's Director’s

appointment™ ond date notice penod notice penod

Richard Pym 1 October 2010 31 December 2011 3 months 3 months

Kent Atkinson 1 October 2010 31 December 2011 3 months 3 morniths

Michael Buckley 1 October 2010 31 Decemnber 2011 3 months 3 months

Sue Langley 1 October 2010 31 December 2011 3 manths 3 months

Keith Margan 1 October 2010 31 December 2011 3 months 3 months

Louise Patten 1 October 2010 31 December 2011 3 months 3 months

John Tattersall 1 October 2010 31 December 2011 3 months 3 morths

Rebert Davies™ 1 October 2010 31 December 2011 3 months 3 months

" Robert Davies resigned on 31 December 2010
** Represents the date of appontment to the Board of UKAR  the Directorships of NRAM and B&B continued unchanged out all notice periods have been aligned
ta the UKAR notice perods

NRAM
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Directors’ remuneration report (continued)

Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors’ fees

With effect from 1 October 2010 the basic fee for Non-Executive Directors was set at £50,000 p a to cover directorships of all three
companies, UKAR, NRAM and B&B In addition, the members of the Audit, Risk, Remuneration and Nomination Committees recewve
a fee of £5,000 p a per membership, which increases to £15,000 for the Chairs of the Audit, Risk, and Remuneration Committees

Richard Pym’s total annual fees for channg all three companies was unchanged at £250,000 p a
There were no further changes to fae levels for Non-Executive Directors post UKAR establishment

Non-Executive Directorships

Executive Directors who hold Non-Executive Directorships in other companies are permitted to retain therr earmings from these posts
Richard Banks I1s the only Executive Director for the Company and he has held two external directorships durning the year, in each case
for the whole of 2010 One was with Liverpool Compact Education Business Partnership for which he received no fees (2008 E£ril)
and the second was with ICIC| Bank UK plc for which he receved fees of £50,000 (2009 £4,166)

Full Year 2010

This Report sets out the framework of remuneration policies and the tables show how this framework 1s applied to each individual
Director in the year under review Benefits received by Directors compnse of the provision of a car allowance, health benefits and
housing allowance An amount In ieu of pension entitiement i1s alse paid, this 1s shown Intable 7

Pensions
There were no NRAM employees dunng the year and therefore no disclosure relating to pensions For Gary Hoffman and Andrew
Tate, pension salary supplements were paid by NR and 50% recharged through to NRAM under the terms of a service agreement

The final salary-based Bradford & Bingley Staff Pension Scheme closed to future accrual with effect from 31 December 2009
No Director who served during the year had any accrued pension entitlements under any UKAR Company pension scheme

In 2010, pension paymenis due to former Bradford & Bingley Bulding Society Directors, pad directly by B&B and not connected
to the Bradford & Bingley plc Staff Pension Scheme, amounted to £23,714 {2009 £23,073} For NRAM, penston payments due to
former Directors, paid directly by NRAM and not connected to the Northern Rock Statf Pension Scheme, amounted to £277,306
(2009 £210,565)
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Directors’ remuneration report (continued)

The table below sets out the total emoluments paid to those Directors who were Directors of UKAR Group comparies at 31 December
2010 in respect of therr services In 2010 to companies within the UKAR Group This table also sets out the total emolurments paid to
those indwiduals who were Directors of NR for the year ended 31 December 2008 before the legal separation of NRAM from NR and
the total emoluments paid to those individuals who were Directors of B&B for the year ended 31 December 2009

Table 7 - Directors’' emoluments for the period 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2010

Basic Non-cash Allowances Paymant in Borus'™ Total B&8 Total NR*** Total
salary/ benefits lieu of pensicn emoluments emoluments emcluments
feos* 2010 2008 2009
Executive Directors
Richard Banks’ £278,500 £1,081 £22,800 £82,650 £170,000 £552,011 £261,799 -
Chnis Wilford® - - - - - - £046,297 -
Roger Hattam® - - - - - - £651,442 -
Gary Hoffman® - - - - - - - £1,487,166
Anne Godbehere? - - - - - - - £85,641
Andrew Tate? - - - - - - - -
Total £275,500 £1,061 £22,800 £82,650 £170,000 £552,011 £1,859,5638 £1,572,807
Nan-Executive Directors
Richard Pym?* £250,000 - - - - £250,000 £454,913 -
Kent Atkinson £70,000 - - - - £70,000 - £80,000
Michael Buckley £67,000 - - - - £67,000 £70,000 -
Robert Davies £68,750 - - - - £68,750 - £70,000
Sue Langley® £60,000 - - - - £60,000 - -
Keith Margan® - - - - - - - -
Philip Remnant'® £45,000 - - - - £45,000 - £70,000
Louise Patten £58,500 - - - - £58,500 £58,000 -
John Tattersalt £44,000 - - - - £44,000 - -
Ron Sandlsr’ - - - - - - - £350,000
Laurie Adams’ - - - - - - - £85,000
Richard Coates’ - - - - - - - £70,000
John Devaney’ - - - - - - - £80,000
Tom Scholar®’ - - - - - - - -
Total £663,250 - - - - £663,250 £582,913 £805,000
Grand Total £938,750 £1,061 £22,800 £82,650 £170,000 £1,215,261 £2.442451 £2,377,807

* The only element of pay that pension s calculated on
** Payment 1s subject to the same rules around deferral and clawback as outlined earlier in this report
“** NR was renamed NRAM on 1 January 2010

' As MD of B&B, Richard Banks was entitied to recenve an annual bonus award which was capped upon his appontment at a maximum of £30,000 for 2009
The Remuneration Commttee awarded Richard the maximum amount of £30,000 in early 2010 Scheme rules meani any bonus was deferred over three
years, therefore Richard was entitied to receve £10,000 10 2010 2011 and 2012 but he deferred hus entitlement to receve the first payment in 2010 as the
business had nat made a profit In 2011 the Remuneration Committee agreed to award Richard this delerred paymeant of £10,000 for 2009 togsther with the
second tranche of £10,000 for 2010 In addition £73 100 will be paid m respect of 2010 performartce with £66,900 deferred to future perods

2 Anne Godbehere remuneration relates to the period of service from 1 January to 31 January 2009

[

Andraw Tate was COO and a Cirector of NRAM for the penod from 1 January to 30 September 2010 durng which time he was employed by NR and seconded
to NRAM His remuneration was paid by NR and charged to NRAM under the terms of a service agreement He was not an Executive Director of either NR
or NRAM dunng 2008, and therefore no comparative iInformation s included The remuneration paid to him in respect of his senvices to NRAM was £250 152
representing 50% of the total of his remureration for the period of service to 30 September 2010

-

Richarg Pym was Executtve Charrman of B&B for the period up to 1 July 2009 for which he was paid £361 313 and became Non-Executive Chairman from
that date for which he recenved fees of £93,600
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Directors’ remuneration report (continued)

5 Sue Langley's fees are not paid directly 16 her The fees shown in table 7 were paid to Uoyd’s of London durning 2010 for her services
& Keith Morgan, as the representative of UKFI, waved all fees for the year, as did Tom Scholar who was the representative for HM Treasury

7 Ron Sandler, Laune Adams, Richard Coates, John Devaney and Tom Scholar all stood down as Non-Executive Drrectors with effect from 1 January 2010
20089 informatien is included as indmduals were Non-Exacutve Drectars of NR in 2009

8 Gary Hoffman's emoluments In 2010 were paid by NR and he received no direct remuneration from NRAM or other UKAR companies during his penod as
Co-CEO of NRAM and NR His remuneration was approved by the NR Remuneration Commitiee and NRAM was charged 50% of hus employment costs and
expenses under a service agreement This 15 not Included in the total emoluments In table 7 above

9 As stated n B&B's 2008 Annual Report & Accounts, two Executive Diractors, Chns Willford and Roger Hattam, stood down and ther notics expired on
4 June 2010

10 Philip Remnant stoocd down with effect from 1 October 2010

Table 7 disclosures do not reflect what has been charged n the accounts in 2010 as the emoluments shown relate to the UKAR
Non-Executive Chairman, Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors in total, which have been charged to NRAM and B&B in
accordance with the service agreements between these comparnies The emoluments of both Andrew Tate and Gary Hoffman are not
included for 2010 in table 7 as they wers paid through NR being recharged to NRAM under the service agreement in place at that time

Detalls of the emoluments of the highest paid Director and of total Directors’ remuneration for the Company may be found within the
notes to the Financial Statements These differ from the values disclosed in table 7 above, as the values In this table relate to services
to all UKAR Group companies
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Corporate social responsibility report

NRAM aims to conduct its business in a socially responsible manner in respect of customers, local cormmunities and the environment

Workplace and employees

NRAM's employment practices reflect international and national standards covenng areas such as minimum working age, working
hours, health and safety and discrnimination

The Company promotes diversity and equality across all aspects of working life and believes it 1s important to share best practice
and success

Opportunities are provided for all employees to develop tharr skills and knowledge
The Company recogrises that the health and well-being of employees 1s vital to the business

The recognised union for employees 1s Unite

Customers

NRAM has around 400,000 mortgage customers (20028 440,000} and 200,000 unsecured loan customers to serve and manage
The Company endeavours to treat each customer as an inddual, with openness, honesty and integrity The Company adheres to
the FSA’s formal framework for Treating Customers Faurly

NRAM works closely with those customers expenencing payment difficutties to exhaust all reasonable efforts before commencing
repossession proceedings, which i1s viewed as a last resort

Community

Since demutualisation in 1997, the Company has supported The Northern Rock Foundation, which supports community and chantable
causes, mainty 1n the North East of England and Cumbna In line with the commitment made when first taken into public ownership,
The Foundation received a donation of £15m from NRAM in 2010

Duning 2010, NRAM continued its investment into the community especially in the North East area, where the majonty of our employees
lIive and work

In 2010, NRAM focused charitable support on the Samaritans and a total of £71,000 was raised by employees in support of this
chanty A further £498,000 was raised for other national and local chanties and organisations This fundraising was undertaken in
collaboration with the employees of NR as prior to the establishment of UKAR all NRAM staff were employed by NR

The environment
Dunng 2010, NRAM sought to continue to improve its environmental performance through a number of intiatives

NRAM promotes its commutrment to environmentally fnendly travel by offering employees discounted annuatl travel tickets for the
North East area

The man waste streams produced by NRAM consist of general office waste, confidential paper waste and [T equipment

There are procedures In place to recycle waxed and plastic cups, cans, bottles, toner cartndges, waste electrical equipment, mobile
phone battenes, paper and cardboard All paper waste throughout the Company 1s recycled securely

Corporate social responsibility in 2011
From March 2011 The Northern Rock Foundation will no longer be supported by the Company who will Instead support homeless
chanties and local community involvement The corporate social responsibility strategies for NRAM and B&B will be aligned
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements for each financial year Under that law the Directors have prepared
the Group and Parent Company Financtal Statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS") as
adopted by the European Urion ('EU")

Under company law the Directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are sausfied that they give a true and fair
wiew of the state of affars of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company and Group for that penod In
preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors are required to

= Select sutable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

* Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

¢ State whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the EU have been followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and
explaned in the Financial Statements,

* Prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it s Inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue
In business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficent to show and explan the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial posttion of the Company and the Group and enable them
to ensure that the Financial Statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reascnable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other uregularties

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the Company's website Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of Financial Statements may differ from legislation in other junsdictions
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Other matters

Principal activities
The principal activities of the UKAR Group are explained In the CEQ's review onpages 6to 7

Review of business, future developments, principal rnisks and uncertainties
A review of the business, future developments, principal nsks and uncertainties, 1 set out in the CEO's review on pages 6to 7

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buldings, which are included in the Balance Sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation amounted to £28 6m at
31 December 2010 In the Directors’ opinion, based on valuations camed out by the Company's external qualfied Chartered
Surveyors, the total market value of those assets at that date was not significantly different to the Balance Sheet amount Dunng
the year, part of the office complex in Gosforth was reclassifiec as an investment property, being predominantly let-out to NR At the
time of reclassification this part of the bulding was revalued and 1s now carried in the Balance Sheet at farr value As at 31 December
20101ts value was £26 6m

Dividends
The Directors do not propose the payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010 {2003 £nil)

Shares

On 22 February 2008, under the terms of The Northern Rock ple Transfer Order 2008 (SI 2008 No  432), alt shares in the Company
were transferred to the Treasury Solicttor as nominee of the HM Treasury Each Foundation share was converted into and redesignated
as one Ordinary share in the Company On 1 October 2010 all of these shares were transferred to UKAR, the newly formed holding
company Into which the ownership of B&B was also transferred UKAR 15 wholly owned by HM Treasury with the shares of the
Company being held by the Treasury Solicitor

There has been no change in the Issued share capital since the Company was taken into public owrership and the number of ordinary
shares of 25 pence each in 1ssue throughout 2010 and as at 31 December 2010 was 495,559,500 The number of preference shares
of 25 pence each ini1ssue throughout 2010 and as at 31 December 2010 was 400,000

The Company has two classes of shares ordinary and preference shares of 25 pence each Further detalls concerning the nghts and
obligations attaching to the shares, including voting nghts, can be found n the Company's Articles of Association

Directors’ interests
Following the Transfer on 22 February 2008, no Director has any interest in shares in the Company

No Director had any matenal interest dunng the year in any contract of significance to the Company's business

Major Shareholders
As at the date of ttus Report, all shares are held by UKAR, which i1s wholly owned by HM Treasury

Compensation Scheme Order

In September 2008, in accordance with the Northern Rock plc Compensation Scheme Order 2008, HM Treasury appointed an
independent valuer, Mr Andrew Caldwell of BDO LLP, to assess what compensation i1s due, if any, to former sharehelders and other
interested parties following the Transfer Further details about the Valuer can be found at his website, www.northernrockvaluer.org.uk

NRAM
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Other matters (continued)

Charitable and political donations
In ine with the commitment made when NRAM was first taken into public ownership, NRAM has continued to support The Northern
Rock Foundation, and paid a donation of £15m in 2010, which was provided for in 2009

No contributions wera made for political purposes in 2010 The UKAR Group does not make any payments that might be deemed to
be political in nature

Creditor payment policy

This measure 1s no longer relevant to the Company as, on the whole, it no longer engages external suppliers for goods and services,
the majonty of which are now supplied by either NR or B&B, for which separate service agreements are in place (general terms are that
cash settlement takes place within 25 days of invoice} The average period for creditor payment in 2009 was 39 days

Events after the reporting pernod
Detalls of events after the reporting penod are shown in note 49 to the Financial Statements

Directors’ indemnities

UKAR, the holding company has provided each Director with a Deed of Indemnity indemnifying them to the fullest extent perrmitted by
taw against all losses suffered or incurred In respect of acts and omissions ansing as a result of holding office The indemnihes also extend
1o the rembursement of each Cirector with the costs of defending all claims, actions and proceedings including regulatory investigation
ansing out of or cornected with the exercise of, or falure 1o exercise, any of the Director's powers, duties or responsibiliies as an officer,
director, trustee, agent or employee of the UKAR Group and any of it's subsidianes  Reimbursement is subject to the Director's obligation
to repay the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 The payment obligations of the Company under
each Deed of Indemnity are backed by a specific guarantee in favour of the Director entered into between the Company and HM Treasury

The Company has also arranged Director’'s and Cfficer's Insurance on behalf of the Directors in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006

Annual General Meeting ({AGM’)
It 1s proposed that the AGM of the Company will be held on 28 Apnl 2011

Auditor

A resolution to appoint the Company's auditors, following a competitive tendenng process, wil be put to the Shareholder at the
forthcoming AGM

Disclosure of information to the Auditor
As at the date of this report, each person who I1s a Director confirms that

* Each Director has taken such steps as he or she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make him or herself aware of any

|
¢ So far as each Director 1s aware there 1s no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor 1s unaware, and
|

relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor i1s aware of that information ‘

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 {2) of the Companies Act 2006

Paul Hopkinson
Company Secretary, on behalf of the Board
30 March 2011

ifffido
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Independent Auditors’ report to the Shareholder of Northern Rock
(Asset Management) plc

We have audited the Group and Parent Company Financial Statements (the ‘Financial Statements’) of Northern Rock {Asset
Management) plc for the year ended 31 December 2010 which compnse the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Company Staternents
of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements and the related notes The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation Is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs') as adopted by
the European Union and, as regards the Parent Company Financial Statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

As explaned more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement on page 45, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
Financial Statements and for baing satisfied that they give a true and farr view Our responsibility I1s 1o audit and express an opinon on
the Financial Statements in accordance with applicacle law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and lreland) Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, ncluding the opinicns, has been prepared for and only for the Campany’s Shareholder in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, In giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or Into whose hands 1t may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in wnting

Scope of the audnt of the Financial Statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Staterments sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the Financial Staterments are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This Includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group's and Company's crcumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors, and the
overall presentation of the Financial Staternents

Opinion on Financial Statements
In our opinicn

¢ the Financial Statements give a true and farr view of the state of the Group's and of the Parent Company's affars as at 31
December 2010 and of the Group's profit and Group’s and Parent Company’s cash flows for the year then ended,
* the Group Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,

* the Parent Company Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Unicn and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, and

* the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008 and, as regards
the Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Opinion on other matter prescrnibed by the Companies Act 2006

In our ocpinion the information given In the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the Financial Statements are prepared Is
consistent with the Financial Statements
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Independent Auditors’ report to the Shareholder of Northern Rock
(Asset Management) plc (continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report In respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you tf, In
our opInion

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us, or

* the Parent Company Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
* certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

* we have not received all the nformation and explanations we require for our audrt

Y STV 'Y

Lindsay Gardiner (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Newcastle upon Tyne

30 March 2011

AD AN
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Independent Auditors’ report to the Shareholder of Northern Rock
(Asset Management) plc

We have audited the Group and Parent Company Financial Statements (the 'Financial Statements’) of Northern Rock {Asset
Management) plc for the year ended 31 December 2010 which compnse the Consclidated Income Statement, the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Company Statements
of Changes in Equity, the Consalidated and Company Cash Flow Statements and the related notes The financial reporting framewaork
that has been applied in therr preparation 1s applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards {'IFRSs’) as adopted by
the European Union and, as regards the Parent Company Financial Statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

As explaned more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement on page 45, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
Financial Statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair iew Our responsibility 15 to aucit and express an opimion on
the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards
reguire us to comply with the Audittng Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, Including the ocpinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s Shareholder n accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Comparies Act 2008 and for no other purpose We do not, in gvng these opirmions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the Financial Statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the Financial Statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group's and Company’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors, and the
overall presentation of the Financial Statements

Opinion on Financial Statements
In our opinion

+ the Financial Staternents give a true and farr view of the state of the Group's and of the Parent Company’s affars as at 31
December 2010 and of the Group’s profit and Group's and Parent Company’s cash flows for the year then ended,
* the Group Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,

* the Parent Company Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Comparues Act 2008, and

* the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards
the Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
in our opinion the Information given In the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the Financial Statements are prepared i1s
consistent with the Financial Statements

ND AR




N

Annual Report & Accounts 2010 \“

This page is left intentionally blank.

NRAM




Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December

Annual Report & Accounts 2010

{Restated)!
2010 2006
Note m m
Interest recerable and similar ncome 4 1,741 8 2,248 2
Interest expense and simitar charges 4 (481 9} (990 1)
Net interest income 1,259 9 1,2591
Fee and commission income 191 268
Fee and commission expense {159) (84 6)
Net fee and commission income / {expense) 32 (57 8)
Net realised gains less losses on Investment securties 17 02 (6 8)
Unrealised far value movements on financial instruments “"77 853
Hedge Ineftectivensss {65 0} (1017
Prowision for customer redress 31 {160 0) (785)
Other operating income 71 125
Non interest income 203.2 (137 0)
Net operating income 1,463 1 1,1221
Analysed as
Excepticnal State aid clawback 4 - 2000
Recurnng net operating ncome 1,463 1 9221
1,463.1 11,1221
Administrative expenses
- Ongoing 5 {165.2) (265 B)
- Other net expenses 5 {138.4) -
- Exceptional operating expenses 5 - (399)
- The Northern Rock Foundation donation 5 - (30 0
Imparment on loans and advances 1o customers 13 {812 8} (1044 8)
Net imparment on investment securities 17 {15 0} 07
Defined banefit pension scheme curtalment 30 81 -
Gain on repurchase of capital instruments 7 597 -
Profit / (loss) before taxation 400.5 {257 5)
Taxation 8 81 (191)
Profit / (loss) for the financial year 408 6 {276 6)
Attnbutable te
Appropriations 36 - 325
Profit / {loss) attributable to equity shareholder 409 6 {309 1)
Total 409 6 {276 6)

The notes on pages 62 to 115 form an integral part of these Financial Statements

* See note 3
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 Decembar 2010

Gross of tax Tax Not of tax
Note £m £m &m
Profit for the financial year 400 5 91 4096
Available-for-sale instruments a8
- Net gains recognised in avalable-for-sale reserve during the year 1346 - 1346
- Amounts transferred from availatde-for-sale reserve and recognised 1n
profit during the year 79 - 79
Cash flow hedges 38
- Net gains recognised in cash flow hedge reserve dunng the year 435 - 435
- Amounts transferred from cash flow hedge reserve and recognised in
profit durning the year 15.8 - 58
Actuana gains and losses on retirement benefit obligations 30 {6.2} - 62)
Total other comprehensve Income 1956 - 1956
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 5961 91 6052
Attnbutable to
Approprnations 38 - - -
Comprenensive Incoma attrbutable to equity shareholder 596 1 91 605.2
Total 596 1 91 6052
For the year ended 31 December 2009
Gross of tax Tax Net of tax
Note £m £m £m
Loss for the financial year {257 5) {19 1) (276 B)
Available-for-sale instruments 38
- Net gains recogrised in avallable-for-sale reserve dunng the year 2329 02 2331
- Amounts transfarsed from available-for-sale reserve and recognised n
loss during the year {16 9} - (16 9)
Cash fiow hedges 38
- Net gains recognised in cash flow hedge reserve dunng the year 164 8 - 164 8
- Amounts transferred from ¢ash flow hedge reserve and recognised in
loss during the year {209 - {20 9)
Actuanal gains and losses on retrement benefit cbligations 30 459) 111 {34 8)
Total other comprehensive INcome 3140 113 3253
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 565 {7 8) 487
Attributable to
Appropriations 36 326 - 325
Comprehensve ncome attnbutable to equity shareholder 240 {7 8) 162
Tatal 565 {78 487

The cumulative other comprehensive income in respect of assets classified as held for resale 1s £16 2m at 31 December 2009

The notes on pages 62 to 115 form an integral part of these Financial Statements
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

At 31 December

Contnung Held for

Total cperations resale Total
2010 2009 2009 2008
Nota &m £m £m m

Assets
Cash and balances at ceniral banks 10 6,980.8 7.5005 99 7.5104
Loans and advances to banks 11 1,944.0 2,8368 BBS 6 3,702 4
Loans and advances to customers 12 47.758.5 53,924 9 10,343 3 64,268 2
Faur value adjustments on portiolio hedging 12 539.6 8713 180 3 1,1318
Investment secunties and unsecured INvestment loans 17 2,39% 4 2,663 8 4240 3,087 8
Dervative financial nstruments 42 65425 74738 - 74738
Prepayments and accrued income 154 135 137 272
QOther assets 161 245 44 289
Current tax assets 66 68 - 68
Retremant benefit asset 30 8.3 ~ - -
Investment property 20 266 - - -
Property, plant and equipment 21 119 1219 azz7 154 6
Intangble assets 22 - 307 231 538
Total assets 66,276 7 75,568 5 11,8770 87,4455

iterns held for resale are those transferred to Northern Rock ple on 1 January 2010

The notes on pages 62 to 116 form an ntegral part of these Financial Statements

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors

Richard Pym, Richard Banks
Chairman . Cheef Executve Officer

Northern Rock (Asset Management) plc Is registered n England and Wales under Company Number 3273685

authorsed

r 1ssue on 30 March 2011 and signed on its behalf by

NRAM
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)

At 31 December

Contnuing Held for
Total operations resale Total
2010 2009 2008 2009
Note £m £m £m im
Liabiites
Loans from HM Treasury 24 21,7134 143155 - 14,3155
Deposits by banks 25 4,900 8 57870 2353 6,0223
Customer accounts 28 - - 20,607 6 20,607 6
Dervatve financial instruments 42 826 4 16738 - 1,6738
Debt secunties in issue
- Secuntised notes 14 24,0151 28,8019 - 28,8019
- Covered bonds 15 9,783 8 9,866 1 - 9866 1
- Other 16 2,084 4 33057 - 33067
Other liabilities 28 1177 687 192 B79
Accruals and deferred ncome 29 2319 2527 186 4 4411
Deferrod tax habilities 23 33 71 - 71
Hetirement benefit obligations ao - 49 - 49
Provisions 31 2152 878 - B7 8B
Subordinated lizbilities 3z 9306 8350 - 9350
Tier one notes 34 1367 2337 - 2337
Total habilties 64,958 3 65,3399 21,050 5 86,3904
Equity
Issued capital and reserves atinbutable to equity holder of the parent
- Share capial 37 1240 1240 - 1240
- Share premium reserve 38 403.2 403 2 - 4032
- Capital redemption reserve 38 73 73 - 73
-« Available-for-sale reserve 38 (227 6) (370 1) {16 2) (386 3}
- Cash flow hedge reserve 38 {66 5) (125 8) - 1258
- Retamned earnings 8689 {425 5) 171 (408 &)
Share capital and reserves 1,109.3 {386 ) 09 {3860}
Non shareholders’ funds
Reserve capital instruments 35 156.2 2993 - 2993
Subordinated notes 33 529 1,141 8 - 1,1418
Total non shareholders’ funds 2091 1,441 1 - 14411
Total equity 13184 10542 09 10551
Total equity and habilities 66,276 7 68,394 1 210514 87,4455

The notes on pages 82 to 115 form an inlegral part of these Financial Statements




Annual Report & Accounts 2010

Company Balance Sheet

At 31 December

Continng Held for

Total operations resale Totat
2010 2009 2009 2009
Naote £m fim £m fm

Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 10 6,980 8 75005 99 7.5104
Loans and advances to banks 11 1,795 4 2,6880 864 6 3,5526
Loans and advances to customers 12 47,7997 54,0056 10,343 3 64,3480
Far value adpstrments on portiolo hedging 12 5396 9713 160 3 1,1316
investment securities and unsecured investment loans 17 23418 26104 4240 3,034 4
Dervative financial instruments 42 3,022 1 3,4597 - 34597
Prepayments and acorued ncome 164 142 137 279
Other assets 161 581 41 822
Investments n Group undertakings 19 350 350 500 850
Current tax assets T4 80 - 80
Retrement benefit asset 30 83 - - -
Investment property 20 245 - - -
Property, plant and equipment 23 439 1307 327 163 4
Intangble assets 22 - - 231 231
Total assets 62,6310 71,4815 11,8267 83,407 2

iterns held for resale are those transferred to Northern Rock plc on 1 January 2010
The notes on pages 62 to 115 form an integral part of these Financial Statements
The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authonsed for issue on 30 March 2011 and signed on iis behalf by

Richard Pym Richard Banks
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Northern Rock (Asset Management) plc 1s registered in England and Wales under Company Number 3273685
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Company Balance Sheet (continued)

At 31 December

Gontineng Held for
Total operations resale Total
201¢ 2009 2009 2009
Naote £m £m £m m
Liabikties
Loans from HM Treasury 24 21,7134 143165 - 14,3155
Deposits by banks 25 3,2135 35028 12494 47522
Customer accounts 28 - - 19,6716 19,6716
Other deposits 27 21,9403 28,8194 - 26,8194
Dervative financial nstruments 42 826 4 16688 - 16688
Debt secunties in issue
- Covered bonds 15 9,783 8 8,866 1 - 9,866 1
- Other 18 2,084 4 33057 - 33057
Other liabities 28 3970 2867 17 4 3041
Accruals and deferred income 29 2238 24490 1779 4219
Deferred tax habilties 23 - 38 - 38
Retirement benefit obligations 30 - 49 - 49
Provisions 3 2152 878 - 878
Subordinated Liabiities a2 9306 9350 - 9350
Tier one notes 34 1357 2337 - 2337
Total habiles 61,4641 61,2742 21,1463 823905
Equity
Issued capral and reserves attnbutabls to equity holder of the parent
- Share capral 37 1240 1240 - 1240
- Bhare premum reserve 38 403.2 403 2 - 4032
- Capital redlemption reserve 38 73 73 - 73
- Avallable-for-sale reserve 38 (2277 (369 4) (16 2) {385 6)
- Cash flow hedge reserve 38 {66 5) {125 8) - (125 8)
- Retaned earnings 717.5 (447 B} - (447 &)
Share capital and reserves 957.8 (408 2} (16 2) (424 4)
Non shareholders’ funds
Reserve capital instruments 35 156.2 299 3 - 2953
Subordinated notes 33 52.9 1,1418 - 11418
Total non shareholders' funds 209.1 14411 - 1,441 1
Total equity 1,166.9 1,032 9 (16 2) 1,016 7
Total equity and liabilities 62,6310 62,307 1 21,100 1 83,407 2

The notes on pages 62 to 115 form an integral past of these Financial Statsments
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2010

Share Capital Total Non
Share prenuum  redemption Other Retained share capital shareholders’ Total
capital raserva resgrve resorvos earnings & rosorvos funds equity
Note £m £m fm m £m £m £m fm
At 31 December 2009 1240 403 2 73 (512.1) (408 4) (386 0) 14411 1,065 1
Transterred to0 Northern Rock ple 45 - - - 16.2 {17 1) 09 - (09}
At 1 January 2010 1240 4032 73 {495 9) {425.5) (386 9) 1,441 1 1,054 2
Other comprehensive income
- Net movemant in avalable-for-sale
rasarva 38 - - - 1425 - 142.5 - 1425
- Net movemnent in cash flow hedge
reserve 38 - - - 593 - 58.3 - 593
- Actuanal gains and losses 30 - - - - 62 6.2) - (62)
- Tax effects of the above - - - - - - - -
Total other comprehensive Income - - - 2018 6.2) 19586 - 1956
Profit for the financial year - - - - 409 6 409 6 - 409 6
Gaun on repurchase of caprtal instruments 7 - - - - 891.0 8910 {1,232.0) {341 0)
At 31 December 2010 1240 403 2 73 (294 1) 868.9 1,108 3 2091 1,3184
For the year ended 31 December 2009
Share Capital Total Non
Share premium redemption Other Retaned share capital shareholders Total
capital rasenve raserve resaves samings & raserves funds equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2009 1240 403 2 73 8722 B4 5) {402 2) 1,0358 6336
Other comprehensive ncome
- Net movement in available-for-sale
reserve 38 - - - 2160 - 2160 - 2160
- Net movermnent in cash flow hedge
reserve 38 - - - 1439 - 1439 - 1436
- Actuanal gans and losses 30 - - - - @459 (45 9) - 459)
- Tax effects of the above - - - 02z 111 113 - 13
Total other comprehensive Income - - - 3601 (24 8) 3253 - 3253
l.oss for the financial year - - - - (30g 1) (309 1) 325 (276 6)
Appropnations 36 - - - - - - 32 5) (32 5)
Reclassification of subordinated
debt instrument 33 - - - - - - 405 3 4053
At 31 December 2009 1240 403 2 73 512 1) (408 4) (386 0) 1,441 1 10551

The notes on pages 62 to 115 form an integral part of these Financial Statements
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2010

Share Capital Total Non
Share premuum  redemption Other Retained share capital shareholders’ Tota)
capital resarve reserve reserves aarmings & reserves tunds equity
Not £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 31 December 2009 124 0 4032 73 (511 4) (447 5} {424 4) 1,4411 1,0167
Transferred {0 Northern Rock ple 48 - - - 16.2 - 162 - 162
At 1 January 2010 1240 403.2 73 {495 2) (447.5) {408.2) 1,4411 1.032.9
Other comprehensive income }
- Net movement in avallable-for-sale }
reserve 38 - - - 1417 - 1417 - 1417 1
- Net movement In cash flow hadge ‘
reserve 38 - - - 593 - 593 - 59.3 i
- Actuanal gains and losses 30 - - - - (6.2 62 - {6.2) 1
- Tax effacts of the above - - - - - - - - ‘
Total other comprehensive income - - - 2010 {6.2) 1948 - 194 8
Profit for the financal year - - - - 2802 280.2 - 280.2
Gain on repurchase of capital instrurnents 7 - - - - 8910 8910 {1,232 0) {341 0)
At 31 December 2010 124 0 403.2 73 (294.2) 7175 9578 2091 1,166 9
For the year ended 31 December 2009
Share Capital Total Non
Share prarmum redemption {Other Retained  share capta! sharsholders Total
capital reserve reserve reserves |amings & reserves funds equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2009 1240 403 2 73 (869 5) (750 4100 10358 6258
Other comprehensive income
- Net movement in avallable-for-sale .
reserve 38 - - - 2133 - 2133 - 2133 i
- Net movement in cash flow hedge
reserve 38 - - - 143 9 - 1439 - 1439
- Actuanial gains and losses 30 - - - - (459} 45 9} - (45 9)
- Tax effects of the above - - - 08 111 120 - 120 |
Total other comprehensive ncome - - - 3581 {34 8) 3233 - 3233
Loss for the financial year 9 - - - - {337 7) (337 7} 325 (305 2)
Appropnations a5 - - - - - - (32 5) (323}
Reclassification of subordinated debt
instrument 33 - - - - - - 405 3 4053
At 31 December 2009 1240 403 2 73 {511 4) {447 5) (424 4) 14411 1,0167

The notes on pages 62 to 115 form an integral part of these Financial Statements
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Consolidated Cash Filow Statement

For the year ended 31 December

210 2009
Nota m m
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit / loss) after taxation for the financial year 409 6 (276 6)
Adjustments to reconcile profit / floss) to cash flow used In operating actmvties
Taxation B {91} 191
Depreciation and amortisation 5 54.8 243
Imparment of goodwill 5 307 -
Gain on repurchase of capital nstruments 7 59 7) -
Exceptional impairment credits on property, plant and eguipment 21 - 53)
Impairment on loans and advances to customers 13 8128 10448
Net impairment on investment securities 17 150 on
Provision for customer redress 31 1600 785
Income taxes refunded 52 394
Farr value adjustments on financial nstruments 645.5 3359
QOther non-cash movernents 404 0 3208
Cash flows from operating activites before changes i1n operating assets and habities 24688 15803
Net (increase) / decrease in operating assets
- Deposits held for regulatory or monetary control purposes 638 (12 4)
- Loans and advances to banks and customers 15,7236 68539
- Dervative financial nstruments recevable 9313 584086
- Other assets 128 40
- Prepayments and accruad income 118 878
Net increase / (decrease} in operating labilities
- Debt secunties n issue {6,208 0} {15,784 7)
- Loans from HM Treasury 7,397 9 {1,287 9)
- Depasits from other banks {1,121 5} 1,357 2
- Amounts due to customers {20,556 9) {48 5)
- Dervatve financial nstrumenis payable (847 4) (547 0}
- Provisions 31 (318) (16 6)
- Other habities 238 103
- Accruals and deferrad income {209 2) (608 3)
Net cash used In operating activities (2,335 0) (2,381 3)
Cash flows from investing activities
Net disposal of propenty, plant and equipment and intangble assets 544 359
Purchase of investment securities (83 5) (42 6)
Proceeds from sale and redemption of investment secunties 527 2 7641
Net cash from investing activibies 498 1 757 4
Cash flows used in financing activities
Appropriations ncluding tax of £nil, 2009 €nil) 38 - 325
Aepurchase of capital nstruments 7 (392 3) -
Net cash used in financing activities (392 3) (325
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,229 2) (1,656 4)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 11,1540 12,8104
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 89248 11,1540
Reprasented by cash and assets with onginal matunty of three months or less within
- Cash and balances at central banks 69808 74456
- Loans and advances to banks 1,944 0 3,7024
- Investment secunties and unsecured nvestment loans - 50
Total 89248 11,1540
Mandatory balances maintained with the Bank of England - 638

The Group maintaned mandatory balances with the Bark of England as shown above These balances were not included 11 ¢ash and cash equvalents for the
purposes of the Cash Flow Statement as they were not accessible by the Group The notes on pages 62 1o 115 form an integral part of these Financial Statements

NRAM




Annual Report & Accounts 2010

Company Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December

2010 2009
Note £m £m
Cash flows from operating activiies
Profit / oss) after taxaton for the financial year 280.2 (337 7)
Adjustments to reconcile profit / {loss) to cash flow used in operating actwities
Taxation 91) 146
Depreciation and amortisation 638 266
Gan on repurchase of capital nstruments 7 597 -
Exceptional impairment credits on property, plant and equipment 21 - 53
Impairment on loans and advances to customers 8127 1,044 8
Net impairment on investment securties 17 150 07
Prowision for customer redress 31 1600 785
Income taxes refunded 67 395
Far value adjustments on financial nstruments 645 5 3354
Cther nen-cash movements 420 1 3161
Cash flows from operating activitios before changes in operating assets and habtlities 2,335 2 1,6158
Net (increase) / decrease In operating assets
- Deposits held for regulatory or monetary control purposes 638 (12 4)
- Loans and advances to banks and customers 15,763 2 56,9452
- Derivative financial Instruments recevable 437.6 2,5821
- Other assets 46.1 99 4
- Propayments and accrued income 115 o
Net increase / {decrease) in operating llabilities
- Debt securities in issue {1,421.2) {6,573 2)
- Loans from HM Treasury 7,397.9 (1,267 9)
- Deposits from other banks {1,538.7) 65 0)
- Amounts due to customers {19,620.9) 845
- Other deposits {4,879.1) (4,707 3)
- Dervative finangial instruments payable (842.4) (540 9)
- Provisions 31 (31.8) (16 8)
- Other habilities 92.9 837
- Accruals and deferred ncome {198.1) (4750)
Net cash used in operating activities (2,384.0) (2,256 6)
Cash flows from investing activities
Net disposal of nvestments i Group undertakings 50.0 -
Net disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 54.3 135
Purchasa of nvestment securues (33.5) 02
Proceads from sale and redemption of investment securties 482.5 6129
Net cash from investing activities 553.3 6262
Cash flows used in financing actvities
Appropnations (ncludng tax of £nil, 2009 £mi) 36 - {32 5)
Repurchase of capital nstruments 7 (392 3) -
Net cash used in financing activities (392 3) {32 5)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,223 O} (1,662 9)
Cash and cash equvalents at beginning of year 10,999.2 12,6621
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8,776 2 10,999 2
Represented by cash and assets with onginal maturity of three months or less within
- Cash and balances at cenirgl banks 69808 7 4466
- Leans and advances to banks 1,795 4 3,6526
- Investmant secunties and unsecured investment lcans - -
Total 87762 10,999 2
Mandatory balances maintained with the Bank of England - 638

The Company maintaned mandatory balances with the Bank of England as shown above These balances were not included in cash and cash equivalents for the
purposes of the Cash Flow Statementas they werenot accessible by the Company The notes on pages 62 to 115 form anntegral part of these Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Principal accounting policies

Northern Rock (Asset Management) plc ('the Company } s a public Imited company which was incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies
Act 1985 The Company 1s domiciled in the United Kingdom and registered in England and Wales

These Financial Statements ware authonsed for ssue by the Drrectors on 30 March 2011 and will be put to the shareholder for approval at the Company's
Annual General Meeting to be hetd on 28 Apnl 2011

{a) Statement of comphance
Both the Company Financial Statements and the Group (compnsing the Company and its subsidiaries) Financial Statements have been prepared and
approved by the Directors in accordance with [nternational Financial Reporting Standards {'IFRS") as adopted by the EU In publishing the Company
Financial Statemerts here together with the Group Financial Statements, the Company has taken advantage of the exemption in 408 of the Companies Act
2006 not to present its Indmvidual Income Statement and related notes

For these 2010 Financial Statements, including the 2009 comparative financial information where applicable, the Group and Company have adopted for
the first ime the following statements

+ The January 2008 amendment to IFRS 3 'Business Combinations’ This amendment does not change the treatment of business combinations which
occurred in pnor years and has had no impact on the Group's or Company's Income Statements, Balance Sheets or Cash Flow Statements

* The May 2008 amendment to IAS 27 'Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements' This amendment has had no impact on the Groups or
Company's Income Statements, Balance Sheets or Cash Flow Statements

* The July 2008 amendment to IAS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement’ relating to eligible hedged tems This amendment has had
no impact on the Group's or Company’s Income Statements, Balance Sheets or Cash Flow Statements

For these 2010 Financial Statements the Group and Company have not adopted the following statement

* IFRS ¢ ‘Financial Instruments’, 1ssued in October 2010 as part of the LASB's project to replace IAS 38 This 1s expected to be mandatory for 2013
Financial Statements, with 2012 comparative information, but has not yet been adopted for use in the EU

All other new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not relevant to and have no impact upon the Financial Statements of the Group
and Company

{b) Basis of preparation
The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and using the histoncal cost convention except

i the following assets and habiliies are carned at therr far value
= dervative inancial nstruments
* financial Instruments categonsed under IAS 39 as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’
« dinancial nstruments categorised under IAS 39 as ‘avatlable-for-sale’
* nvestment property

() where tfar value hedge accounting has been applied, the camying value of hedged tems has been adjusted to take account of the far value of the nisk
which has been hedged

Following the completion of a legal and capital restructunng on 1 January 2010, the Company no longer operates as a deposit taking nstitution under
the supervision of the Financial Services Authority {'FSA') it 1s now regulated by the FSA as a mortgage administration company and the Directors beleve
It has appropnate and adequate levels of capital to suppoert these actvites On 1 October 2010, all shares in the Company were acquirec via a share for
share axchange by UK Asset Besolution Limited who became the Company's uliimate parent undertaking from that date

The validity of the going concern basis of accounting 1s dependent upon the funding position of the Company At the date of approval of these Financial
Statements the Group and Company are relant upon the financing faclities and also upen the guarantee arrangements provided to the Gompany by
HM Treasury Withdrawa! of the financing facilities, which are repayable on demand, or the guarantee arrangements would have a significant Impact on
the Group's and Company's operations and thew ability to contnue as a going concern, n which case adjustments may have to be made to reduce the
carying value of assets to recoverable amounts and to provide for further habilities that might anse At the signing date, HM Treasury has confirmed
its intentions to continue to provide funding untl at least 31 December 2012 It has also commitied to convert up to £1 8bn of its loan to meet regulatory
caprtal requirernents f so required

The Directors consider that the accounting policies set out In this note are the most appropriate to the Group's and the Company s crcumstances, have
been consistently applied to both the Group and the Company i dealing with items which are considered matenial, and are supported by reasonable and
prudent estimates and judgements The accounting policies have been apphed to all penods presented in these Financial Statements and are consistent
with the accounting policies used by the Group In prepanng its Intenm Fnancial Information for the six menths ended 30 June 2010

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with EU endorsed International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS"), International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Commttee {IFRIC ) interpretations and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under
IFRS A summary of accounting polcies 1s set out below The preparation of the Financial Statements in conformity with these accountng policies and
generally accepted accounting principles requires the use of estmates and assumptions that affect the reported values of assets and liabihes at the date
of the Financial Staterments and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the reporting penod  Although these estmates are based on
management's best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results utimately may ciffer from those estmates (see note 2}
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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1. Principal accounting policies -+ w1

Basts of consolidation

The Group's Financia! Statements incerporate on a fully consoldated line-by-lne basis the Financial Statements of the Company and those entities (including
special purpose structures) which are controlled by the Company {its subsidiaries) Control 1s achieved where the Comparny has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an Investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its actmties Where subsidianes have been acquired dunng a penod ther
results are conscldated into the Group's Financial Statements from the date contrel 1s transferred to the Group Where subsidianes have been disposed
of, therr results are consolidated 10 the date of disposal On the acquisiion of a business, far values are attnbuted to the assets, kablites and contingent
habilities acquired Any difference between the consideration given and the far valus of the net assets acquired 18 capitalsed as goodwill, which s subject
10 imparment testing in accordance with IAS 36

The Group has secunused vanous residential mortgage loans, generally by sale or transfer to Spacial Purpose Vehiclgs ('SPVs') which in turn issue secunties
to investors The SPVs are consolidated Iine-by-lne into the Group Financial Statements if they are, i substance, controlled by the Company The Group
presently receves substantially alf of the post-tax profits of all the SPVs and hence retains substantially all of the nsks and rewards of the securtised loans,
and consequently all of the SPVs are fully consolidated

Interest tncome and expense
For all nterest-beanng financial nstruments except dervatives and any assets or labiliies held at far value through profit and loss, interest income and
expense are recognised in the Income Statement on an Effective Interest Rate (‘EIR'} basis

The EIR method calculates the amortised cost of 2 financial asset or financial lability and spreads the resulting interest income or Interest expense on a
level yield basis over the expected Iife of the instrument The EIR 15 the rate which at the inception of the instrument exactly discounts expected future
cash flows over the expected Iife of the nstrument to the nitial carrying amount ' When caleulating the EIR, future cash flows are estimated, considenng
all contractual terms of the instrument {for example prepayment options} but potential future credit losses are not considered The calculation includes all
directty atrbutable incremental fees and costs, premia on acquisition of mortgage pertfolios and all other premia and discounts as well as interest

When a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets (s written down as a result of an impairment loss, Interest Income continues to be recognised by
applying the applicable EIR to the reduced balance

Fee and commusston tncome
‘Where Value Added Tax (VAT) 1s charged income is stated net of VAT

Fee and commission income arises on various activities and where they are not included within the EIR calculation, they are generally recognised on an
accruals basis when the service has been provided, or as cash 1s recerved, and are accounted for within ‘fee and commissicn income’ in the Income
Statement

Bonuses payable
Accrual is made for all bonuses which have been earned by the Balance Sheet date, even though these may not subsequently be payable due to clawback
or the employee leaving the Group

Financial instruments
In accordance with 1AS 39 ‘Financial Instruments  Recognition and Measurement’ sach financial asset 1s classified at imikal recognition into one of four
categores

{} Financial assets at far value through profit or loss

{} Held-to-maturty nvestments,

(i} Loans and recenvables, or

{v Avalable-for-sale,

and each financial lability into one of two categornies

M Financal labikties at farr value through profit or loss or
{4 Other habilities

The Far Value Option within IAS 39 permits designation of a financial asset or financial liability as being at faur value through profit or loss under wider
¢rreumstances than had previously been allowed

Where the Directors believe it appropnate to do so, financial assets may be rectassified out of the *far value through profit or loss’ and ‘avalable-for-sale’
categories to ‘loans and recevables’ or ‘held to matunty' in accordance with the revisions to 1AS 39 1ssued by the IASB in October 2008 and effective
from July 2008 Reclassification is permitted only under certain restricted circumstances, including that there 1s no active market for the asset The asset Is
reclassified using its farr value at the point of transfer, and from that point on 1s accounted for on an EIR basis The difference between the carrying value at
the point of reclassification and the expected value at the redempuon date 15 recognised in profit or loss on an EIR basis over the expected ifa of tha asset
and the asset’s carrying value accretes up to the redemption amount over that penod The balance in the available-for-sale reserve which related 1o the asset
115 armorbised to profit or loss over the expected life of the asset, in the Income Statement the amortsation of the difference between value at reclassificabon
and at redemption and the amortisation out of the avalable-for-sale reserve exactly offset each other

Measurement of financial Instruments 1s either at amortised cost {categones (i), (1} and (viy above} or at farr value {categores (i), (v) and (v) above), depending
on the category of financial instrument

Amortised cost 18 the amount measured at mitial recogniion, adusted for subsaquent pnncipal and other payments, less cumulatve amortisation
calculated using the EIR method, the amortisation 15 taken to interest income or expense depending on whether the instrument 1s an asset or a lability
Far assets, the amortised cost balance 1s reduced where approprate by an allowance for amounts which are considered 1o be impaired or uncollectible
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1. Principal accounting policies «.ontiun-

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a llability settled, between knowledgeable, willng parties N an arm's length transaction
Where an active market exists, far values are based on quoted market prices For instruments which do not have active markets, far value 1s calculated
using present value models, which take indmdual cash flows together with assumptions based on market conditions and credit spreads, and are consistent
with accepted economic methodologes for pricing financial nstruments  Interest income and nterest expense on nstruments carned at far value arg
ncluded in the Income Statement In ‘Interest recevable and similar ncome’ o 'interest expense and similar charges  Movements in farr value are recognised
in the ‘unrealised far value mavements on financial Nstruments’ lne In the Income Statament, except In the case of instruments categonsed as ‘availlable-
for-sale’, v which case the far value movements ars taken to the ‘avalable-for-sale resaerve On sale or darecogrition of an avalable-for-sale instrument the
accumulated far value movements are transferred from the ‘avadable-for-sale’ reserve to the 'net realised gains less losses on Investment secunties line of
the Income Statement

Certain certificates of deposit, fixed and floating rate notes and mortgage-backed sacunties are classified as available-for-sale

Offsetting financial nstruments
Financial assets and habilties are offset and the net amount reported n the Balance Sheet only where there Is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and thers 1s an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the lability smuttaneously

Denvative financial instruments and hedge accounting
All of the Group s dertvative contracts are used for commercial management of exposures to interest rate nisks foraign currency nsks and nsks ansing frorn
forecast transactions

For most of the Group’s dervative contracts hedge accountng is appled However, In some cases natural offsets apply and as explaned in note 1g the
Company has used the provisions of the Far Value Option amendment tc IAS 39 to prevent technical accounting mismatches in respect of cenain swap
arrangernents

All dervatives are carmed at far value In the Balance Sheet, as assets when the far value 1s positive and as liablites when the farr valus is negatrve The far
value of a dervative Inclucdies any interest accrued on that dervatve Changes in the far value of denvatives are charged to the Income Statement however
by applying the hedge accounting rules set out in IAS 39 the changes in farr value of dervatives which are used 10 hedge particular ngks can either be
mitigated in tha Income Statement (fair value hedging} or deferred to reservas (cash flow hedging) The Group has adoptad cash flow hedge accounting and
far value hedge accounting

) Cash flow hedges
A cash flow hedge 1s used t¢ hedge exposures to variability in cash flows, such as varniable rate financial assets and labilites The effective portion of
changes in the derwative far value 1s recognised In equity, and recycled to the Income Statement In the periods when the hedged item will affect profit
and loss The farr value gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 1s recognised immaediately in the Income Statement

() Farvalie hedges
A far value hedgs s used to hedge exposures to vanability n the far value of financial assets and labilties, such as fixed rate loans Changes in far value
of dervatives that are designated and qualify as far valus hedges are recorded in the Incoms Statement togsther with any changes in the farr valug
of the hedged asset or liability that are attnbutable to the hedged nisk If the hedge no longer meets the critena for hedge accounting, the adjustment
to the carmyng amount of the hedged tem 1s amortised to the Income Statement over the penod to maturty The Group uses hedge accounting en
one-to-one relationship and portfolio hedging bases, as described below

Embedded dervatives

Certan firancial nstruments have embedded within them dervative features Where the economic charactenstics and nisks of the embedded denvatve
are not clogely related to those of the host instrument and where changes i value in the host instrument are not reflected In the Income Statement, the
embedded dervative 15 separated from the host and camed in the Batance Sheet at far value with gains and losses on the embedded dervative beng
recognised in the Income Statement In accordance with IFRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of Embedded Denvatives' the decision as to whether to separate and value
an embedded dervative 18 reassessed when and only when the terms of the host contract are significantly modified

Cne-to-ons far value hedges

Where one or more specific dervative financial nstruments hedge the changes n farr value of a specific asset or kability, provided that the hedge arrangemant
masts the requirernents of IAS 39 to be classed as ‘highly effactive’, the associated hedged item s carned on the Balance Sheet at far value n respect of the
hedged nsk Far value gains and losses are recognised in the Income Statement, mitigating the far value movements on the associated dervative financial
nstrurments Hence profit volatiity 1s miigated The Income Statement immed.ately recognises any hedge accounting ineffectiveness’, that is any difference
between the far value movement on the hedging nstrument and that on the hedged item

Portfolio far value hedges

Where a group of denvativa financial Instruments hedges the interest rate exposure of a group of assets or labilities, and tha hedge meets the requirements
of IAS 39 {o be classed as ‘highly sffectve’, the hedge relationship 1s accounted for in the same way as a one-to-one far value hedge except that the Balance
Sheet canying value of the hedged items 1s not adjusted, nstead the difference between the carrying value and the far value in respect of the hedged nsk
1s carmed on the Balance Sheet in ‘far value adustments on portfolio hedging’

Termination of hedges

Where a hedge relationship 1s terminated or deemed not to be highly effective (other than as a result of the hedged item being derecognised from the Balance
Sheet due 10 sale or other reason), the adjustment relating to the terminated hedge relationship s amortised to the Income Statement over the perod 1o the
date of matunty of the hedged item The dernvatve continues to be carried at far value

Hedge effectivenass

At the Inception of each hedging arrangement, the relationship between the hedging instruments and the hedged tems 1s documented, as well as the nsk
management objective and strategy Alsc documented is an assessment, both at hedge inception and ¢n an ongoing basis, of whether the dernivatives that
are used in the hedging arrangement are highly effective in offsetting changes in farr values or cash flows of the hedged tems

Under IAS 3¢ a hedge 1s deemed to be highly effective if effectiveness 1s forecast to fall, and is actually found to fall wathin the B0% to 125% range Any
hedge refationship faling outside these limits is deemed to be ineffective and hedge accounting 1s discontinued
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Sale and repurchase agreements

Secunities sold subject to repurchase agreements (repos’} are reclassified in the Financial Statements as assets pledged when the transferee has the nght by
contract or custom to sell or repledge the collateral, the counterparty kability is included in loans and advances to banks and deposits from banks Securiies
purchased under agreements to resell {'reverse repos } are recorded as loans and advances tc banks The difference between sale and repurchase price I1s
reated as nterest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest method Securities lent to counterparties are also retained in the
Financial Statements

Impairment losses
Financial assets whuch are not held at fair value through profit or loss are reviewed for iIndications of possible iImparment throughout the year and at each
published Balance Sheet date

An impaument loss Is recognised i, and only if there 15 objective ewidence that a loss avent (or events) has occurred after initial recognition and befare the
Balance Shest date and has a reliably measurable impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or groups of financial assets Losses that
are expected to be incured as a result of events occumng after the Balance Sheet date are not recogrused

Financial assets held at amoertised cost
The Group first assesses whether objective ewidence of impairment exists Individually for financial assets that are indvidually significant, and indvidually or
collectively for financial assets that are not ndmdually significant

If thers 15 objective evdence that an mparment Ioss on loans and recewvables has been incurred, the amount of the logs 18 measured as the difference
between the assets carrying amount and the prasent value of the estmated future cash flows {excluding future credit losses that have not been ncurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate The camying amount of the asset 1s reduced through the use of an mparment allowance
and the amount of the loss 15 recogrised in the income Statement In future penods the unwind of the discount 1s recognised wathin interest income

When a loan 1s uncollectible, 1t 1s written off against the related provision for loan impairment Such loans are written off after alf the necessary procedures
have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of
the provision for loan iImpairment in the Income Staternent

If, n a subsequent penod, the amount of the imparment loss decreases and the decrease can be related ohjectvely to an event occurmng after the
mparment was recognised (such as an improvernent in the customer’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the
mparrment allowance The amount of the reversal i1s recognised in the Income Statement

Available-for-sale financial assets
Imparment 18 recogrused wher the debt secunty exhibits objective ewdence of mparrment or 1s uncollectble Such ewidence may include

* significant financial difficutty

* payment defaults,

+ renegeotiation of terms due to borrower difficutlty,
+  sustaned fall in credt rating or creditwaorthiness,
+ gsigrificant restructuning,

* disappearance of an actve market,

= significant and sustained fall in market price, or

+ observable data ndicating measurable decrease In the estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets, although the decrease cannot yet
be identified within indivgual assets in the group

Movernents in the far value which are a reflection of imparment of the long term value of the debt secunty are charged to ‘net impawrment on investment
secunties N the Income Staterment Investment impaiment losses recognised against debt securtes are reversed through ‘net imparment on invastment
secunties’ in the Income Statement if the improverment relates to an event occumnng after the inital mparment was recogrised

If there 1s a sustained Increase In the far value of a debt security where an iImparment loss has previously been recognised, but no improvement can be
attnbuted to a subsequent credit event, then the increase in value may be treated as a revaluaticn and recognised through the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income i the avatable-for-sale reserve

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Sales of mortgage portfolios are accounted for on the completion date All other purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for an the date of
commuitment to buy or sell (the ‘trace date’) A financial asset 1s derecogmised { e removed from the Balance Sheet) only when substantially all of the nsks
and rewards associated with that asset have been transterred to ancther party and control s lost In respect of the Company's secured funding structures,
the Company sells to another entity the nght 10 receive the cash fiows ansing on the loans which have been secunised However, the Company recenes
substantially all of the post-tax profit of that entity, and hence retains substantizlly all of the nsks and rewards of the secuntised loans Conssquently both
the debt securities in 1ssue and the loans and advances to customers remain on the Group Balance Sheet within the appropriate Balance Sheet headings

The Group derecogrises financial Labiities only when the contractual obligation 1s discharged cancelled or has expred

NRAM




Annual Report & Accounts 2010

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

1. Principal accounting policies «ohing -

{m} Debt and equity securtties in issue
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Issued securiies are classified as labiities where the contractual arrangements result in the Group having an obligation to delver ether cash or another
financial asset to the security holder, or to exchange financial mstruments under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group Issued securities
are classified as equty where they meet the definition of equity and conter a residual interest in the Group s assets on the holder of the secunties Issued
secuntes include ordinary and preference share capital Preference shares are classified as equity nstruments where daadiend payments are discretionary

On nital recognmion, debt 1ssued 1s measured at its far value net of drrectly attnbutable 1ssue and transaction costs Subsequent measurement 15 at
amortised cost using the EIR method to amortise atinbutable issue and transaction costs, premia and discounts over the Iife of the instrument  These costs
are charged along with ntarest on the debt te interest expense and similar charges’ Unamortised amounts are added to or deducted from the carrying
value of tha instrument

Equity instruments are intially recognised at net proceeds, after deducting transaction costs and any related income tax Appropriations to holders of equity
secunties are deducted from equity net of any related income tax, as they become imevocably due to the helders of the securities

Foreigh currencies
The presentational and functional currency of the Group and Company s pounds sterling

Transactions which are not denominated in pounds sterlng are translated into sterling at the spot rate of exchange on the date of the transaction Monetary
assats and labiities which are not denominated in pounds sterling are transiated into pounds sterkng at the closing rate of exchange at the Balance Sheet date

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the restatement and settlement of such transacuons ara recognused N the Income Statement Non-
monetary iterms measured at amertised cost and denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction Non-
monetary items measured at far value are translated at the exchange rate at the date of valuation Where these are held at fair value through profit and loss,
exchange differences are reported as part of the far value gan or loss

Intangible assets

) Goodwilt
Goodwillansing con the acquisiion of subsidiary companies, wiich 1s represented by the excess of far value of the purchase consideration over the far
value of the assets acquired, 1s capitaksed and shown as an asset in the Balance Sheet It 1s reviewed for mpairment annually at the lowest level for
which cash flows can be dentified Any mparment 1s recogrised rmmediately in the Income Statement and 1s not subsequently reversed

Goodwill ansing on acquisiions before the dats of transition to IFRS was retained at the previous UK GAAP amount, having been tested for impairment
at 31 December 2003 This goodwill has been imparred in the current year (see note 22)

il Computer software
Computer software licences are capitalised as intangible assets whers it 1s probable that expected future benefits will flow to the Group Thereafter they
are carmed at cost less accumulated amortisaton Amortisation is provided on a straight ine basis over thair useful economic lives, which may be up to
five years Those which have a lfe expectancy at the oulset of less than twe years are not capitaised but instead ther costs are charged to the Income
Statement as they anse

Costs that are drectly associated with developing dentfiable computer software systens are capitabsed if the cntena in IAS 38 'Intangble Assets’
are sabsfisd, the main critena are that the successful completion of the development project 1s reasonably centamn and that the software 1s expected to
generats futura economic bensefits Each item of caprtalised developed computer software 1s camed at cost less accumulated amortisation amortisation
1s provided on a straight Ine basis over its estmated useful ife Costs that do not qualify for capitalisation or are associated with mantaining software
are charged to the Income Statement as they anse

All tems of intangible assets are revewed annually for impairment If any item 1s considered to be impared, it 1s written down to the mpaired value In
addition, the estmated useful lves are also reassessed annually, and 1f they are judged to have changed then the rate of amortisation charged n penods
after the date of the change reflects the revised estmates

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balancas which are highly liquid and have an original matunty of three
months or less

Taxation

i Curent tax
The charge for taxation 15 based on the resuk for the year and takes into account taxation deferred or accelerated ansing from temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of certain items for taxation and for accounting purposes Tax relating to items which are taken directly to reserves is
also taken directly to reserves

(i} Deferred tax
Deferred tax i calculated using the Lability method on temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and labilites and ther carrying
amounts in the Financial Statements Deferred tax 1s determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substanbally enacted by the
Balance Sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset s realised or the deferred tax labiity is settled The principal
temporary differences anse from depreciation of property, plant and equipment, revaluation of certain financial assets and Labilities Including derwvative
contracts, provisions for pensions and other post-retirement benefits, roled over gans on dispesal of property, plant and equipment unremitted
earnings from overseas subsidianes, tax losses carmed forward and change in accounting basis on adeption of IFRS

Deferred tax assets are recognised when t is probable that future taxable profit will be available aganst which these temporary differences can be utksed

Deferred tax s prowded on temporary differences ansing from nvestments in subsidianes and associates, except where the tming of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and It 1s probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax related to far value re-measurement of avalable-for-sale investments and cash flow hedges, which are recognised I other comprehensive
Income, 1$ also recognised i other comprehensive INcome and subsequently In the consobidated Income Statement together with the deferred gain or loss
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1. Principal accounting policies it -

Pensions and employee benefits

On 1 January 2010 all employees previously employed by the Company transferred to Northern Bock ple As a consequence of this, members of the pension
scheme operated by the Company became members of the Northern Rock {2010) Pension Scheme and the existing scheme, which had both defined
benefit and defined contribution sections, was closed

A full actuanal valuation of the Group s defined benefit section of the scheme ts undertaken every three years with intenm reviews n the intervening years
these valuations are updated to 31 December each year by qualfied independent actuaries For the purpose of these annual updates, scheme assets are
included at ther far value and scheme Yabibties are measured on an actuanal basis using the projected unit credit method Liabilities i the defined benefit
section of the scheme are discounted using rates equivalent to the market yields at the Balance Sneet date on high gquality corporate bonds that are
danominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that bave terms to maturity approxmating to the terms of the related pension liabiliy
The resulting net surplus or deficit 1s included in the Group's Balance Sheet Surpluses are cnly recognised to the extant that they are recoverabile through
reduced contributions in the future or through refunds from the scheme

The Group's Income Statement includes the current service cost of providing pension benefits, the expected rsturm on the scheme's assets net of
administration costs, and the interest cost on the scheme's labllites Following closure of the scheme, the current service cost for 2010 and subisequent
years 1s nl Cumulative actuanal gains and losses ansing from experience adjustments and changes in actuanal assumptions are recognised immediately
through the Staternent of Comprehensive: Income

Past sennce costs were recognised immediataly in the Income Statement, unless the changes to the scheme were conditional on the employees rermaning
in service for a specified pencd of tme {the vesting perod) In this case, the past service costs were amortised on a straight line basis over the average
vesting penod

For defined contribution plans the Company has had no further payment oblgations once the contnbutions had been pad The contnbutions were
recogrised as an employee benefit expense when they were due Prepaid contributions were recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund cr a
reduction in the future payments was available

Property, plant and equipment

Property plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and prowision for mpairment as appropriate Additions and subsequent
expenditure are included in the asset's camying value or are recognised as a separate asset only when they improve the expected future economic benefits
to be derved from the asset All other expenditure s regarded as repars and maintenance and is charged to the income Statement in the penod n which
1t 18 incurred

Depreciation 1s provided so as to write off the cost less the estimated residual value of each significant component of each item of property, plant and
aquipment over that component's estimated useiul kfe, as follows

+  Freehold land 1s not depreciated

+  Freehold buildings 1% - 2% pa on a straight ne basis

* Leasehold properties over the shorter of the lease period and 50 years on a straight line basis
= Motor vehicles 25% pa on a straight ine basis

+ Computer equipment 20% - 33% pa on a straight lne basis

+  Plant 3% pa on a straight bne basis

* Furndture 10% pa on a straight ne basis

*  Fixtures and fitings 20% pa on a straght ne basis

All items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually for impairment  If any item 1s considered to be imparred, it 1s wiitten down to the higher of
value in use and estimated net proceeds of sale In addition, the estimated usefu! lives and estmated residual values are also reassessed annually and if they
are Judged to have changed then the rate of depreciation charged in perods after the date of the change reflects the revised estimates

Whare a property ceases to be cccupied by the Company and 1t 1s not intended to re-occupy or sell the property in the ordinary course of business, it 1s
reclassified as an nvestment property and valued at far value Any shortfall betwaen the carrying amount of the property and its far value at the date of
reclassification 1s charged to the Income Statement unless there 1s a revaluation surplus in respect of that property against which 1o allocate any shortfall
Any surplus between the carnang amount of the property and its far value at the date of reclassification s credied drrect 10 equity except 10 the extent that
the increase reverses a previous mpairment loss for that property, in which case the increase 1s recognised in the Income Statement

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated untl they have been completed and transfesred to the appropriate category of property plant and
equipment The costs of financing assets i1 the course of construction are not included 1 the costs of the assels Assets in the courss of construction are
included within the mpairment test referred to above where appropnate

A previously recognised iImpatrment charge may be raversed m full or in part where a change in creumstances leads to a change in the estimates used
to determine its recoverable amount The carrying value of the asset will only be increased to the carmying value at which it would have been held had the
imparmant not been recogrised
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1. Principal accounting policies .o

Investment property

Investment properties represent properties held as investments to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, or both Investment properties are ncluded n
the Balance Sheet at fair value with changes recognised in the Income Statement in the period of change Far values are determined by ndependent
professional valuers who apply recogrused valuation techniques

Leases

Rentals under operating leases are chasged to 'administrative expenses’ on a straight line basis to the date of change In the rental amount Typically
operating leases have rent review dates in ther erms, several years apart, and between those dates the annual rent remains constant Any initial rent-free
penod and any lease premia paid are amornised over the full lease period on a straight ine basis

It a lease agreement in which the Group 15 a lessee transfers the nsks and rewards of the asset the lease Is recorded as a finance lease and the related
asset 1s capitalised At inception the asset 15 recordec at the lower of the present value of the minimum lease payments or fair value and 1s depreciated over
the estmated useful ife The lease ablgations are recorded as borrowings If the lease does not transfer the nsks and rewards of the asset the lease I1s
recorded as an operating lease

Where an operating lease 1s terminated before the lease penod has expired any payment requued to be made to the lessor in compensation 1s charged 10
the Income Statement in the penod in which termination I1s rmade

Whan the Group enters into a sale and leaseback arrangement the leaseback 1s accounted for as a finance lease or an operating lease, according to its
terms If it s a inance lease and the sale and leaseback gves nise to a profit the profit s not recogrised immaediately but 1s deferred and amortised over the
lease term If it 15 an operating lease, any profit or loss 1s accounted for in the penod of disposal

Where the Group leases assets out undsr an operating lease agreement the asset i1s included in the Balance Shest based on the nature of the asset Lease
income 1s recegnised over the term of the lease on a straight ine basis

Prowisions and contingent liabilties
Provisions are recogrised when, and onty when, the following criteria are all met

= there s a present obligation {legal or constructve) as a result of a past event,

» it1s probable that an cutflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and

* arglable estimate can ba mads of the amount of the obligation

Prowisicns are discounted to net present value using rates which reflect the nsks specific 1o the prowision, if the effect of discounting 1s matenal
Provisions ars reviewed at each Balance Shest date and are released if they no longer meet the above criteria

Contingent habilties are possible obligations whose existance depends upon the outcome of uncertain future events or are present oblgations where the
outflows of resources are uncertain or cannect be rellably measured Contingent labilimes are not recogrused in the Balance Sheet but are disclosed unless
they are remote

Disposal groups held for sale

A group of assats to be disposed of by sale, and labilities directly associated with those assets that will be transfarred in the transaction, are classified as
a disposal group Disposal groups are classified as held for sale If the carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use Disposal groups are measured at the lower of therr carmying amount and far value less costs to sell

Investments in Group undertakings

In the Financial Statements of the Company, investrments in Group undertakings are carried at cost less any wnparment Investments are reviewed at each
published Balance Sheet date for any iIndications of mparmant If there 1s indication of mpairment of any investrment, the carrying value of the nvestment s
reviewed, and any imparment identified 1s charged immediately to the Income Statement
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2. Critical judgements and accounting estimates

In preparing the Financial Statements management are sequired 1o make a series of judgements and estimates Judgements involve an interpretation of
requrvements to decide how to allocate, value or recognise an item Estimates anise from using assumptions which result in a range of possible outcomes
The most important jJudgements and estmates used in preparng these Fnancial Statements are described below

Judgements

Financial instrument designation
Upon inial designation, judgement is required in ascertaining within which category, as prescnbed in IAS 39, a financial instument should be designated
The {AS 39 categores are detaled in the accounting policies set out n nete 1 and the designation 1s based on the critenia specified n IAS 39

Quahfying hedge relationships

In designating a financial instrument as part of a qualtying hedge relationship the Group and Company have determined that the hedge 1s expected to be
highly effective over the life of the hedging instrument In accounting for a dervative as a cash flow hedge the Group and Company have deternuned that
the hedged cash flow exposure relatas to highly probable future cash flows

Impairment of investment secuntios
Fer investment securities carned at far value, judgement is applied in determining whether any fall n value represents impairment Factors considered in
determining whether an asset 1s mpared or imparment has reversed, are detaled in note 1

Securntisations

In applying the Group s policies on securtised financial assets the Group and Company have considered both the degres of transfer of nsks and rewards

on assets transferred to ancther entity and the degree of control exercised by the Group over the other entity

- Where the Group, In substance, contrals the entity to which financial assets have been transferred, the entity 1s included in these consoldated Financial
Statements and the transfarred assets continue to be recognised on the Group's Balance Sheet

- Where the Company or another Group entity has transferrad financial assets 1o anather entity, but has not transferred substantially all of the nisks and
rewards relating to the transferred assets, the assets continue to be recognised on the transferring entity’s Balance Sheet

Fair value calculations

Far value s defined as the value at which assets, kabilties or postions could be closed out or sold in an arm’'s length transaction with a wiling and
knowledgeable counterparty For the majorty of nstruments carried at far value, this is determined by reference to quoted market prices Where these
are not avallable farr value 15 based upen cash flow models, which use, wheraver possible, independently sourced market parameters such as interest
rate yield curves, currency rates and option volatlites Other factors are also considered, such as counterparty credit quality anc hquidity Management
must use judgement to armve a1 esimates where not all necessary data can be externally sourced or where factors specific to the Group s and Companys
holdings need to be considered The accuracy of the fair value calculations may therefore be affected by unexpected market movements or variations in
actual outcomes when compared to estimates and assumptions used for modellng purposes For example, if management were to use a tightening in the
credit spread of 10 basis ponts, the far values of labiities (ncluding denvatives) weutd increase from the reported far valugs by £39 Om (2009 £62 5m)

Deferred tax assets

Sgnificant management judgemant 1s required to determing the extent to which tax losses can be offset aganst future taxable profits and thersfore
recognised in the form of deferred tax assets This judgemaent 1s based upon examination and assessment of the business plan, and the expectation that
there may be sufficient profitability in future years to utiise tax losses in the Company and certain subsidiares A deferred tax asset 1s recogrised accordingly,
but only to the extent to which future taxable prefits are foreseen In excess of this value any taxable losses are not recognised as deferred tax assets
Management continue to monitar closely the opportunities for the recoverability of unrecognised deferred tax assets and will reassess the appropriateness
of recogrubion at subsequent Balance Sheet dates Details of recognised and unrecogrised deferred tax assets are contaned n note 23

Estimates

Effactive interest rate

IAS 39 requires interest earned from mortgage lending to be measured under the effective interest method The effective Interest rate 1s the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financia! instrurment or, when appropriate, a shorter period, 10 the net
camying amount of the financial asset Management must therefore use judgement to estirmate the expected ife of each Instrument and hence the expected
cash flows relating to 1 On a periodic basis throughout the financial reporting penod, models are reviewed 10 re-assess expected life by portfolio of products
based upon actual redemptions by product and anticipated market conditons At 31 December 2010, if the expected average life of a loan were increasad
or reduced by cne month, the Balance Sheet amount of loans and advances to customers would be iIncreased or reduced by £15 3m (2009 £26 5m) and
£15 3m (2009 £23 3m) respectively

Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Group and Company reviews its loan imparment on a monthly basis and assesses individual impasrment losses by reference to an indvidua! review
of the underlying asset and utiises actual loss experience {0 provide both probabiities of defaults and property forced sale discounts across a portfolio
of products  Collective impairment losses on loans and advances are calculated using a statstical model The key assumptions used in this model are
the probability of any balance entering into default as a result of an event that had occurred prior to the Balance Sheet date the probability of this default
resulting in possession ar wnte off, and the subsequent loss ncurred These key assumptions are based on observed data trends and are updated on
a regular basis within agreed methodology to ensure the mparment aliowance 1s entrely representatve of the current portfollo The accuracy of the
impairment calculation would therefore be affected by unantcipated changes ta the economic situation and assumptions which differ from actual outcomes
To the extent that loss given default was to vary by +/- 10%, the impawment allowance would be an estimated £148 6m hugher (2009 £105 3m) or £162 8m
lower (2005 £123 1m) respectively

Post-retirement benefit obligations

Tha net surplus or deficit In respect of post-retrement benefit obligations 1s carred on the Group's and Company’s Balance Sheets The value of these
obligations is calculated by the Group's actuanies using the assumptions set out in note 30 Note 30 also discloses the impact on the benefit obligations of
changes in certain key assumptions

Provisions
Provisions are camed in respect of certan known or forecast future expenditure, &s cescribed n note 31

NRAM
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

The Income Statement has been subject to a number of reclassifications during 2010 to be consistent with the treatment of tems by UK Asset Resolution
Limited ('UKAR} which have also been reflected in the 2009 comparatives As these reclassifications have not resulted from a change in accounting
methodology, there has been no impact upon the level of loss previously reported In 2009 Consequently, the reclassifications are merely a change in the
presentation of the Income Statement The reclassifications apphed to 2009 are as follows

Reported in Reclassification Total Restated
2009 A 8 C 2 adustments 2009 values
£€m £m £m £m £m £m
Interest recevable and similar iIncome 2,0329 - - 2163 - 2163 2,2492
Interest expense and similar charges {875 5) - - (114 6) - {114 6) {990 1)
Fee and commission Income 268 - - - - - 268
Fee and commission experise (84 2) 96 - - - 96 84 6)
Losses an available-for-sale securities {12 3) - - - 123 123 -
Net realised losses on investment secunties - - - - 68 {6 8) {6 8)
Unrealised far value movements on financial instruments - - 953 - - 953 953
Hedge ineffectiveness - - - o1 - (101 7) (101 7)
Net trading mcome 953 - 853 - - 85 3) -
Prowvision for customer redress {78 5) - - - - - (78 5)
Other operating income 125 - - - - - 125
Administrative expenses — ongong (256 0) {9 6) - - - e 8) (265 6)
Exceptional cperating expenses {39 9) - - - - - 39 9)
The Northern Rock Foundation donatcn 300Q) - - - - - (30 0)
Imparment on loans and advances to customers (1,044 8) - - - - - {1,044 8)
Imparment credits on investment securities reclassidied as
loans and recenvables and unsecured investment loans 62 - - - 62 62 -
Net imparment on investrnent secunties - - - - 07 o7 07
Loss before taxation (257 5) - - - - - (257 5)
Taxation {19 1} - - - - - (19 1)
Loss for the financial year (276 6) - - - - - (276 6)

Reclassifications

A In 20089 anumber of third party adminisirator costs were included within fee and commission expense These costs are beng reclassified to administrative

expenses

B In 2009 far value movements of dervative financial nstruments n economic but not accounting hedge relationships were classified as net tradng
income This 1s being reclassified as unrealised fair value movements on flnancial instruments

C  In 2008 far value mevemnents of denvative financial nstruments In accounting hedge relationships, along with corresponding movements in the farr value
of the underlying items being hedged, were included within net Interest ncome  These amounts are being reclassified as hedge neffectiveness

D In 2009 losses on AFS secunties included both realised and impaiment losses on these nstruments This ts being reclassified to separate captions
for reabised and impaiment losses For consistency, impairment amounts in respect of investment securities reclassified as loans and recevables and
unsecured investment loans have also been reclassified as mparment in respact of investment securties

None of the reclassifications affect the Balance Sheet therefore the comparative Information presented in Group and Company Balance Sheets remans
unchanged, and there 1s no requirement to report an additional year s data
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4. Net intlerest income

2010 2009
£m £m
Interest recewvable and simuar income
On secured advances 1,537 5 1,9147
On othar lending 1310 1701
On investment securities and deposits 733 164 4
Total interest recervable and stmilar income 1,741 8 2,249 2
Interest expense and similar charges
On retall customer accounts - 3234
Cn other deposits including loans from HM Treasury 1911 100 4
Other 2908 5663
Total interest expense and similar charges 4819 9901
Net interest income 1,259.9 1,258 1
Average Interest-earning assets {'iEA) 63,425 1 B3 3956
Financed by
- Interest-bearing funding 61,313.6 81,5412
- Interest-free funding” 2,115 1,854 4
Average rates % %
- Gross yield on [EA 275 270
- Cost of interest-beanng funding {079) (122)
Interest spread 196 148
Contabution of interest-free funding 003 003
Net interest margin 199 151
Annual average Bank Base Rate 050 0865
Annual average 1-month LIBOR 056 083

* Interest-free funding 1s share capital and reserves
Total interest recenvabla and similar ncoma includes interest accrued on individually impaired assets of £81 9m (2609 £81 5m)

As a result of State aid approval in October 2008, net Interest income ncludes a net interest clawback of £223 9m n 2009 Offsetting thus are addiional fees
payable of £23 Sm resulting In a total Income clawback of £200 Om

5. Administrative expenses

Dunng 2010 the majority of the admiristrative costs incurred by the Group arose from the Service Level Agreement (SLA) arrangements that were in
existence during the year Full details of these SLAs are given in note 40

Adrmirestrative expenses and employee numbers for 2010 are as follows

2010
&m

Ongoing administrative expenses
Costs recharged by Northern Rock ple under SLA 1155
Costs recharged by Bradford & Bingley plc under SLA 10.3
Other costs incurred directly by the Group 394
Total 1652

On 1 January 2010 all employees previcusly employed by the Company ransferred to Northern Rock plc under the terms of the Northern Rock Transfer
Order 2008, S12009/32258 On 1 November 2010 approximately 1,250 of these smployees transferred to Bradford & Bingley pic Throughout 2010 services
were provided to the Company by employees of Northern Rock ple and Bradford & Bingley plc, consequently the Company had no employees durng the
whole of the year The costs of these employees are included in the SLA recharges above The recharge for staff costs from Bradford & Bingley plc for the
penod 1 Novemnber 2010 to 31 December 2010 amounted to £6 Om

Other costs incurred directly by the Group includes £3 Om in respect of depreciation and amortisation and £19m in respect of the defined benefit
pension scheme

NRAM
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5. Administrative expenses - e

At 31 December 2010 933 full tme, 321 part trme and 70 temporary employees of Bradford & Bingley pic provide services to the Company for which a
recharge 1s being made There are no additional employees in the Group

2010
£m

Other net administrative expenses
Imparment of goodwill (see note 22) 307
Accelerated depreciation (see note 21) 518
Transformation costs 472
Restructure costs 87
Total 1384

Transformation and restructure costs relate to the separation of the Company from Northern Rock plc and its integration into UKAR

Cther net administrative expenses in 2010 includes certan tlems that were classed as excepional tems n 2009 See page 15 0 the Financial Review for
further information

Admirustratve expenses and employee numbars for 2009 are as follows

2009
£m
Gngoing administrative expenses
Wages and salanes 1176
Social secunty costs 16
Gther pension costs 129
Total staff costs 1421
Depreciation and amortisation 243
Cther administrative expenses 992
Total 2656
Cther administrative expenses include
Hire of equipment 37
Property rentals 43
Remuneration of auditors (see below) 17

Exceptional operating expenses

Exceptional cperating expenses are those incurred as a result of the restructuring and strategic review of the Group's activities prior to and following Northern
Rock {Asset Management) plc being brought into public ownership

2008
£m
Redundancy and other staff costs 01
Professional fees incurred by the Company 12
Professional fees recharged by the Tripartita Authorties 27
Company valuation 16
Other operating expenses 02
58
Imparment credits on property, plant and equipment 53
Provision for onercus contracts 01
Strategic project development 393
Total 399

NRAM
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5. Administrative cxpenses - ot

Company valuation costs of £1 6m relate to work done by BDC Stoy Hayward to value the Company's shares before the Company was taken into public
ownership

The mpaiment credits of £5 3m have ansen primarity dus to reversals of Impairments mada n 2007 1n respect of properties in the coursa of construction
(see note 21}

The strategic project development costs represent the costs associated with the legal and capital restructuring and pasitioning of the Company to increase
lending in a prudent and sustanable way

The Northern Rock Foundation donation

The charge in 2009 compnses £15 Om paid in the year along with a further £15 Om accrued reflecting the commitment for 2010 that was made following
the Company entering into public ownership Given the Company s focus on repaying the loan from HM Treasury such substantial donations 1o a single
chanty will no longer be made

The monthly average number of persons {including Directors) employed by the Group and Company was as follows

2009
Fult time 3,655
Part trme 991

Directors’ emoluments
The aggregate Directors” emoluments and the emoluments of the highest paid Director amounted to £1 3m and £0 6m respectively, (2009 £2 4m and
£1 5m respectvely} These smoluments includa recharges for Gary Hoffman and Andrew Tate for ther penod of serice up to 20 September 2010

Services provided by the Group’s auditors and network firms
Dunng the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors, as detated below

2010 2009
£m £m
Ongoing admrnistrative expenses
Fees payable to Company auditors for the audt of parent Company and consolidated accounts 06 10
Fees payable to Company auditors and its associates for other services
- The audtt of Company's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 02 04
- Dther services pursuant to legislation (including review of half year Intenm Statement) 01 o1
- Reporting accountants’ services {see note - 01
- Taxation services - 01
Total 09 17
Exceptional operating expenses
Fees payable to Company auditers and its associates for other services
- Other assurance services (see note 1) - 02
Total - 02

() Reporung accountants’ services comprise objective review of the venfication of historical financial information and the performance of certain agreed
upon assurance procedures for secuntisation transactions

(1) Other assurance services comprise project assurance work in respect of the legal and capital restructure

Amounts shown in the above analysis are Incluswve of VAT The totals shown for 2010 represent amounts biled in respect of work carnied out for the Group
Due to the structure of the SLA the amount actually charged through the Group's Income Statement will be different
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6. Unrealised tair value movements on finincl mstruments and hedge incflectiveness
2010 2009
£m fm
Net losses on ¢hanges in far value of assets designated as held at fair value through proitt or loss - non
Far value movernents of future cash flows, excluding accruals, on dervatives not in hedge accounting relationships 561.7 (2 391 6}
Translation {losses) / gains on undertying nstruments {144.0) 2,497 6
Total unrealised fair value movements on inancial instruments 417.7 853

Far value hedge ineffectiveness

- on hedging instruments 313.1 {693 2)
- on the hedged items attributable to the hedged nsk {356 3) 6323
(43 2} (60 9)
Cash flow hedge ineffectiveness {21 8) 40 8)
Total hedge ineffectiveness (65.0) (101 7)
Total unrealised fair value movements on iinancial instruments and hedge ineffectiveness 352.7 6 4)

7. Gain on repurchasc of capital instruments

Reserve
Subordinated capital Ter Total
notes instruments one notes 2010
£m £m £m £m
Carrying amount of capital instruments repurchased 1,0839 1431 1110 1,343 0
Amount paid to repurchase capttal nstruments {302 4) {359) {51 1} (389 4)
Fees {2.4) {03} {0 2) (2.9)
Gain on repurchase of capital instruments 784 1 106.9 597 950 7

The gain on repurchase of subordinated notes and reserve capital nstruments amounting to £891 Om 15 reported n reserves as these nstruments are
accounted for as equity The gain on repurchase of tier one notes amounting to £89 ¥m s reported in the Income Statement Although tier one notes are
elgible for Inclusion in regulatory capital these instruments are accountad for as liabiites There wera na repurchases in 2008

2010 2009
£m £m
The tax credit / {charge} for the year compnses
Current tax
- on profit / (loss} for the year - ©1)
- adustments in respect of prior years 53 286
Total current tax 53 285
Deferred tax (see note 23)
- ongination and reversal of tamporary differencas - {130
- adjustments in respect of prior years 38 -
- write off of deferred tax asset previously recognised - {34 6)
Total deferred tax 38 {47 6)
Total taxation credit / (charge} per the Income Statement 91 19 1)
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8. Taxation wntjuesd

The following tax amounts have also been {charged) / credited dwectly to equity

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2008
£m £m £m m
Cutrent tax
- Relating to actuanal gains - {10 - {10
Deferred tax
- Relating to actuanal iosses - 121 - 121
- Relating to avalable-for-sale rvestments - a2 - 0%
Net credit to equity - 113 - 120

The tax on the Group's profit / (loss) before tax dffers from the theoretical amount that would anse using the standard weighted average rate of UK
corporation tax of 28% (2009 28%) as follows

2010 2009
£m £m
Profit / (loss) before taxation 400.5 (257 5)
Tax calculated at rate of 28% (2009 28%) {(112.1) 721
Deferred tax assets transfered to Northern Rock plc (58) -
Utlisation of deferred tax assets 108.9 -
Deferred tax asset ansing not recognised - 957)
Deferred tax asset wnte off - (34 6)
Income not subject to tax 336 160
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (24.6) 55
Adustments In respect of prior years 9.1 286
Total taxation credit / {charge) per the Income Statement 91 (191}

The Emergency Budget on 22 June 2010 announced that the UK corporation tax rate would reduce from 28% to 27% on 1 Apnl 2011 and would further
reduce by 1% each year for the next 3 years, uttimately reducing to 24% on 1 Apnl 2014  The Budget on 23 March 2011 amended this to a reduction of
2% ta 26% on 1 April 2011, further reducing by 1% each year ultimately to 23% on 1 Aprl 2014 Further detalls of the expected impact of the changes are
provided 1n note 23

9. Prolil altnibutable to cquity sharcholder

Of the profit attnbutable to the equity shareholder, £280 2m (2009 loss of £337 7m) has been dealt with in the accounts of the Company As permitted by
section 408 of the Companes Act 2008, the Company s Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income have not been presented separately

10. Cash and halances ot central banks

Group and Company

2010 2008
At 31 Decernber £m £m
Cash in hand - 9g
Balances with Bank of England for kquidity purposes 33492 3,5902
Collateral balances with Bank of Englang 36316 38465
Included in cash and cash equivalents 6,980 8 7,446 6
Mandatory reserve deposits with central banks - 638
Total 6,980 8 75104

Mandatory reserve deposits with central banks are not avallable for use in day to day operations

At 31 December 2008 £8 8m was held for resale
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11. Louns and advances to banks

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2008

At31 December £m £m £m m
Fixed rate 1,147.2 16927 1,134 0 16793
Vanable rate 796.8 20097 6614 1,8733
Total 1,944 0 3,702 4 1,785 4 3,6526

At 31 December 2008 £865 Bm was held for resale in the Group and £864 6m in the Company

12. Loans and advances to customers

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

At 31 December £m £m £€m £m
Advances secured on residential property not subject 1o secuntisation 15,8937 27,3360 15,893 7 27,3360
Advances secured on residental property subject to secuntisation 23,886.5 27,254 4 23,886.5 27,254 4
39,780.2 54,580 4 39,780.2 54,590 4

Advances secured on residential buy-to-Iet property not subject to securtisation 4,652.1 54773 4,552 1 54773
Total advances secured on residential property 44,3323 B0 0677 44,3323 60,067 7
Commercial secured advances not subject to secuntisation 3124 2879 3124 287 9
Unsecured loans not subject to securitisation 3,113.8 38126 31138 3,8126
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings - - 412 807
Total 47,7585 64,268 2 47,7997 64 3489
Fixed rate 14,763 3 29,987 4 14,763 3 29,987 4
Variable rate 32,995.2 34,2808 33,036 4 34,3615
Total 47,758 5 64,268 2 47,799 7 64 3489

At 31 December 2009 £10,343 3m was held for resale in both Group and Company

Far value adustments on portiolic hedging amounting te £539 6m {2009 £1,131 6m) relate to far value adjustments to loans and acvances 10 customers
n refation to interest rate risk as a result of their Inclusion in a far value portfolio hedge relatonship At 31 Decembar 2009 £160 3m of this balance was heid

for resale in both Group and Company

Concentration nsk
All balances within foans and advances to customers are UK exposuras
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impainment

{a) Lecan impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers
On adviances On advances
secured on secured on Cn commercial

residenticd residential buy- secured On unsecured
property to-lot proporty advances loans Total
£m fm £m £m tm
At 1 January 2010 4958 100 3 125 5643 1,1729
Transferred to Northern Rock plc {0 4) - - {02) [08)
Impairment on loans and advances to customers 6090 36 18.9 1813 8128
Amounts written off during the year {192.9) (118 (1.4} {213 1) {419.2)
Discount unwind 88 06 - 100 194
At 31 December 2010 9203 927 300 5423 1,5853

On advances

On advances

secured on seccured on On commerciab
residential - resadential buy- secured On unsecured
Company property 10-1&l property advances
2010 £m
At 1 January 2010 4958 100 3 125 564 4 1,1730
At 31 December 2010 9203 927 300 542 4 1,5854

R LA
o il
parestwrty

yrn

e adeniiod by
Tor ket gttty
£

o g |
ALt

I PRI Y
yrn

B el
I,
Yin

At 1 January 2009 3354 429 78 4838 8697
Imparment on loans and advances to customers 4589 834 44 498 1 1,044 8
Amaunts written off dunng the year {303 3} (26 3) - 423 3) (752 9)
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At 1 January 2009 3354 429 78 4837 8698
At 31 December 2008 495 8 1003 i25 564 4 11730

)

Credit quality of loans and advances to customers

Residential data presented represents amounts in respect of advances secured on residential property anc advances secured on residential buy-to-let
property, including commereial buy-to-let loans Commercial data presented represents amounts in respect of other commaercial secured advances

Inrespect of loans and advances to customers, the Group and Company hold collateral n the form of mortgages over residential and commercial properties

The far value of this collateral was as follows

Group and Company

2010 2010 2009 2006

R G 1 Residenual Commercal

At 31 December £m £m £m im
Neither past due nor impaired 57,9177 4340 86,6809 1 3848
Past due but not impared 55790 6.8 46129 03
Impaired 1,349 4 63 1,627 5 85
Total 64,846 1 4471 92,7495 3936

NRAM
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13. Loan impairment c.o Lol

if the collateral amaount on each indwidual loan were capped at the amount of the balance outstanding, and any surplus of collateral values over balances
outstanding wgnored, the far value of collateral held would be as follows

Group and Company

2010 2010 2009 2009

Rasidential Commercial Residental Commercial

At 31 December £m £m £m £m
Nether past due nor impaired 38,083 7 313.2 52,526 4 2771
Past due but not impared 43458 4.5 38107 02
Impared 1,223 8 6.3 1.5151 85
Total 43,653 3 324.0 57,852 2 2858
The mpaired balances above include the following camrying 159 2 - 158 1 -

amount of assets N possession

The far value of the collateral 1s estimated by taking the most recent valuation of the property and adjusting for house pnce inflaticn or deflation up 1o the
Balance Sheet date

The indexed average loan to value {LTV) of residential and commercial loans and advances ta customers was as follows

Group and Company

2010 2010 2008 2008
Residential Commergial Residential Commercial
At 31 December % % % %
Neither past due nor impaired 679 735 833 734
Past due but not impaired 812 676 BY 2 667
impaired 1110 2952 117 4 207 1
Total book 699 766 654 763
Further information regarding the credit quality of loans and advances to customers
Group and Company
At 31 December 2010 Al 31 December 2009
Advances Advances
secured on Qther  Unsacured secured on Other Unsecured
rasidential socured personal residental sacured parsonal
property advances loans Total property advances loans Total
£m £m £m £m £m em £m £m
Neiher past due nor mpared 39,3199 319.2 29863 42,6254 548472 2826 38859 59,0187
Past due but not impaired
= Up to 3 months 2,408 4 04 1232 2,8320 2,043 4 02 1836 2,227 2
- 310 6 months 1,276 7 02 79 1.2848 1,189 3 - 70 1,i663
- Over 6 months 8431 40 153 B62.4 B20 0 - 1190 8310
Imparred 1,497 2 186 5234 2,0392 17939 i7Te 389 4 22009
45,3453 342 4 3,656 1 49,3438 60,6638 300 4 44769 65,4411
Imparment allowances (1,013 0) (30 0} 5423) (1,5853) {5686 1) {12 9) {564 3) 11729
Loans and advances to customers net
of mparrment allowances 44,332 3 3124 31138 47,7585 GO0677 287 9 39126 642682
Imparrment allowances
- Indnadual 1108 137 - 124.5 704 91 - 795
- Collectve 923.2 163 546 3 1,485 8 5351 34 574 3 1,1128
- Discount {210} - {40) (25 0} 94) - (10Q) (19 4)
Total impairment allowances 1,013 0 300 5423 1,5853 596 1 125 564 3 1,1729

Arrears and possessions are monitored at portfolio level for the Group as a whole, and also split by type of product

NRAM
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13. Loan impairment .. '

Group and Company

At 31 December 2010 At 31 Decamber 2009
Residential and unsecured arrears and possessions - total Rosidential Unsecured Residential Unsecured
Asrears over 3 months
Number of cases Number 23,435 26,274 22,564 21,454
Proportion of total % 607 743 428 458
Asset value £m 3,284 4 397.9 3,1350 364 4
Proportion of book % 741 1278 522 431
Total value of payments cverdue £m 146 1 425 1286 365
Possessions
Number of cases Number 1,984 2,081
Proportion of total % 051 039
Asset value £m 2541 2546
Proportion of book % 0.57 042
Total value of payments overdue £m 166 173
Total arvears over 3 months and possessions
Number of cases Number 25,419 24,625
Proportion of total % 6.58 4 67
Asset value £m 3,5385 33896
Proportion of book % 798 564
Total value of payments overdue £m 1627 1459
Proportion of book % 0.37 024
Residential loan impairment balance
As % of residential balances % 223 0s8
As % of residential arrears and possessions % 2863 17 59

Group and Company

At 31 December 2010 At 31 Decemiber 2009
Analysis of residential and unsecured accounts over 3 months in arrears by product Residential Unsecurod RBesdential Unsacured
Buy-to-let
Number of cases Number 1,450 1,162
Proportion of tatal % 4.56 296
Asset value £m 2447 1820
Proportion of book % 538 351
Together
Number of cases Number 11,262 15,239 11,260 11,030
Proportion of total % 740 961 893 608
Asset value £m 1,2816 2722 1,266 8 2205
Proportion of book % T99 12.85 728 937
Other
Number of cases Number 10,723 11,035 10,142 10,424
Proportion of total % 530 573 312 383
Asset value £m 1,758 1 1257 16762 1438
Proportion of book % 740 12.64 451 923

NRAM
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14. Securitisation

Tha Group's results include the results and assets and labilibes of secuntisation Special Purpose Vehicles { SPVs ) none of which qualfy for derecognition
under IAS 39, on a line by Ine basis Secuntised advances are subject to non-recourse finance arrangements These loans have been purchased at par
from Northern Rock (Asset Management} ple, and have been funded through the ssue of mortgage-backed bonds by the SPVs The balances of assets
subject to securitisation and notes In tssue are as follows

Gross assets secuntised Notes In 1ssue

At 31 December 2010 £m fm

Granite Finance Funding Luimited 3,749 6 3,746 0

Granite Finange Funding 2 Limited 17,540 4 19,826 7
21,2900 23,572.7

Retained interest in Granite Finance Trustses Limited 3,963.5

Less cash deposits held with Northern Rock (Asset Management) pic {1,238 6)

Total 24,0149 23,572.7

Tho retansd interest N Granite Finance Trustees Limited reprasents Northern Rock (Asset Management) plc's share of the assets held by Granite Finance
Trusteas Limited

Gross assets securiised and notes in Issue as presented above reconcile to amounts included in the consolicdated Balance Sheeat within loans and
advances 1o customers and debt secunties in 1ssue as follows

Gross assets secuntised Notes In issue

At 31 Decomber 2010 £m £m
Total as above 24,014.9 23,5727
Less cash deposits with third parties included within loans and advances ta banks {128.4)
Less accrued interest on loan notes included within accruals and deferred ncome @
Add loan notes Issued by Whinstone Linited (see befow} 451.5
Total advances subject to securttisation (See note 12) 23,886.5
Total securthised notes as per consolidated Balance Sheet 24,0151

(ross assets secuntised Notes In ssue
At 31 December 2009 £m £m
Granite Finance Funding Limited 44618 45368
Granite Finance Funding 2 Limited 20988 9 23,8167

25,4507 28,3535

Retained nterest n Granite Finance Trustees Limited 3,709 2
Less cash deposits held with Northern Rock (Asset Management)} plc 777 1)
Total 27,382 8 28,3535

The ratained interest in Granite Finance Trustees Limited represents Northern Rock {Asset Management} plc s share of the assets hekd by Granite Finance
Trusteas Limited

Gross assets securitised and notes n 1ssue as presented above reconcile 1o amounts ncluded n the consobdated Balance Shest wathin loans and
advances to customers and debt securities in 1ssue as follows

Gross assets secuntised Notes in ssug
At 31 Docamber 2009 £m £m
Total as above 27,382 8 28,3535
Less cash deposits with thrd parties included within loans and advances to banks (128 4)
Less accrued nterest on loan notes included within accruals and deferred income @ 6)
Add loan notes 1ssued by Whinstone Limited (see below) 4580
Total advances subject to securitisation {see note 12} 27,254 4
Total secuntised notes as per consolidated Balance Shest 28,8019
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14, Scouritisation nfre v |

2010 2009
The movement N securilised notes in 1ssue was as ollows £m £m
At 1 January 28,801 9 37,986 9
Repayments (4,848 6) (6,835 3)
Exchange rate movements and farr value adjustments 618 (2,248 7
At 31 December 24,0151 288019

At 31 December 2010 the SPVs had cash deposits with Northern Rock {Asset Management) plc amounting to £2,831 4m including collateral deposits of
£1,687 3m (31 December 2009 £4,061 3m, including collateral deposits of £2,284 2m) This balance (excluding the collateral deposits) 1s resiricted in use
to the repayment of the debt securities issued by the SPVs and other legal cblgations

Many of the secuntised notes are 1ssued n foreign currency and are translated into steriing at exchange rates prevaling at 31 December All 1Issuance In
foreign cumency 1s subject to cross cumency swaps that prowvide the amounts of foresgn curency required to repay the notes in exchange for an amount of
sterling fixed at the outset of the secunhsation thereby protecting against foreign exchange nsk At 31 December 2010 there i1s a gross dervative asset in
respect of dernvatives economicatly hedging the foreign curmency notes of £3,520 4m (31 Decernber 2008 £4,014 1m) The value of the loans assigned to
the bankruptcy remote special purpose vehicles exceed the value of stering required under the foreign exchange swaps and therefore the debt securties
In i1ssue are more than coverad by loan assets allccated for this purpose

On 11 November 2008, as a result of a breach of a non asset tngger, the Granite Master Trust {'the Trust’} moved into pass through The main conseguence
of this 1s that the repayments of the loan notes no longer adhere to the controlled amortisation schedules detailed in the SPVs’ offering circulars Al principal
cash receved by the Trust is allocated between Granite Finance Funding Limited and Granite Finance Funding 2 Limited 1n accordance with therr respective
shares of the Trust's property as at 1 November 2008, this being the last determination date pror to the breach of the non asset tngger The principal cash
allocated to Granite Finance Funding Limited 15 then distnbuted pro-rata betweaen tha relevant ssuers n the Granite Finance Funding Limied group by
reference to the size of therr Inter-company loans outstanding with Granite Finance Funding Limited at each determination date The principal cash recenved
by the issuers is utlised in full on each quarterly payment date to make repayments in respect of the loan notes The pricrity of loan nete repayment 1s by
reference to thewr original credit ratings on iIssue, with AAA notes repaid first, then AA notes, then A nates and finally BBB notes The pnncipal cash allocated
to Gramte Finance Funding 2 Limited 1s used to repay the loan from Grarute Master Issuer plc, which in turn uses the cash to repay the loan notes in issue
by reference to therr onginal credit ratings on 1ssue N the same manner as detaled above The average time taken to repay the loan notes 1s now expected
to be significantly extended beyond the matunty profiles envisaged by the onginal controlled amortisation schedules It 1s therefore highly unlikely that the
loan notes will be called on therr step up and call dates

On 15 November 2005, Northern Rock (Asset Management) plc entered into a financial guarantee contract with Whinstons Capital Management Limited,
a special purpose vehicle, In respect of £423 Om of the first loss reserve funds held by the Granite securitisation entities repayable to Northern Rock {Asset
Management) pic only after repayment of all other llabilities Whinstone Caprtal Management Limited simubltaneously 1ssued credit Iinked notes to the value
of £423 Om i respect of which there were no repayments during 2010 (2009 £mi) The remarning crechit linked notes of £221 2m are ingluded within debt
secunties n 1ssue at year end exchange rates where 1ssued in currencies other than sterling As a consequence of the Granite Master Trust entening pass
through in 2008 the expected matunty of the notes issued by Whinstone Capital Management Limited has been significantly exiended It 1s highly Likely that
the notes will not be called on therr step up and call dates

On 20 June 2006, Northern Rock [Asset Management} plc entered into a financial guarantee contract with Whinstone Capital Management 2 Limited, a
special purpose vehicle, In respect of £168 5m of the first loss reserve funds held by the Granite secuntisation entiies repayable to Northern Rock {(Asset
Management) plc only after repayment of all other lablities Whinstone Capital Management 2 Limited simultansously issued credit inked notes 1o the value
of £168 5m which are ncluded within debt securities In 1ssue at year end exchange rates where 1ssued in currencies other than sterling As a consequence
of the Granite Master Trust entering pass through in 2008 the expected matunty of the notes issued by Whinstone Caprtal Management 2 Limited has been
sigruficantly extended It 1s hughly likely that the notes will not be called on thewr step up and call dates

NRAM
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15. Covered bonds

included within loans and advances to customers not subject to secuntisation are £11,497 6m (2009 £11,953 2m) of mortgage advances assigned to a
bankruptcy remote special purpose vehicle These loans provide security to issues of covered bonds made by the Company, which are Included within debt
secunues in Issue amounting o £9,783 8m (2009 £9 866 im) The Company retains substantially all the rnisks and rewards asscciated with these loans
and therefore these transactions do nat qualify for derecognition under IAS 39 Most of the covered bonds are 1ssued in foreign currency and are translated
Into sterling at exchange rates prevailing at 31 December All issuance in foraign currency 1s subject to cross currency swaps that provide the amounts of
foreign currency required to repay the notes in exchangs for an amount of stering fixed at the ssue of the bond, thereby protecting against foreign exchangs
nsk At 31 December 2010 there 1s a gross dernvative asset in respect of dervatives economically hedging the foreign currency notes of £2 694 7m (2009
£2,689 2m) The valus of the loans assigned to the bankruptcy remote special purpose vehicle axcesd the value of sterling required under the foreign
exchange swaps and therefore the debt secunties In 1ssue are more than covered by loan assets allocated for this purpose

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

The movement in covered bonds was as follows £m £rn Em £m
At 1 January 9,866.1 125503 9,866.1 12,550 3

Repayments - (1,780 6) - (1,780 6)

Exchange rate movements and farr value adjustments {82.3) (903 6) {82 3} {903 6)
At 31 December 9,783.8 9,866 1 9,783 8 9,866 1

16. Other debt securities in issue

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2008

At 31 Dacember £m Em £m £m
Bonds and medium term notes 2,084 4 3,3057 2,084.4 3,3057
Fixed rate 2817 3325 281.7 3325
Vanable rate 1,8027 29732 1,802.7 2,8732
Total 2,084 4 33057 2,084.4 3,3057
Group Company

2010 2009 2010 200G

The movement in other debt securities in 1ssue was as follows £m £m £m Em
At 1 January 3,305 7 71991 3,305 7 7,199 1
Issuances - B48 4 - 848 4

Repayments {1,285.8) (4,355 2) (1,285.8) {4,355 2)

Exchange rate movements and far value adjustments 64.5 (386 &) 645 {386 B6)
At 31 December 2,084 4 3,3057 2,084 4 3,3057

17. Investment securities and unsecured investment loans

Group Company

2010 2008 2010 2008

At 31 December £m m £m m
Avalable-for-sale secunties 1243 1685 637 1151
Investment secunties held as loans and recevables 1,9227 25610 19227 25610
Unsecured investment loans 3494 3583 3494 3583
Total 2,396 4 30878 23418 3,034 4

-
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17. Investment securities and unsecured investment loans . iy |

Net realised gains less losses and impairment on investment secunties for the year comprises Group

2010 2008

£m Em

Net realised gains less losses on disposal of avalable-for-sale securties 0.2 {6 8)

Imparrment losses cn avalable-for-sale secunties 78 55
Imparment Josses) / reversals on investment secunties reclassified as loans and recevables and

unsecured investment lcans {7.2) 62

Tota!l net impawrment on Investment securiies {15.0) o7

Total (14 8) 61)

Gains of £0 2m (2009 losses of £6 8m) previcusly recogrised in reserves have been transferred to the Income Staternent on the disposal of avallable-for-

sale secunties

(a} Available-for-sale securiies

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
A131 Decamber £m Em £m £m
At far value
Listed 366 856 234 789
Unlisted 877 829 46 3 362
Total 1243 1885 697 1151
Fixed rate 70.8 1255 234 788
Varnabla rate 53.5 430 463 363
Total 1243 1885 697 1151
The movement in avalable-for-sale secunties was as follows
Group Company
2010 2008 2010 2009
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 1685 4225 1151 2619
Transfarrad to Northarn Rock plc {53 0} - {530} -
Additions 885 3110 335 2046
Disposals (sales and redemptions) {73 0} (549 8) {18 3} (339 6)
Exchange rate movements 05) (114 (0 5) 114
Nat losses on changes in far value (6.2) 38 71 {04)
At 31 December 1243 1685 697 1161
Al 31 December 2009 £53 Om in respect of avallable-for-sale secunties was held for resale in both the Group and Company
(b} Assets held at fair value through profit or loss
Group Company
2010 2008 2010 2009
At 31 Dacember &m £m €m £m
At far value - ~ - -
Group Company
201¢ 2008 2010 2009
The movernent in assets held at fair value through profit or loss was as follows £m £m £m £m
At 1 January - 15 - 15
Exchange rate movements - 08) - {08)
Net losses on changes in fair value ~ (o7 - (107

At 31 December -

Certan secunties which contain an embedded denvative are classified as held at farr value through profit or loss Faur value 15 based on quoted prices in an

acive market The Group has not reclassified ary financial assets between those heid at amortised cost and those held at far value dunng the year {2009 £ni)

NRAM
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{c)

17. Investment securities and unsccured investment loans ¢

tnvestment Securities held as loans and receivables

e

Group Company
2010 2008 2010 2009 |
At 31 December £m m £m £m |
Carrying value 19227 26610 19227 2,5610 |
Far value 1,8130 2,307 1 1,8130 2307 1 |
|
Listed 1,8917 25218 1,8917 2,5218 |
Unbisted 310 392 310 392
Total 19227 25610 19227 25610
Fixed rate 665 669 66.5 658 ;
Vanable rate 1,856 2 2,495 1 1,856 2 2,495 1
Total 19227 2,5610 19227 2,5610

In 2008, a pool of asset backed secunties and floating rate notes were reclassified from available-for-sale to loans and recewvables under the terms of IAS
39 paragraph SOE H the financial assets had not been reclassified, far value gains recognised in the avalable-for-sale reserve in 2010 would have besn

£277 Om {2009 gains of £271 2m)

At 31 December 2009 £371 Om in respect of nvestment securities held as loans and recevables was held for resale in both the Group and Company

{d) Unsecured investment loans

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

At 31 December £m £m £m £m
Fixed rate - - - -
Vanable rate 349 4 3583 349 4 3883
Total 3494 3583 3494 3583
Group Company

2010 2008 2010 2009

At 31 Decamber £m £m £m £m
imparment allowance on unsecured investment loans 250 6 33386 250 6 3335

18. Wholesale assets

The assets in the following table are of a wholesale nature as opposed to ndmdual customer assets The credit and concentration nsk charactensucs of

these portfolios shoukd therefore be considered together

Group Company

2010 2008 2010 2008

At 31 Dacernber £m £m em £m
Cash and balances at central banks [note 10) 6,980 8 75104 69808 75104
Loans and advances to banks {note 11) 1,844 0 3,7024 1,7954 3,5626
investment securties and unsecured investment loans (note 17) 2,396 4 30878 23418 3,034 4
Total 11,321.2 14,3006 11,1180 14,067 4
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18. Wholesale assets nline

(a} Credit nsk
The credit quality of wholesale assets by reference to credit raungs 1s set out In the table below

Group Total AAA AA+ to AA- A+ t0 A- BBB to B- CCC and bolow
At 31 Decamber 2010 £m Yo % % % %
Cash and balances at central banks 6,980 8 100 - - - -
Leans and advances to banks 1,944 0 12 34 54 - -
Investment secuntes and unsecurad nvestment loans

- Avallable-for-sale secunties 1243 26 12 4l 3 a8

- Investment secunties held as loans

and recewvables 1,9227 18 21 27 31 3

- Unsecured investment loans 348 4 - - - 100 -
Total iInvestment secunties and unsecured 2,396 4 16 17 23 40 q
nvestment loans
Total 11,3212 67 9 14 9 1
Group Total AAA Al 10 Ab- A+ toA EBBtoB- LCCC and below
At 31 December 2005 £m % % % % %
Cash and balances at central banks 7.6104 100 - - - -
Loans and advances to barks 3,702 4 10 36 54 - -
investment securities and unsecured investment loans

- Avallable-for-sale securities 168 5 48 3 25 2 22

- Investment securties held as loans

and recewables 2,6610 30 23 24 22 1

- Unsecured investmeant loans 3583 - - - 100 -
Total Investment securities and unsecured 30878 27 20 21 30 2
nvestrment loans
Total 14,3006 61 13 19 & 1

(b} Concentration nsk
Wholesale assets are analysed by gecgraphical region at ther ¢cariying amounts in the table below Exposures ars allocatad to regions based on the country
of domicile of the counterparty

Group UK Europe US  Other countrias Total
At 31 December 2010 £m £m £m £m £m
Cash and balances at central banks 6,980 8 - - - 6,9808
Loans and advances to banks 704 6 9653 728 2013 1,944 0
Investment securities and unsecurad investment loans

- Avallable-for-sale securites 459 288 - 496 1243

- Investment secunties held as loans and receivables 898 8 3775 1269 5185 1,9227

- Unsecured investment loans - - - 3494 3494
Total nvestiment securities and unsecured 944 7 406.3 1269 M85 2,396.4
nvestment loans
Total 8,630 1 137116 1997 1,198 11,321.2
Group UK Europe us Other countnes Total
AL 31 Dacernber 2008 £m £m £m €m £m
Cash and balances at central banks 74928 176 - - 75104
Loans and advances to barks 1,8009 1,388 6 1133 3996 3,702 4
Investment securities and unsecured investment loans

- Avallable-for-sale securities 533 738 - 36 4 1685

- Investment secunties held as loans and recervables 1,163 3 6431 1668 587 8 25610

- Unsecured investment loans - - - 3583 3583
Total investment securities and unsecured 1,216 6 7219 166 8 982 5 3,0878
investment loans
Total 10,5103 21281 2801 1,382 1 14,3006

NRAM
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19. Investments in Group undertakings

Company
£m
Cost

At 1 January 2010 850
Disposal to Northem Rock ple {50 0)
At 31 December 2010 350

The Company’s interests in subsidiary undertakings are analysed as follows
2010 2008
At 31 December £m £
Credit institutions - 500
Other 350 350
Total 350 B850

The Directors consider the vaiue of Investments to be supported by therr underlying assets
At 31 December 2009 £50 Om was held for resale This represented the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Northern Rock {(Guemsey) Limited

The principal subsidianes of Morthern Rock (Asset Management) plc at 31 December 2010 are hsted below, all of which operate n ther country of
incorporation or registration

The following subsidiary 1s directly held and wholly owned by the Company

Class of shares hald Nature ¢f business Country of iIncorporation

Narthern Rock Mortgage Indemnity Company Limited Ordinary Provision of mortgage Guernsey
indemnity insurance

The following companies are SPVs established in connection with the Group § secuntisation pregramme (see note 14} Although the Company has no direct
or Indirect ownership interest In these companies, they are regarded as legal subsidianes under UK companies legisiation This is because they are principally
engaged in providing a source of long term funding to the Group, which in substance has the rights to all benefits from the actvities of the SPVs They are
therafore offectvely controlled by the Group

Nature of business Country of incorporation
Granite Mortgages 03-2 plc issue of securtised notes England & Weles
Granite Mortgages 03-3 plc Issue of securttised notes England & Wales
Granne Mortgages 04-1 plc Issue of securtised notes Engtand & Wales
Granite Mortgages 04-2 plc Issue of securtised notes Engtand & Wales
Granite Mortgages 04-3 plc Issue of securtised notes England & Wales
Granite Master Issuer plc Issue of secuntised notes England & Wales
Granite Finance Trustees Limited Holding of interests in secuntisations Jersay
Granite Finance Funding Limited Hclding company Jersey
Granite Finance Funding 2 Limited Holding company England & Wales
Whinstone Capital Management Limited Issue of credit inked notes Jersey
Whinstone Capital Management 2 Limited Issue of credit inked notes Jorsey

The Directors consider that to give full particulars of all subsidiary undertakings would lead to a statement of excessive length A full list of subsidiary

undertakings at 31 December 2010 will be annexed to the Company’s next Annual Return to be filed at Companies House
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20. Investment property

At 31 December 2009 the Group's Gosforth Head Office site was whally occupied by the Group and was classed as owner occupied property within
praperty plant and equipment Following the completion of & legal and capital restructunng, a proportion of this site has been leased to Northern Rock plc
since 1 January 2010 On 1 Octoher 2010 the Company was acquired by UKAR which has resulted in a clearer strategy for the Group's plans in respect
of the Head Cffice site The Group has no current intention to occupy that element of the property currently leased to Nerthern Rock ple Accordingly that
element has been reclassified as an investment property since that date

The Group has valued its investment property at far value at 31 December 2010 Far value 1s determined by independent professional valuers who apply
recognised valuation techniques

Dunng the penod since the date of reclassification, rental mcorme and direct property repar and martenance costs in respect of the property of £1 7m and
£0 3m respectivety have been recognised in the Income Statement

Movements in the farr value of investment property dunng the year are analysed as follows

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

£m £m £m £m

Al 1 January - - - -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 266 - 245 -
At 31 December 266 - 24.5 -

There has been no change in the farr value of the investment property since the date of reclassification

21. Property, plant and equipment

Plant, equipment,

Land and txtures, tittings
Group buildings and vehicles
2010 £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2010 1138 166 1 2799
Transferred to Northern Rock plc (see ncte 48) {23.5) 104 0) (127.5)
Additions 02 17 19
Disposals {03} (0 6) (09)
Transferred to investment property (see note 20) {55 9) {38 0) (93 9)
At 31 December 2010 343 252 595
Depreciation
At 1 January 2010 119 113 4 1253
Transferred to Northern Rock plc (see note 48) {59) (88 9) {94 8)
Charged in year 09 21 30
Accelerated depreciation 296 222 518
Adustment ansing on disposals - 04 {c4)
Transferred to investment proparty (see note 20) {31.8) (35.5) {67.3)
At 31 December 2010 47 129 176

Net book amount
At 1 January 2010 1019 527 1546

At 31 December 2010 236 123 419
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At 1 January 2009 1171 1712 593 3476
Additons [435] 50 02 58
Disposals (39 (101} 595 (73 5)
At 31 December 2008 1138 166 1 - 2799
Depreciation

At 1 January 2009 14 3 1094 255 149 2
Charged n year a8 106 - 114
Imparment reversals - - (53) &3
Adustment ansing on disposals 32 (66} (20 2) (300}
At 31 December 2009 1149 1134 - 1253
Net book amount

At 1 January 2009 102 8 618 338 188 4
At 31 December 2009 1019 627 - 1546

Plant, equipment,

Land and  fixtures, fittings
Company buildings and vehicles
2010 £m €m
Cost
At 1 January 2010 1213 1658 2871
Transferred to Northern Rock plc (see note 48) {21.8) (105 0} (126 8)
Addtions 02 18 20
Disposals {0 3) {0 6) 09)
Transferred to mvestment property (See note 20) {61 1) {39.9) (100 6)
At 31 December 2010 3|3 22,5 608
Depreciation
At 1 January 2010 114 1123 1237
Transferred to Northern Rock plc (see note 48) (59} (88.2) (94 1)
Charged in year i1 2.1 32
Accelerated depreciation 368 238 606
Adustment arising on disposals - 0 4) Ca)
Transferred to nvestment property (see note 20) {39 0) {37 1) {76 1)
At 31 December 2010 44 12,5 169
Net book amount
At 1 January 2010 1099 535 163 4
At 31 December 2010 339 100 439
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21. Property, plant and equipment - .0 e )
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Cost

At 1 January 2009 1262 1472 553 3327

Additions 493 287 02 782
Disposals {54 2) (101) (59 5) {123 8)
At 31 Dacember 2009 1213 1688 - 2871

Depreciation

At 1 January 2009 164 1037 255 1456
Charged n year 26 152 - 178
Impawment reversals - - 53 53)
Adustment ansing on disposals {7 6 [66) (20 2) (34 4)
At 31 December 2009 114 1123 - 1237

Nat Dook amount

At 31 Decermnber 2009 109 8 535 - 163 4

An accelerated depreciation charge of £51 8m in the Group and £60 8m in tha Company has been made N 2010 (2008 £ni) This represents the difference
tietwaen the carrying amount of the elemant of property, plant and equipment reclassified as investment property (see note 20} and its far value at the date
of reclassification

Imparment credits of £l have ansen in 2010 (2009 £5 3m} n both the Group and Company The credit n 2009 was primarnly due to reversals of
imparments made in 2007 in respect of properties in the course of construction

At 31 December 2009 £32 7m was held for resale in both the Group and Company

Group Goodwill Soltwire

2010 m £

Cost

At 1 January 2010 307 161.1 1918
Transferred to Northern Rock plc {see note 48) - {161 1) (161 1)
At 31 December 2010 a07 - 307

i
|
|
1
At 1 January 2009 1098 435 338 167 1
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
\
|
|
|
|
|
|

Impairment and amortsation

Al 1 January 2010 - 1380 1380 |
Transferred to Northern Rock ple (see note 48) - (138.0) (138 0) ‘
Imparment charged in yaar 307 - 307 |
At 31 December 2010 307 - 307 |

Net book amount
At 1 January 2010 307 231 53.8 ‘
At 31 December 2010 - - - ;
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At 1 January 2009 307 1598 1905
Addions - 15 15
Disposals - ©2 02
At 31 December 2009 307 1611 1818

Imparment and amortisation

At 1 January 2009 - 1256 1256
Amortisation charged in year - 125 125
Adustment ansing on disposals - ©1) o1
At 31 December 2009 - 1380 1380

Net book amount

At 1 January 2009 307 342 649

At 31 December 2009 307 231 538

Company Sottware Tolal

2010 Lm m

Cost

At 1 January 2010 1611 1611

Transferred to Northern Rock plc (see note 48) {161 1) 161 1)

At 31 Dacember 2010 - -

Impairment and amorbsation

At 1 January 2010 1380 1380
Transferred to Northern Rock plc {see note 48) {138 0) {138 0)
At 31 December 2010 - -

Net baok amount
At 1 January 2010 231 231
At 31 December 2010 - -

Company Software Total
2009 £rn £m
Cost

At 1 January 2009 159 8 1598
Additions 15 15
Disposals 02 02
At 31 December 2009 1611 1611

Impairment and amortisation

At 1 January 2009 1256 12586
Amortisaton charged n year 125 125
Adjustment arsing on disposals 1) 01)
At 31 December 2009 1380 1380

Net book amount
At 1 January 2009 342 342
At 31 Dacember 2009 231 231

Goodwill resulted from the acgquisition of a mortgage company and related to the Company s ability to sell further products to the customers acquired
Following the completion of a legal and capital rastructunng the Company no longer wiites new mortgage business therefora the goodwill 1s deemed to be
impared resulting in an mparment charge of £30 7m in 2010 (2009 Enil)

At 31 December 2009 £23 1m was held for resale in both the Group and Company

NRAM
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23, Deferred tax assets and liabiliies

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
At 31 December £m £m £m £m
Deferred tax assets - - - -
Deferrad tax labilties {33) 7 1) - 38)
Total {33 1 - 38
The full movernent in deferred tax labilities was as follows
Group Company
2010 2008 2010 2009
£m £m £m Em
At 1 January 71 283 (38 38
Income Statement credit / {charge} 38 (47 6) 38 {130)
Deferred tax mpact credited drract to equity
- Revaluation reserve — availlable-for-sala investments - 01 - 09
- Actuanal losses recognised in other comprehensive Income - 121 - 121
At 31 December {33} 71 - (38)
Deferred 1ax assets and labiities are attributable to the following items
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
At 31 Decamber £m £m £m £m
Deferred tax assets
Pensicns and other retirement benefits - [¢X-] - 08
Other temporary differences - C1 - 01
Tax losses 120 108 120 109
Total 120 118 120 118
Daterred tax habiities
Pensions and other retrement benefits {2 2} - 22 -
Excess of caprial allowances over depraciation {01} 1 - -
Avallable-for-sale secunties a7 17 19 (19
Unremitted earnings from overseas subsidiary 34 ()] - -
Rolled over gains - 38 - (38)
Change in accounting basis on adoption of IFRS 79) 99 7 9) 99
Total {153) 89 {120} (1586)
Net deferred tax habiity {33) {7 1) - (38)

Deferred tax assets and liabilhes are offset only to the extent that there 15 a legally enforceable right to set off and the balances relate 10 tax payable to the
same taxation authonty by either the sama taxable entity or different taxable entities within the same tax group where there s the intention and ability to settle

on a net basis or realise the assets and habiities simuktaneousty

Deferred tax appropnately reflects a change to the standard rate of UK corporation tax from 28% to 27% with effect frorn 1 Apnl 2011 This change was
substantively enacted on 20 July 2010 The announced further rate reductions by an addstional 1% on 1 Apnl 2011 and a further 3% Dy 1 Apnl 2014, as
dascrnbed in note 8, would have the maximum potential impact of reducing the Group's deferred tax lability by £0 5m

The amount of deferred tax asset expected 1o be recavered after more than twelve months for the Group is £nil (2008 £ni)

The amount of delerred tax lability expected 1o be settled after more than twelve months 15 £3 3m {2008 £7 1m} for the Group and £nil (2009 £3 8m)} for

the Company
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23. Deferred tax asscts ond tinbiltics oot ¢

lAS 12 requrres that deferred tax assets should be recogrused when 1t 1s probable that taxable profits will be available aganst which the deferred! tax asset
can be utiised Where the entity has a history of recent losses, deferred tax 1s only recognised to the extent that the entity has sufficient taxable temporary
differences or there 1s convincing other evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available A deferred tax asset should only be recognised to the extent
that the Group will reakse taxable profits ansimg from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences Accordingly deferred tax assets have not been
recogrused in respect of the following items

Group Company

2010 2008 2010 2006

At 31 December £m £m £m £m
Deductble temperary differences {gross) 258.0 427 9 258.0 4279
Unused tax losses {gross) 3064 1,7003 306.4 1,7003
Total 564 4 21282 564.4 21282

Under current tax legislation these unprovided deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses do not have an expiry date and can therefore be
recogrised v future as taxable profits anse

Deferred tax labilities have not been established for tax that would be payabte if earrings of the Group’s overseas subsidianes were remitted to the UK
Such amounts are either reinvastad for the foreseeable future or are expectad to be remitted free of tax Unremitted earnings at 31 December 2010
otalled £39 6 (2009 £39 6m)

The deferred tax (credit)/charge in the Income Statement comprises the following temporary differences

2010 2009

£m £m

Pensions and other employee benefils - 26
Dernvative financial instruments - 346

Excess of capital allowances over depreciation - 11
Tax losses - 114
Unremitted earnings from overseas subsidiary - 01
Rolled over gains 38 -
Total {38 4786

24, Loans from HM Treasury

Group Company

010 2009 2010 2009

At 31 Dacember £m £m £m £m
Amount due to HM Treasury 21,7134 14,3165 21,7134 14,3156

The ameunt due to HM Treasury 1s repayable on demand Following the restructunng of the Company on 1 January 2010, the interest payable changed from
a margin above LIBOR to a margn above the Bank Base Rate

25. Deposits by banks

Group Company

010 2009 2010 2009

At 31 Decerntyer £m £m £m £m
Amounts due to subsidianes - - - 10141
Cther deposits 49008 86,0223 3.2135 3,738 1
Total 4,9008 60223 32135 47522
Fixed rate - 2353 - 2353
Variable rate 49008 57870 3,135 45169
Tota! 49008 6,022 3 32135 47522

At 31 December 2009 £235 3m was held for resale within the Group and £1,249 4m withun the Company
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26. Custlomer accounts

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

At31 December £m £m £m £m
Retall funds and deposits - 19,4782 - 18,542 2
Cther customer accounts - 11294 - 1,1204
Totat - 206076 - 19,6716
Fixed rate - 12,3838 - 11,698 2
Variable rate - 8,2238 - 79734
Total - 20607 6 - 196716

At 31 December 2009 £20,607 6m was held for resale within the Group and £18 6§71 6m within the Company

27. Other deposily

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2006

At 31 December £m £m £m £m
Amounts due to secuntisation special purpose vehicles - - 21,940 3 26,819 4
Fixed rate - - - -
Vanable rate - - 21,940 3 26,8194
Total - - 21,9403 268194

Amounts due to secursation special purpose vehicles reprasent the beneficial interests held n mertigage portfolios by securmsation special purpose
vehicles (see note 14) Because the mortgage loans do not qualify for derecognition from the Company's Balance Sheet, the securitisation special purpose
vehwcles” beneficial nterests in the mortgage portiolios are represented by a deemed loan to the Company This 1s equivalent in value to the beneficial interest
In the mortgage portfolios plus associated inter Group balances directly relating to the beneficial Interests in the morgage portfolios

28. Other habditics

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2008

At 31 December £m £m £m £m
Amcunts owed to subsidiary companies - - 2731 2182
Other creditors M7 7 879 123.9 859
Total 177 879 397.0 304 1

At 31 December 2008 £19 2m was hefd for resale within the Group and £17 4m within the Company

29. Accruals and deferred income

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

At 31 December £m £m £m £m
Accrued Interest 2184 3822 210.5 3632
Deferred income - 06 - 06
Other accruals 135 583 133 581
Total 2319 4411 2238 4219

At 31 December 2G09 £188 4m was held for resale within the Group and £177 9m withun the Company

=

=
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30. Retirement benefit obligations

On 1 January 2010 all employees previously employed by the Company transferred to Northern Rock ple under the terms of the Northern Rock Transfer
Order 2008, S| 2009/3226 As a conseqguence of this, members of the employee benefit scheme {‘the Scheme’) operated by the Company became
members of the Northern Rock {2010} Pension Scheme and the existing Scheme, which had both defined benefit and defined contribution sections,
was closed

Defined benefit section of Scheme

The defined benefit sechon of ne Scheme provides tenefits based on final salary for certain employees The assets of the Scheme are neld 0 a separate
trustee-administered fund Contributions to the defined benefit section are assessed in accordance with the advice of an iIndependent qualified actuary using
the projected unit method The defined benefit section was closed to new entrants in July 1999 As a consequence of the closure of the Scheme to existing
members all members are now deferred members and accrue no further benefits within it

The Company's policy for recogrising actuanal gains and 0sses 15 to recognise them immediately on the Balance Sheet through the Statement of
Comprshensive Income

The overall costs of the Scheme have been recognised in the Company's accounts in accordance with LAS19

Summary of assumptions 2010 2009
At 31 December % %
Price inflation 340 385
Rate of Increase n salaries n/a 435
Rate of ncrease for pre 6 Apnl 2006 pensions In payment (in excess of any Guaranteed Minmurn Pension (GMP) element} 370 380
Rate of increase for post 6 Apnl 2006 pensions In payment 330 385
Rate of increase for deferred pensions 340 385
Discount rate 530 565
Expected rate of return on assets 505 492

The most significant non-financial assumption 15 the assumed rate of longevity The table below shows the e expectancy assumptions used in the
accounting assessments based on the Ife expectancy of a member aged 60

2010 2008
At 31 Decemnber Fansioner Non-pensioner Pensioner Non-pensioner
Male 27.4 years 28 4 years 27 3years 28 4 years
Female 29.9 years 30 8 years 29 9years 30 7 years

The expected return on assets has been derived as the weighted average of the expected returns from each of the main asset classes The expectad return
for each asset class reflects a combination ot historical performance analysis, the forward looking views of the financial markets (as suggested by the velds
avallable), and the views of nvestment orgznisations

Categones of assets held 2010 2009
At 31 Decermber % %
Equities 3 2
Government and cther corporate bongs 49 94
Property 3 3
Cash / other 45 1

Total 100 100
Funded status 2010 2009
At 31 December £m €m
Prasent value of defined benefit obligation {371 9) {391 4)
Assets at far value 380 2 3865
Defined benefit asset / (hability} 83 49)
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30. Retirement benefit obhigitions e -1 |

Disclosed pension expense for year-

2010 2009

{a} Components of defined henefit pension expense £m £m
Current service cost - 57
Interest cost 211 200
Expected return on assets {18.2) {17 2
Curtalment gain {8 1) -
Total pension expanse {7.2) 85

The curtaitment gain in 2010 has been calculated In accordance with I1AS 19 and anses due tc members accruing no further benefits within the Scheme

following its closure

2019 2009

() Statement of Comprehensive Income £m £m
Actuarial loss recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income {62) (45 9)
Cumulative actuanal (losses) / gans recognised at 1 January (287} 72
Cumulative actuanal losses recognised at 31 December (34 9) (287)
2010 2009

Movements in present value of defined benefit obligation duning the year £m £m
At 1 January 391.4 3358
Defined banefit service cost - 57
Interest cost 211 200
Defined benefit employee contnbutions - 13
Actuaral {gany1oss (15 8) 396
Benefits paid (11 9) {11 o
Curtalments @1) -
Cther adjustments {38) -
At 31 December 3719 3614

Other adjustments are 1n respect of the transfer to the Narthern Rock (2010} Pension Scheme of obligations for the money purchase guarantee reserve

2010 2008
Movements in fair value of defined benefit assets dunng the year £m tm
Al 1 January 386.5 3675
Expected return on assets 192 172
Actuanal loss (22 0) 63
Defined benefit actual Company contributions 12.2 178
Defined benefit employee coninbutions - 13
Defined benefit actual benefits paid (AR E:)] {110
Other adjustments (38) -
At 31 December 3802 3865

Other adjustments are in respect of the transfer to the Northern Rock {2010) Pension Scheme of assets for the money purchase guarantes reserve

The actual loss on plan assets in 2010 was £2 8m {2009 return of £10 9m)
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30. Retwrement benehit obligations o oide iy

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Expenence gains and losses £m £m £m £m £m
Defined benefit obligation 3719 3914 3358 3546 3507
Fair value of assets 380.2 3865 367 5 3603 3290
Surplus / {deficit) 83 {4 9) 317 57 217)
Experience gain / {loss) on liabiites 93 122 28 195 (105)
Experience (loss} / gan on assets (22 Q) (6 3) [LRS)] 62 46

Estimated contnbutions for the year ending 31 December 2011

As a consequence of the closure of the Schemea no further monthly contnbutions are made by the Company or members However, the Company has
agreedd with the Trustees to fund the deficit In the defined benefit section of the Scheme by making annual contnbutions which will result 1IN a payment of
£18 4m in January 2011

Sensitivities
The following table llustrates the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to three key assurnptions the discount rate, the rate of mflation and the mortakty
assumption
Change in Impact on benefit

assumpuon obligaton
Ciscount rate Decraase by 0 5% Increase by £43 Bm i
Inflation Increase by 0 5% Increase by £30 Tm
Mortality Decrease by 1 year Increase by £9 0m

If the assumptions were 1o change by the same amount in the opposite drection to those lustrated, the benafit obligation would decrease by a similar
amgunt 1o those shown in the table In each case

Defined contnbution section of Scheme
Pension costs for the defined contribution section of the Scheme were

2010 2008
£m £m
Total included in staff costs - 36

1. Provisions

Tha movemaent in provisions was as follows

Group and Company

Provision for customer radress Onerous contracts provision Total

2010 2006 2010 2008 2010 2003

£m £m £m &m £m Em

At 1 January 724 5C 15.4 185 878 235

Utlised in the year (29 3) (1 1) {2.5) 55} (318 {16 6)

Charged in the year 1600 785 {0 8) 01 1592 786
Adjustment on disposal of property,

plant and equpment - - - 23 - 23

At 31 December 203.1 724 121 154 2152 878

The prowision for custemer redress Is in respect of potental claims for compensation from customers regarding Payment Protection Insurance (PP’ and
other mis-sold products At 31 Decernber 200G the provision compnsed £71 4m for PPl and £1 Om for other genaral customer clams Dunng 2010 the
level of customer complaints regarding PP sales has increased signficantly with 14,600 (2009 8,000) receved in the year, of which 8 800 wers made 11 the
sacond half Based on the iIncrease in claims, our root cause analysis and follow-up work into the selling processes adopted in the past, a further provision
of £155 0m has been made to cover the cost of the claims anticipated in the future Clairns for other mis-sold products, such as endowments, continue,
albeit much fewer than PP, and a further provision of £5 0m s made for these general clamns We expect future claims to be settied aver the next few years
The exact amounts and timing of the settlements will depend upon the level and value of future claims which could differ from the estimates used in the
establishment of this provision, and could also be impacted by the outcome of the ongoing judicial review INto the FSA's policy statement PS 10712 on PPI

The onerous contracts provision 15 N respect of leasehold properties no longer required as a result of changes to the Group's business plan In 2008
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32. Subordmnated linhbilitics

Group and Company

2010 2009
At 31 December Imterest rate Final maturiy Terms Denormunation £m £m
Subordinated bonds 5625% 2015 Redesmable since 13/01/10 Sterling 2961 2951
Subordinated loan 11 734% 2016 Repayable in five equal annual Sterling 256 258

instalments from 2012 to 2016

Subordinated bonds 575% 2017 Not redeemable before 28/02/12 Steriing 258.6 2639
Subordinated bonds 10%% 2018 Not redeemable before 25/03/18 Sterling 504 505
Subardinated bonds 4% 2021 Not redeemnable before 17/10/21 Sterling 1492 1481
HM Treasury PIK nterest Ses below 2013 See below Sterling 1507 150 6
Total 9306 9350

The HM Treasury PLK interest represents the amount of margin payable to HM Treasury which was subordinated under the terms of the facility (see note 24)
Repayment of this amount is due on 1 April 2013 Interest I1s payable on this lcan at a fioating rate above the Bank Base Rate

Redemptions of any subordinated habilities prior to therr final matunty date are subject to obtaining prior consent of the Financial Services Authority

The nghts of repayment of holders of subordinated liabilities are subordinated to the claims of other creditors

33. Subordmated notes

Group and Company
2010 2008
At 31 Docomber Lnterast rate Terms Denomination €m £m
Perpetual subordinated notes 12%% Not redeemable Sterling 135 198
Undated subordinated notes 8% Redeemable on coupon dates uss 190 621
which fallon 15 March 15 June
15 September and 15 December
Perpetual fixed to floating rate 6594% Not raceemable bafore 28/06/17 uss 1.2 405 3
subordinated notes
Fixed rate step-up undated 675% Mot recesmable before 17/06/24 Sterling 10.5 195 4
subordinated notes
Floating rate undated subordinated 1% above 3 month Not redesmable before 23/02/11 uss - 660
notes USS LIBOR
Undated subordinated notes 56% Not redeemable before 30/04/14 uss 87 3932
Total 528 1,1418

The 6 594% perpetual fixed to floating rate subordinated notes were reclassified from subordinated llabiies in 2009 This resulted from State aid approval in
October 2002 which required the Company to withhold coupon payments on all subordinated instruments where possible, and the exercise of the general
nght of deferral of coupon payment contaned within the terms and conditons of this specific nstrumant

Inaccordance with the requirements of IAS 32, undated subordinated labilities are classified as non shareholders' equity, as there i1s no contractual obligation
to pay the interest coupon Coupons on these notes are treated as appropriations and amounted to £ni {2009 £32 5m) after a tax credit of Tnil (2002 Enil

The proceeds of and coupon payments for subordinated notes denominated in US dollars have been swapped into sterling
Redemptions of any subordinated notes are at the issuer's opticn cnly and are subject ta obtaning prior consent ¢f the Financial Senaces Autherity
The nghts of repayrnent of holders of subordinated notes are subordinated to the clams of other creditors

Dunng the year subordinated notes with a notional value of £1,088 9m were repurchased Further dstails of this transaction are given in note 7
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34. Tier one notes

The ter one notes were issued for a value of £200m on 21 August 2002 and are undated They carry a coupen of 7 053% payabtle annually in arrears
on 21 September each year At each payment date, if payment of the coupon would lead 1¢ breaches of regulatory capital regquirements, the Company
will decde whether to declare or defer the coupon If the Company decides to defer the coupon, this can then conly be satisfied upon the date on which
the 15sue 18 redeemed No nterest will acerue on any deferred coupon |f the Company defers the coupon, it may not pay a dwvidend on any share or
pay any coupon on the reserve capital instruments, nor redeem or repurchase any of its share capnral or reserve capital instruments untll it next makes a
coupon payment for the tier one notes While the Company 1s in public ownership, deferred coupons can only be satisfied in accordance with the terms
of Article S of The Northarn Rock Transfer Order 2008 which was made on 21 February 2008 pursuant to the Banking {Special Provisions) Act 2008

The Company has a call option after 25 years, which it can only exercise with the consent of the Financial Services Authonty If the issua 1s not called, the
coupon resets to yield 1 835% above 6-month LIBOR

The full amount of tier cne notes 1§ permitted for inclusion within regulatery capital
The carmying value of tier one notes at 31 December 2010 1s £135 7m (2009 £233 7m)

Dunng the year tier one notes with a notional value of £89 5m (carnyng value of £111 Om) were repurchased Further detalls of this transaction are gven
In note 7

35. Reserve capital mstramaents

Reserve capital nstruments were 1ssued for a value of £200m in September 2000 and £100m n May 2001 and are undated They carry a coupon of 8 399%
payable annually in arrears on 21 September each year At each payment date the Company will decide whether 0 declare or defer the coupon If the
Company decides to declare the coupon the holder will receive a cash payment equivalent to the coupon which will be achieved either by the payment of
cash directly, or while the Company 1s In public ownership, as per the terms of Article 5 of The Northarn Rock Transfar Ordler 2008 (the 'Transfer Order’) which
was made on 21 February 2008 pursuant to the Banking (Special Prowisions) Act 2008 If the Company elects to defer the coupon, it may not declare or
pay a dmdend on any share until the deferred coupons are satisfied While the Company s in public ownership deferred coupons and any interest accruing
thereon can only be satisfied in accordance with the terms of Article 5 of the Transfer Order

The Company has a ¢all option after 15 years, which it can only exercise with the consent of the Financial Services Authority If the ssue 1s not called, the
coupon resets to yield 4 725% above the prevaiing 5-year benchmark Gilt rate

The fuli amount of reserve capral nstrurments 1s permitted for iInclusion within regulatory capital

In accordance with the requirsments of IAS 32, reserve capital instruments are classified as non shareholders' equity Coupons on these notes are treated
as appropriations and amourited to Enil (2009 £ril) after a tax credit of £nil (2009 £l

Dunng the year reserve capital mstruments with a notional value of £143 1m were repurchased Further details of this fransaction are gven n nota 7

36. Appropriations

2010 2009
£m £m
Subordinated notes - 325

One of the conditions resutting from State ad approval In October 2008 requrres the Company 1o withhold coupon payments on alt subordinated
instruments where possible Consequently no appropriations have been made In respect of the Company's reserve capital nstruments or subordinated
notes during 2010

37. Cudled up share capmtal

Group and Company
2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2008
At31 Decambear Number £m £€m Number £m €m
Authorised share capital
Ordinary shares of 25p each 718.5m 1796 - 718 5m 1796 -
Perpetual non-cumulative callable
Preference shares of 25p each 100 Om 250 - 100 Om 250 -
Perpatual non-cumulatve callable
Preference shares of 25¢ sach 100 Om - 25.0 100 Om - 250
Total 918.5m 204.6 25.0 918 5m 204 6 250
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37. Called up share capital crnbirniee

Group and Company

2010 2010 2009 2009
At 31 December Number £m Number £m
issued and fully paid share capttal
Ordinary shares of 25p each 495.6m 1239 495 6m 123G
Parpetuat non-cumulatve callable Preference shares of 25p each 0.4m 01 04m 01
Total 486 Om 1240 496 Om 1240

Since 22 February 2008, all shares in the Company have been held by the Treasury Solctor as nominee of the Treasury as a result of
The Northern Rock plc Transfer Order 2008 (5] 2008 No 432}

Dwidends on Preference shares are discretionary and, subject to Board approval, are payable annually on 4 July at a rate of 6 8509% No dwvidends were
paid in 2010 or 2009

Group and Company

Ordinary Preference Total
Share premium reserve em £m £m
At 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 6.8 396 4 4032

Group and Company

Capital redempton reserve fm
At 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 73
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2002
Revaluation reserve — available-for-sale investments £m £m £m £m
At 1 January (386 3) 802 5) (385 6) (599 8)
Transterred to Northern Rock pic (see note 48) 16.2 - 162 -
Net gains / {osses) from changes in far value 16 B3 09 05
Losses transferred to net ncome due to iImparment 78 55 78 55
Net {profits) 7 losses on disposal rransferred to net ncome {02) 68 {0 3) c3
Amaorhisation of far valus differences in respect of securities
transferred to lcans and receivables 1330 2362 1330 2362
Losses transferred to / (from) net ncome due to impairment
of securities transferred to loans and receivables 03 292 03 282
Deferred taxes - o2 - [oR¢]
At 31 December {227 6) (386 3) {227 7} (3856)

At 31 December 2009 £16 2m of the revaluation reserve was held for resale in both Group and Company

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2008

Hedging reserve - cash flow hedges £m £Em fm £m
At 1 January (125 B) (269 7) (125 8) (269 7)
Amounts recognised in equity 435 164 8 43.5 164 8
Amounts transferred to net Nncome 15.8 {209 158 (209)
At 31 December {66.5) {125 8) {66.5) (125 8)
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39. Off Balance Sheet commitments

{a) Commitments payable

Group and Company
Within In one to Ovaer

one year five yoars {ive years Total

At 31 December 2010 £m £m £m £m

Loan commitments - - 2,520.2 2,520.2
Operating lease commitments

- Land and buldings 12 26 0.7 45

- Qther operating leases - - - -

Capital commitments - - - -

Total 1.2 26 2,520.9 25247

Groug and Company

Within Inona to Owver

one year five years five years Total

At 31 Dacember 2009 £m £m £m £€m

Loan commitments 7528 - 34203 4,1731
Operating lease commitments

- Land and buldings 04 11 38 53

- Other operating leases - 35 - 35

Capital commitments 74 02 - 76

Total 7606 48 34241 4,1895

Loan commitments represent contractual amounts to which the Group 1s committed for extension of credit 10 customers
Opsrating lease commitments raprasent minmum future lease payments under nen-cancellable operating leases
Capital commitments represent commitments for the acquisition of buldings and equipment

{b} Commitments receivable
Group and Company

Within In one to Over
one yoar five yoars five years Total
At 31 Decamber 2010 £m £m £m £m
Operating lease commitments
- Land and buildings 70 14.5 01 216
Group and Company
Withun inoneto Over
ona year five years fiva yoars Total
At 31 December 2009 £m £m £m £m
Operating lease commitments
- Land and buldings 01 03 01 05

Operating lease commitments reprasent minmum future lease payments recevable under non-cancellable operating leases




Annual Report & Accounts 2010

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

40. Related party disclosures

{a) Serwice Level Agreements
The Company had Service Level Agreement (SLA) arrangements with related parties duning the year as follows

o

®

SLA between Northern Rock pic and Narthern Rock (Asset Management) plc

Under this agreement Northern Rock ple invoices the Company monthly in arrears for the cost of services rendered to the Compary plus a margin

of 10% The cost of services rendered comprises operational, non operational, transition and real estate costs These costs are allocated between

Northarn Rock plc and the Company as {oflows

- Operational costs based on a number of agreed cost allocation drivers which create an appropriate splt dependent on the respective voilume of
business done by each of Northern Rock ple and the Company dunng the relevant month

- Non operational costs on a case by case basis
- Transition costs 20% to Northern Rock ple and 80% to the Company
—  Real estate costs 60% to Northern Rock ple and 40% to the Company

During the year the Company incurred a net cost of £160 8m under this SLA Of this amount £115 5m 1s reflected within ongong adminustrative
expenses and £45 3m n other net administrative expenses

SLA between Bradford & Bingley plc and Northern Rock {Asset Management} plc

Under this agreement Bradford and Bingley plc invoices the Company for the cost of services rendered to the Company Costs are recharged n

respect of IT, ancillary, treasury, operational and support and facilities services These costs are allocated between Bradford & Bingley plc and the

Company as follows

— [T and ancillary services  100% pass through of such charges that Bradford & Bingley plc incurs under a separate SLA arrangement that 1t has in
place with Northern Rock plc

—  Treasury and operationzl and suppor services based on agreed gross budgets and a cost allocation model
- Facilties services for the Company arranged by Bradford & Bingley ple with facilies prowiders, the cost for these services 1s paid direct to the
providers by the Gompany

Dunng the year the Company incurred a net cost of £12 Om under this SLA Of this amount £10 3m 1s reflected within ongoing administrative expenses
including £4 2m in respect of pass through of charges from Northern Rock plc) and £1 7 in cther net administrative expenses At 31 December 2010
£2 5m was owed to Bradford & Bingley ple in respect of these charges

{b} Key management persannel
The Company considers the Board of Directors and members of the Executve Committee, to be key management personnel A number of banking
transactions are entered into with key management personnel as part of normal banking business including loans and depesits The velumes of these related
party ransactions outstanding balances at the year end and related income and expense for the year are set out below

2010 2009
£m £m

Loans
At 1 January 17 22
Movements due to changes in key management perscnnel (1N [vIrg
Net amaounts repaid - (12)
At 31 December - 17
Interest ncome paid - 01
Deposits
At 1 January 0.5 03
Movements due to transfer of deposits to Northern Rock plc {0.5} -
Neat amounts deposited - 02
At 31 December - 65
Interest Income earned - -

2010 2009

£m £m

Remuneration of key management personnel
Salaries bonuses and other short term benefits 23 42
Post-employment benefits 03 07
Termination benefits 05 -
Total 31 49
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40. Related porty disclosures .o -]

(c) Subsidiary compames

Balances outstanding with subsidiary companies and movements in these loans were as follows
Secunbisation Other 2010 Securiisation Cther 2009
SPVs subsidianes Total SPVs subsicianes Total
Receivables £m £m em £m £m £m
At 1 January 703 104 807 1607 113 1720
Net moverment over the year (39 5) - {39 5} (90 4) 09 {91 3)
At 31 December 308 104 412 703 104 BO7
Secuntisation Other 2010 Securtisaton Other 2006
SPVs subsidianes Total SPVs subsichanes Total
Payables £m £m £m fm £m £m
At 1 January 26,9907 1,061 0 28,0517 31,846 7 1,179 6 328263
Net movement over the year (4,820.1) {1,018.2) {5,838 3) (4,656 0} (118 B) (4,774 6)
At 31 December 22,170.6 428 22,2134 26,9907 1,061 0 280517

(e}

Fellow subsichary

In addition to the balances and transactions with Bradford & Bingley plc under the SLA agreement (see a (i} above} the Company held £53 1m of loan notes
1ssued by Bradford & Bingley plc at 31 December 2010 Interest income earned by the Company on these notes during the penod 1 October 2010 10 31
December 2010 amounted to £0 1m Bradford & Bingley plc hekd £114 6m of loan notes 1ssued by the Company at 31 December 2010 Interest income
paid by the Company on these notes duning the penod 1 October 2010 to 31 December 2010 amounted to £0 3m

Other

As a consequence of the transfer of all called up share capital to the Treasury Solicitor on 22 February 2008 (see note 37) the Company regards the
Government as a related party Details of loan facilites with the Government are set out In note 24 above Interest and guarantee fees payable on the
loan net of interest recerable on Iquidhty deposit accounts with the Bank of England, in 2010 wers £144 6m (2009 £385 9m) On 28 Cctober 2009, the
European Commission approved the Government’s State aid package for Northern Rock (Asset Management) plc This resulted in the clawback of £472 4m
of net nterest income and guarantee fees previously payable to the Government, of which £200 Cm related to 2008

In addition to these loans and guarantess the Group has transactions with numerous Government bodies on an arm's length basis in relation to the payment
of corporation tax, valus added tax and employment taxes and the paymaent of regulatory fees and lewies Transactions with these entities are not disclosed
owing to the volume of transactions conducted

41. Capital structure

The Group manages its capital rescurces to meet the regulatory requirements established by its regulator, the FSA Capital adequacy 1s monitored on an
ongoing hasis by the Group’s executive management and Board, based cn the regulations established by the FSA The required capital information is filed
with the FSA on a quarterly basis

Since 1 January 2010, following the completion of a legal and capital restructuning the Company no longer operates as a deposit taking insttution regulated
under BIPRU rules {the FSA's Prudential sourcebook for Banks, Building Societies and Investment Finms) # 1s now regulated by the FSA as a mortgage
administration company under MIPRU nides {the FSA's Prudential sourcebook for Mortgage and Home Finance Firms, and Insurance Intermedianes), which
have different definitions in relation to capitat resources and capital requirements

The first table below sets out the Company's regulatory caprital resources under MIPRU, and the second table sets out its regulatory capital resources under
BIPRU for 2008
At 31 Decombor 2010

£m
Total equity attnbutable to equity shareholder 1,2437
Reserve capital Instruments 156 2
Tier one notes 1357
Subordinated notes 529
Subordinated kabilities 905 0
Total available capital resources 2,493.5
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41, Capital structure ontinue

At 31 December 2008

£m
Core Tier 1 capital (337 5)
Parpetuat non-cumulative preference shares 6302
Innovative Tier 1 capital 2993
Deductions from and restrictions to Tier 1 capital {101 6)
Ter 1 capital after deductions 490 4
Upper Tier 2 capital 1,211 4
Lower Tier 2 capital 9350
Deducticns from and restrictions to Tier 2 capital (42 5)
Ter 2 capital atter deductions 21039
Deducticns from totals of Tier 1 and Tier 2 [CR]
Total avallable capital resources 25892

The FSA's capital resources gearing rules under BIPRU require core tier 1 capital to account for at least 50% of total tier 1 capital and mit total ter 2 capital
to 100% of tier 1 capital and lower tier 2 capital to 50% of ter 1 capital Certain elements of the total avalable caprtal resources shown above were therefore
restncted for regulatory purposes dunng 2009 The Company was grarted a waiver from the restriction that total tier 2 caprtal must not exceed totat tier 1
capital dunng the pencd 31 July 2008 to 30 June 2008 and from 28 QOctober 2009 untd 31 December 2009

The Company met its capital requirements In full duning the year to 31 December 2010

42. Derivative financial instruments

Strategy in using derivative financsal instruments

The Board has authorised the use of dervative nstruments for the purpose of supportng the strategic and operational business actmties of the Group
and reducing the nsk of loss ansing from changes N interest rates and exchange rates Ali use of dervative instruments withun the Group 1s to hedge nsk
exposure, and the Group takes no trading posiions i denvatves

The objective, when using any derwative Instrument, s to ensure that the nsk to reward prefile of any transaction 18 optmised The ntention 1s to only use
denvatives to create economically effective hedges However, because of the specific requirements of IAS 39 to obtain hedge accounting net all economic
hedges are designated as accounting hedges either because natural accounting offsets are expected or because obtaning hedge accounting would be
especially onerous

(a]

—

Fawr value hedges
The Group designates a number of dervatives as far value hedges In particular the Group has three approaches establishing relationships for

(} Hedging the interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate nsk of non-prepayable, foreign currency denominated fixed rate assets or labiltes on a
one-for-one basis with fixed/floating cr floating/fixed cross currency interest rate swaps

(i) Hedging the interest rate risk of a single currency portfolio of sterling, US Dellar or Euro non-prepayable fixed rate assets/labilities on a one-for-one basis
with vanilia fixed/floating or floating/fixed interest rate swaps

(1) Hedging the interest rate nsk of a portfolio of prepayable fixed rate assets with interest rate dervatives This solution 1$ used to establish a macro far
value hedge for dervatives hedging fixed rate mortgages The Group believes this solution is the most appropriate as it s consistent with s pelicy for
hedging fixed rate mortgages on an economic basis

The total far value of dervatives included within far value hedges at 31 December 2010 was a net asset of £2,125 Om {2009 net asset of £1,561 Om)

(b} Cash flow hedges
The Group designates a number of dervatives as cash flow hedges In particular, the Group adopls an approach of using fixed nterest rate swaps n a
cash flow hedge strategy when there is Insufficient capacity or other restricions preventing these dervatives from being utilsed in the macro hedge The
accounting hedge relationshup 1s to hedge floating rate sterling kabiiies The total far value of dervatives included within cash flow hedges at 31 December
2010 was a net labiity of £127 Om {2009 net lability of £153 Om)

(e]

-t

Net investment hedges
The Group has not designated any denvatives as net investment hedges in 2010 or 2009

All dervative financial iInstruments are held for economic hedging purposes, although not all denvatves are designated as hedging instruments under the
terms of IAS 36 The analysis below therefore splits denvatives between those in accounting hedge relationships and those In economic hedge relationships
but not n accounting hedge relationships
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42, Derivative financiat instruments . ntore

Group
AL 31 December 2010

Annual Report & Accounts 2010

For vilue Cash flow Noinind
huedges hedges Other hedges amounts
£m £m £m £m

Intarest rate contracts 476 0.2 691 1169 21333
Exchange rate contracts 2,7050 - 3,7206 6,425 6 22,1650
Total asset balances 2,752 6 02 3,789 7 6,5425 24,2083
Interest rate contracts 6276 127.2 49.2 8040 30,2219
Exchange rate contracts - - 224 224 6782
Total iabiity balances 6276 127 2 716 826 4 30,9001
Far value of hedging mstruments 21250 {127 0} 37181 5,716 1 (6,601.8)

Couny
ATty e

bar s du b oua Ry

Frde g, Tl CANG s e ULV R
Tm i i “m

Interest rate contracls 2175 32 1029 3226 17 1408
Exchange rate contracts 2,7213 - 4,4267 7,148 0 25,604 4
Other - - 22 22 414
Total asset balances 2,8388 32 45318 74738 42,7866
Interest rate contracts 1,377 8 156 2 589 1,502 9 61,4759
Exchange rate contracts - - 809 809 1,9447
Other - - - - 70
Total lability balances 1,377 8 156 2 138 8 16738 63,427 6
Fair value of hedging nstrumenis 1,561 0 {1583 0) 4,392 0 58000 {20,641 0)

Fair value Cash tlow Nominal
Company hedges hedges Qther hedges amounts
Al 31 December 2010 £m tm £m fm
Interest rate contracts 476 0.2 691 1169 2,133.3
Exchange rate contracts 2,705 0 - 200.2 2,905 2 8,103 4
Total asset balances 2,752 6 0.2 269 3 3,022 1 10,236 7
Interest rate contracts 6276 127.2 49.2 804.0 30,2219
Exchange rate contracts - - 2.4 224 678.2
Total labiity balances 6276 1272 716 826 4 30,900 1
Fair value of hedging instruments 2,1250 {127.0) 197 7 2,1957 {20,663 4)

srean gh

Uhagt bu § Pl

".

Interest rate contracts 2111 32 1029 317 2 16,8923
Exchange rate contracts 27213 - 4190 3,140 3 9,074 3
Other - - 22 22 414
Total asset balances 2,932 4 32 5241 3,489 7 26,0080
Interest rate CoNUacts 1,377 8 1662 588 11,5929 61,4759
Exchangs rate contracts - - 758 759 18427
Other - - - - 70
Total habiity balances 13778 156 2 134 8 1.6688 63,1256
Farr value of hedging iInstuments 15546 (153 0) 3893 1,790 9 (37,117 6)
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42. Derivative financial instruments confirn g ¢

Cash flow hedges
Penods when cash flows are expected to occur and affect the Income Statement
2010 2009

At 31 Dacembar £m £m
Within one year (49.5) (95 4)
In one to five years 17 7) (32 8)
Over five years 05 22
Total (66 7) (1260)
Concentration nsk
The camying amount of the Group's dervative assets analysed by geographical region are set out in the 1able below

UK Europe Us COther countnias Total

£m Em £m £m &m
At 31 December 2010 2,894 3 2,9688 584 4 850 6,542 5
At 31 December 2009 19017 4,256 3 1,160 1 657 7.4738

43. Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by measurement basis

Fair values of financial assets and habuites

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and tair values of financial assets and liabilities Assets are presented at bid prices whereas offer prices
are used for labdites The accounting policy note sets out the key principles for estimating the farr values of financial nstruments  This note provides some

additional nformation in respect of the methodologies used

Available- Total If fair value
Loans and for-sale LAS 39 held Fair value Cashilow carrying increased
Group recevables securities  for trading hedge hedge value Fair value by 1%
At 31 Dacomber 2010 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Cash and balances at central banks 6,980 8 - - - - 6,980 8 6,9808 698
Derivative financial instruments - - 3,7897 27526 0.2 6,542.5 6,5425 654
Loans and advances to banks 1,9440 - - - - 1,944 0 1,944 0 194
Loans and advances to customers 48,293 1 - - - - 48,2981 47,886 2 4789
Investment secunties and unsecured
nvestment loans 2,272.1 1243 - - - 23964 2,286 7 229
Other financial assets 128 - - - - 128 128 01
Total inancial assets 59,507 8 1243 3,789 7 2,7526 02 66,1746 656530 656.5
Financial Total It faur value
Latilrbes at  LAS 39 held Far value Cash flow carrying ncreased
amorbsed cost  fortrading hedge hedge value Fair value by 1%
€m £m £m £€m £€m £m £m
Financial habdities
Loans from HM Treasury 21,7134 - - - 2,734 21,7134 71
Deposits by banks 4,900 8 - - - 4,900 8 4,900 8 490
Dervatve financial instruments - 716 627.6 127 2 826 4 8264 83
Debt securities in Issue 35,2833 - - - 3588313 33,596 7 3360
Subardinated liabilties 9306 - - - 930 6 6330 63
Tier one notes 1357 - - - 1357 787 0.8
Other financial habilktes 2194 - - - 219 4 2194 22
Total financial habilihes 63,783.2 716 627.6 1272 64,6086 61,9684 6197

NRAM
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43, Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by mensurement Basis o ontino «f

Availatle- Total If faw value
Loans and for-sale  IAS 39 held Farr value Cash flow camng increased
Group reconatios secuntes for trading hedge hedge value Far vaue by 1%
At 31 December 200¢ fm £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Cash and balances at ceniral banks 75104 - - - - 75104 7,5104 751
Derwvative financtal instruments - - 45318 26388 32 74738 74738 747
Loans and advances to banks 3,702 4 - - - - 3,702 4 3,702 4 370
Loans and advances ta customers 65,389 8 - - - - 653998 64,5722 6457
Investment secunties and unsecured
rwestment loans 28153 168 5 - - - 3,087 8 28339 253
Other financial assets 151 - - - - 151 151 02
Total financial assets 79,5470 1685 4,531 8 29388 32 87,1893 86,1078 8610
Financial Total it far value
iabiives at  1AS 39 held Far value Cash flow carmying inereased
amortised cost for trading hedga hedge value Faur valug by 1%
£m £m £m £m £m £m fm
Financial kabidities
Loans from HM Treasury 14,3155 - - - 14,3155 14,3155 1432
Deposits by banks 68,0223 - - - 86,0223 60196 602
Customer accounts 20,607 6 - - - 206078 209016 2090
Dervative financial nstruments - 1398 13778 156 2 16738 16738 167
Debt securities in 1ssue 41,9737 - - - 419737 37,4051 3741
Subordinated liablities 9350 - - - 9350 6167 62
Ter one notes 2337 - - - 2337 700 a7
Cther financial habdities 3850 - - - 3830 3850 38
Total financial kabilities 84,4728 1398 1,377 8 1562 86,1466 81,3873 8139

Vakiation methods for calculations of fair values in the table above for those financial assets and labilities not presented on the Group’s Balance Sheet at
thar far value are set out befow

Cash and balances at central banks
Far valug approximates ta carrying value because they have minmal credit losses and are either short term in nature or reprice fraquantly

Loans and advances to banks
Far valug was astmated by using discounted cash fiows, applying either market rates where practicable or rates offered by other financial institutions
for loans with similar charactenstics The far value of floating rate placements, fixed rate placements with less than six months to maturity and avernight
deposits 1s ther carrying amount

The Group provides loans of varying rates and matunites to customers The far value of loans with vanable interest rates is considered to approximate o
carrying value as the rate charged on thess loans vares In Ine with changes In market rates For loans with fixed interest rates, tarr value was estimated
by discounting cash flows, using market rates or rates normally offered by the Group The change n interest rates since the majority of these loans were
onginated means that ther far value can vary significantly frem thewr carmying value However, as the Group’s palicy 1s to hedge fixed rate loans n respect of
interest rate nsk, this does not ndicate that the Group has an exposure to this difference in value

|
I
Loans and advances to customers !
|

Investment secunties held as loans and recewvables
Fair values are based on quoted prices where available or by using discounted cash flows applying market rates

Unsecured investment loans
The far value of unsecured investment loans approximates the carrying value due to the impawment of these assets to the value of the future expected cash
flows

Loans from HM Treasury
The far value 15 assumed to be the carrying amount as the rate charged on these loans varies in Ine with changes in market rates

Deposits by banks and customer accounts

Far values of deposit liabilities repayable on demand or with vanable interest rates are considered to approximate to camying value The far value of fixed
intexast deposits with less than sx months to maturity 1s their caryng amount The far value of all other depostt labiities was estmated using discounted
cash flows, applying either market rates or rates currently offered by the Group for deposits of similar remaining maturities

\
\
\
Debt securtties in issue, subordinated hatnlities and tier one notes ‘
Far values are based on quoted prices where available, or by using discounted cash flows applying market rates |

|

NRAM
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43. Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by measurement basis oo

The table below summanses the far value measurement basis used for assets and labiibes held on the Balance Sheet at far value There are three levels

to the hierarchy as follows

Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for Identical assets and liabilities
Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices ncluded within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, whether drectly {ie as prices) or indirectty
{ie denved from pricas)

Level 3 Inputs for the asset or labilty that are not based on observable market data (Uunobservable inputs)

Level 1 Lovel 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2010 £m £m £m £€m
Financial assets
Dervative financial nstruments - 3,0221 3,520 4 6,5425
Availlable-for-sale secuntes - 1243 - 1243
Financial habilhes
Derwvative financial nstruments - B26 4 - 826 4

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

At 31 Decamber 2009 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Dervative financial instruments - 3,459 7 4,014 1 7.4738
Avalable-for-sale securities - 168 5 - 168 5
Financial habilities
Bervative financial nstruments - 1,6688 50 16738

The movernent in assets and lablites measured using a valuation techrique for which any significant input 1s not based on observable market data

(Level 3) 15 as follows

Financial assets Financial habilities

Derivative Denvative
tinancial financaal
mnstruments instruments Total
2010 £m
At 1 January 2010 4,014 1 {50) 4,009 1
Total losses in the Income Staternent {488 7} - {488 7}
Transfers from assets to kabdities (50} 50 -
At 31 December 2010 3,520 4 - 3,5204
Financial assets  Financial kabdtes
Dervatve Dervatve
financial financial
insgruments instruments Total
2009 £m £m £m
At 1 January 2009 7 2690 - 7.2690
Total losses in the iIncome Statement (3,218 2 {417 {3,259 9)
Transters from assets to labilities (367 367 -
At 31 December 2009 4,0141 50 4,009 1

Total losses in the Income Statement of £488 7m are a result of fair value losses of £1,157 1m less settlement gains of £668 4m
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44, Collateral pledged and received

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Al 31 December £m £m £m Em
Cash collateral pledged as part of normal dervative operations 5778 B48 6 5778 B4B 6
Cash collateral receved as part of normal denvative operations 4,771 5 5,564 9 885 282
Secunties collateral held 1296 3943 - -

In addition to the collateral amounts shown abaove, certan loans to customers provide security in respect of secuntised note and covered bond funding
as detaled n notes 14 and 15 These loans, and alse cash collateral pledged shown above, are carmed on the Group and Company Balance Sheets The
izbility to repay the collateral receved 1s ncluded within deposits by banks In the Group and Company Batance Shests In the absence of counterparty
default, the Group has no nght to sell or re-pledge the securmes and therefore, 1n accordance with the prowisions of 1AS 39 such secunties are not
recognised on the Balance Sheet

45. Financial risk managemaont

Details of the Group’s approach to nsk management, Including the governance structure and the way in which nsks faced by the Group are dentified,
categorised and managed, are given In the Directors’ Report on pages 30 to 36

Carporate and wholesale credit nsk
Corporate Credit Counterparty risk anses through Treasury hedging and investment actvites and related Balance Sheet management requirements

Credit nsk can be broken down nio two elements
»  Counterparty nsk {the nsk of default or migration of denvative counterparties)
+ ‘Wholesale credit nsk {the nsk of default or rating migration of 1ssuers n the Treasury investment portfoko}

The Board has approved a framework for maximum credit counterparty mits against which total exposures are continually monitored and controlled
The credit imit structure adopts a nsk based matnx whereby lower rated counterparties are afforded lower overall levels of Imit Although publicly available
ratings produced by rating agencias provide a useful guids to the creditworthiness of counterparties an internal rating 1s also used in the lmit assignmeant
process Single counterparties are assigned maximum limits in accordance with the ratings matnx, based on the lowest rating afforded te any part of the
counterparty group

Maxarmum credit nsk exposure at 31 December before collaterat and other crednt enhancements

2010 2009
£m £m
On Balance Sheet
Cash and balances at central banks 6,980 8 7.5104
Dernvatve financial nstruments 6,542 5 74738
Loans and advances {c banks 1,944 0 3.7024
Loans and advances to customers 47,758.5 64,268 2
Investment securities and unsecured investment loans 2,396.4 30878
Total on Balance Sheet 65,622.2 86,0426
Off Balance Shest
Loan commitments 25202 4,173 1
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45. Financial risk management continuesd

The credit quality of loans, advances nvestment securiies and unsecured investment loans i1s set out in the table below

Assets
roctassified
from availabla
Leans and  Residenbal Commercial Unsecured Avallable- -fer-sale to  Unsecured
advances to martgage mortgage personal for-sale loans and  investment
banks loans {oans foans secuntios  receivables loans
At 31 Decamber 2010 m £m £m £m £m em £m
Nerther past due nor impaired 1,9440 393199 319.2 2,986 3 81.2 1,8751 349 4
Past due but not impaired - 4,528 2 46 146 4 - 63 -
Impared - 1,497 2 186 523 4 1924 1020 2506
1,9440 453453 3424 3,656 1 2736 1,983 4 6000
Prowvisions - {1,013 0} {30 0} {542 3) (149 3) {60 7) (250 6)
Total 19440 443323 3124 31138 124 3 1,922.7 349 4
Assels
raclassried
from avalatle
l.oans and Resdental  Commercial Unsecured Avallable- for-sale to Unsecured
advances to mortgage morigage perscnal for-sale loans and nvestment
banks loans loans loans sacurties recevables loans
At 31 December 2009 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Neither past due nor imparred 3,702 4 54,847 2 2826 38858 1447 25217 3580
Past due but not mparred - 4,022 7 02 2016 - - -
Impared - 1,793 8 176 389 4 1917 934 3338
3,702 4 60 663 8 300 4 44769 336 4 26151 691 8
Provisions - (596 1) (128 (564 3) {167 9) (54 1) {333 5)
Total 3,702 4 60,067 7 287 9 3,912 6 168 5 2,5610 3583
Past due not impaired loans
Residantial Commercaal Unsecured
mortgage loans  mortgage loans personal loans
At 31 Decernber 2010 £m £m £m
Up to three months 2,408 4 04 1232
In three to six months 1,276 7 02 79
Over six months 8431 40 153
Total 45282 46 146 4
Residental Commercial Unsecured
mortgage lcans moertgage loans personal loans
At 31 December 2009 £m £m £m
Up to three months 20434 0z 1836
In three to six menths 1,159 3 - 70
Cwer sixmonths 8200 - 110
Total 40227 02 20186

No loans were renegotiated that would otherwise be past due or impaired at 31 December 2010 (2009 £ni)
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45. Financil nsk management « ol

Liquidity nsk

The table below analyses the Group s financial assets and labilties into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the Balance Sheet
date to the contractual matunty date Amounts shown n respect of loans and advances to customers nclude far valus adjustments on portfolio hedging

After threa After six After
maonths months one yaar
Within thres but within but within but withun After

On demand months  six months one year five years five years Total
At 31 December 2010 £m £m £€m £m £m £m €m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 6,980 8 - - - - - 6,980.8
Dervative financial mstrurnents - 3355 125.4 680.5 23117 3,089 4 6,542.5
Loans and advances to banks 8101 1,133 9 - - - - 1,944 0
Loans and advances to customers 3182 3718 3692 7325 59038 40,6026 48,2981
Irvestment securities and unsecured nvestment loans - 67 5 438 114 4 4615 1,709 2 2,396 4
Other financial assets 30 98 - - - - 128
Total financial assets 8,1121 19185 538 4 1,527 4 B6770 45401.2 66,1746
Liabisties
Loans from HM Treasury 21,7134 - - - - - 21,7134
Deposits by banks 4,771 5 431 - 431 431 - 49008
Dervative financial nstruments - 350 520 1581 457 9 1224 8264
Debt securiles in 1ssue - 5596 219 18410 4,641.5 28,8193 35,8833
Subordinated labilmes - - - - 296 1 634.5 9306
Tier one notes - - - - - 1357 1357
Other financial habilities 140 1418 351 285 - - 2194
Total financial habilttes 26,498 9 779.5 1090 20117 5,4386 29,7119 64,6096
Net liquidity gap (18,386 8) 1,139 0 429 4 {544 3) 3,238.4 15,689 3 1,5650
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45, Financial risk management conlipui

Liquichty nsk {continued)
After three After six After
months months one year
Within three but wathin but within but within After

On demand months six months one year five years five years Total
At 31 Decoember 2008 £m £m £m £m £m £Em fm
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 7,445 6 - - - - 638 75104
Dervative financial instruments - 2405 150 1 4310 3,542 9 3,108 3 74738
Loans and advances 1o banks 20231 18793 - - - - 3,7024
Loans and advances to customers 1408 4232 5219 1,044 1 B2002 5506806 653998
Investment secunties and unsecured investment loans - 126 2 836 806 7248 206823 3,087 8
Other financial assets 45 106 - - - - 151
Total financial assets 96150 24798 7556 1,566 0 12,4679 60,3050 87,1893
Liabilities
Loans from HM Treasury 14,3155 - - - - - 143155
Deposits by banks 55648 2353 889 - 1333 - 60223
Customer accounts 8,765 5 3,767 9 1,4198 35182 3,008 4 398 206076
Dervative financial nstruments - 452 558 1830 12249 154 9 16738
Debt securities in issue - 539 2467 9641 65,6504 350586 419737
Subordinated habilites - - - - - 9350 9350
Tier one notes - - - - - 2337 2337
Other financial labiities 86 2083 664 66 9 337 01 3850
Total financial lablities 286554 43108 18776 4,740 2 10,140 7 36,422 1 86,146 6
Net liquicity gap {18,0404)  (1,8308) (11220) (31742) 23272 238829 1,0427

HM Treasury has confirmed that it is its intention to continue to fund the Company so as to mantain the Company as a going concern and enable the
Company to meet its debts as and when they fall due until at least 31 December 2012

Assets and liabilities with a remaining period to contractual matunty of within one year are classed as current and those with a remaining period of more
than one year are classed as non current Non-financial assets and habilities amount to £102 1m and £348 7m respectively (2009 £256 2m and £243 8m)
of which £32 3m and £328 9m respectively are classed as current (2009 £44 6m and £169 4m) and £69 8m and £19 8m respectively are ¢lassed as non
current (2009 £211 6m and £74 4m)

NRAM
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45. Financial risk management + it =4

Non denvative cash flows

The table below analyses the Group's non denvative cash flows payable into relevant matunity groupings based on the remaiuing period from the Balance
Sheet date to the contractual matunty date The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows These differ from Balance Sheet values
due to the effects of discounting on certain Balance Sheet tems and due to the inclusion of contractual future interest flows

After three After six Aftar
months months one year
Withun three But within but within but within Aftar
On demand months  six months one year five years five yoars Total
At 31 December 2010 £m Em £€m £m £m £m &m
Liabifities
Loans from HM Treasury 21,7286 - - - - - 21,7286
Deposits by banks 4,773 3 432 04 435 450 - 4,905 4
Debt securiies in i1ssue - 1,709 3 1.053 9 3,866.7 17,1518 17,9444 41,7261
Subordinated Labilties - 367 14 157 869 2 154 4 1,077 4
Tier one notes - - - 78 31.2 203.9 2429
Total 26,5019 1,789 2 1,055 7 3,8337 18,097 2 18,302.7 69,680 4
After three After six Atter
months months ona year
Within three but wittun but wathin but withun After
On demand months six months one year five years five yaars Total
At 31 December 2008 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Liabilities
Loans from HM Treasury 14,3257 - - - - -~ 143257
Deposits by banks 5,666 5 2357 B9 5 10 1383 - 60310
Customer accounts 88053 3.7827 1,470 8 3,744 7 3,353 3 400 21,1968
Deabt securties in issue - 1,850 9 1,257 2 38157 253201 16,196 1 48,4400
Subordinated liabdities 180 7 3365 12 152 3757 1786 10579
Tier one notes - - - 141 56 4 3834 4539
Total 28,848 2 B,2058 28187 75807 20,243 8 167981 915053

Denvative cash flows

The following table analyses cash flows for the Group's denvative financial labiliies into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining penod from the
Balance Sheet date to the contractual matunty date The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows

After three Aftor six After
months months one yoar
Within three but wathin but within but within Atter
On demand months 51X months one year tve yoars five years Total
At December 2010 £m £m £€m £m £m £m £m
Dervative firancial labiities to be settled on a net basis - {180 4) (141 0) {216 4) {243 0} 03 {780.5)
Dernvative financial kabilties to be settled on a gross basis
- Qutflows - {1197) @307 (53.9) {117.5) - {321.8)
- Inflows e 115.2 279 480 1154 - 306 5
After three After six After
months months. ONe year
Within three but within but within But within After
On demand months six months ong yoar fiva yoars fiva yoars Total
At 31 December 2009 £m £m fm £m £m £m £m
Dervative firancial habilities to be settled on a net basis - (338 2} (296 O} 4458 (4457) 03 (13234)
Dervative inancial habilities to be settled on a gross basis
- Qutflows - (104 7) (43 8) 77 4) (489 3) {115 7) (840 9)
- Inflows - 937 393 701 4593 114 3 7767

NRAM
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45, Fingngial risk management «-aried

Interest rate nsk
The Group uses the following measures 10 monitor and control nterest rate nsk and sensimity

Mismatch nsk

A present value sensitmity calculation 1s carmed out for the fixed rate mortgage and unsecured loan books The calculation measures the sensitmty of
mismatch positions to a 200bp paraltel shift in rates The impact of this shit on the market value of the positions was an increase of £1 8m as at
31 December 2010

Curve and prepayment risk

The impact on the market value of the mismatch position within the fixed rate mortgage and unsecured loan books of non-parallel movements in
nterest rates and a reducton in redemption and repayment rates s calculated The results of the stresses are compared to tngger levels and reported
to management

Basis nsk

After offsetting Balance Sheet assets and labiities wihich reprice to the same index, any balances remaning are netted aganst assets or kabilibes which
repnce to a different index, hence creating notional basis nisk positons  The impact on earnings of a shift in the relevant basis spread over a specified holding
period 1s calculated for each basis sk position The impact of this shift on earnings was £1 7m as at 31 December 2610

Reset nsk

The predominant indices which Balance Sheet assets and iabilites reprice to are 1 month and 3 month LIBOR The daily net position of assets or labilites
repricing to 1 month (or 3 month) LIBOR for the following 1 month {or 3 month) period 1s calculated The resat notional position 15 calculated as the sum of
any positions over a specified amount The impact on earnings of a shift in 1 month {or 3 month} LIBOR over a specified holding penod is calculated The
mpact of this shift on earnings was £2 5m as at 31 December 2010

Foreign currency nsk

At 31 December 2010, assets exceeded habiltes in US$, after taking intc account foreign currency dervatives, by $515m, or £33 2m (2009
$240 5m/£148 9m} Liabilites exceeded assets denominated in € at the same date by €359 8m, or £310 1m {2008 €1,680 5m/L 1,493 2m) after taking ntc
account fareign currency dervatves The Group was sensitive to exchange rate gains and losses of £0 2m for each 1¢ movement in the £ US$ exchange
rate at 31 December 2010 {2009 £0 9m), and of £2 7m for each 1¢c movement in the £ € exchange rate at the same date {2008 £13 4m)

The sterling equivalent amounts of the Group s financial assets and labilmes denominated in foreign currencies are set out in the table below Financial assets
and habiities denominated in steriing are included to reconcile total exposures to the Balance Sheet

Sterling Euro uss Other Total
At 31 Dacomber 2010 €m £m £m £m £m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 6,980 8 - - - 6,9808
Dervative financial instruments 6,56425 - - - 6,6425
Loans and advances to banks 7352 1,164 1 447 - 1,944 0
Loans and advances to customers 48,298 1 - - - 48,298.1
Investment securities and unsacured investment loans 1,003 1 1,2585 1338 - 2,396 4
Other financial assets 90 36 0.2 - 128
Total financial assets 63,568 7 2,427 2 178.7 - 66,174 6
Liabilties
toans from HM Treasury 21,7134 - - - 21,7134
Deposits by banks 2,952.3 1,941 % 74 - 4,900.8
Denvativg financial nstruments 826 4 - - - B26 4
Debt securitigs i issue 77349 18,3651 8,949 3 8340 35,8833
Subordinated liabdities 9306 - - - 8306
Tier one notes 1357 - - - 1357
Other financial labilitres 557 159.3 36 08 2194
Total financial habilities 34,3490 20,465 5 8,960 3 8348 64,609 6
Natonal values of derivatives affecting currency exposure (17,728.2) {8,814.8) {834 1}

273713 145.5 07

Net position (310.1) 33.2 on
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45. Financial risk management ooy el

Foreign currency nsk {continued)

Starling Euro uss Other Total
At 31 Decomber 2009 £m £m £m £m m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 74928 176 - - 76104
Desrvative financial nstruments 74738 - - - 74738
Loans and advances to banks 9720 2500 4 2300 - 3,7024
Loans and advances to customers 65,389 8 - - - 65,3998
Investment securites and unsecured investment loans 14880 14437 156 1 - 3,087 8
Other financial assets 115 34 02 - 151
Tetal financial assets 82,837 9 3,965 1 3863 - 87,1893
Liabiities
Loans from HM Treasury 14,3166 - - - 14,3165
Daposits by banks 3,263 8 2,691 1 67 4 - 6,022 3
Customer accounts 19,685 3 816 4 58 - 20,607 6
Dervative financial instruments 16738 - - - 16738
Debt securities in 1ssue 836215 211618 113384 BS20 419737
Subordinated labilities 8350 - - - 9350
Teer one notes 2337 - - - 2337
Other financial hlabilties 2152 164 3 41 14 3850
Total financial liabilites 48,9438 245336 11,4158 8534 86,146 6
Nogtional values of dervatves affecting currency exposure {18475 3) {11,178 4) 851 5) -

5,458 3 2374 19

Net position {1,483 2) 14889 {19

Concentration nsk
Exposures are analysed by geographical region as follows

- Loans and advances to customers i note 12
- Wnolesale assets in note 18

- Denvatve finangial nstruments in note 42

46. Ultimate controlling parrty

All shares in the Comparny were transferred to the Treasury Solicitor as nominee for HM Treasury on 22 February 2008 as a resutt of The Northern Rock
Transfer Crder 2008 On 1 October 2010 all shares in the Company were acquired wia a share-for-share exchange by UK Asset Resolution Limited who
became the Company's ullimate parent undertaking from that date UK Asset Resolution Limited 1s a private imited company incorporated in the United
Kinggom under the Companies Act 2006 and registered in England and Wales and 1s wholly owned by the Treasury Solicitor as nominee for HM Treasury
As such, the Company considers Her Majesty s Government to remain its ulimate controlling party

47. Contingent hability

The Financial Services Compensatton Scheme

The Financial Services Compensation Scheme (‘FSCS") 1s the UK's statutory fund of last resort for customers of authonsed financial services firms and
pays compensation If a firm 1s unable to pay clams against it The FSCS has borrowed from HM Treasury to fund the compensation costs associatad with
nstitutions that fatted in 2008 ana will receve the recepts from asset sales, surplus cash flows and other recovernes from these institutions in the future

The FSCS meets its cbligations by raising management expense levies These include amounts 1o cover the interest on its borrowings and compensation
levies on the iIndustry Each deposit-takong institution contributes in proportion to its share of total protected deposits

At 31 December 2010, the Group has an acerual of £8 3m in respect of its current obligation to mest management expense levies {2009 £16 4m)

If the FSCS does not recenve sufficient funds from the falled instituions to repay HM Treasury in full, ¢ will raise compensation levies At thus tume, it i1s not
possible 10 estimate the amount or tming of any shortfall resutung from the cash flows recewved from the faled institutions and, accordingly, no provision for
compensation levies which could be significant, has been made in these Financial Statements
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48, Assets ind lizhilities held for resale

On 1 January 2010 the following assets and liabilities were transferred to Northermn Rock plc under the terms of The Northern Rock Transfer Qrder 2009,
Sl 2009/3226

31 Dacember 1 January
2009 Transter 2010
£m £m £m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 7.510 4 {99 7.5005
Loans and advances to banks 3,702 4 {865 B) 2,8368
Loans and advances to customers 64,268 2 (10,343 3) 53,524 9
Far value adjustments on portfolio hedging 1,131 6 {160 3) 9713
Investment securiies and unsecured nvestment loans 3,087 8 {424 0) 26638
Intangble assets 538 23 1) 307
Property, plant and equipment 154 6 327) 1219
Other assets 289 (4 4) 245
Prapayments and acerued income 27 2 {i3 7 135
Total transferred assets {11 877 Q)
Liabilties
Deposits by banks 86,0223 (235 3) 5,787 0
Customer accounts 206076 {20,607 6) -
QOther llabiities 879 (192 687
Accruals and deferred income 4411 (188 4) 2527
Other reservas (512 1) 162 {495 S)
Retained earnings (408 4) {17 1) {425 5)
Total transferred kabilihies {21,051 4)
Balance owed to Northern Rock plc - 9,174 4 §1744

Thare was na profit or loss associated with this transaction The balance owed to Northern Rock pic has been pad in full in cash This was funded by an
increase In the loan to the Compary from HM Treasury of £8,506m

The amounts transferred above represent the amounts transterred from the Group The difference between Group and Company amounts held for resale
relates to Northern Rock (Guernsey) Limited

The transferred assets and labilities above have been included on the Balance Sheet of Northern Rock (Asset Management) plc as 'held for resale’ at
31 December 2009 in accordance with the requirerments of IFRS 5

In addition to the transfer of the assets and habilties set out above, all employees of Northern Rock (Asset Managemant; plc transferred to Northern Rock
plcen 1 January 2010 The two companies entered INto vanous agresments under which services were provided pnmanly by Northern Rock plc to Northern
Rock (Asset Management) plc

As part of the transfer of assets and labilties to Northern Rock ple, Northern Rock (Asset Management) plc has agreed to indemnify Northern Rock ple
against potential claims ansing from past business up to a maximum of £100m

49. Events after the reporting period

The Directors are of the cpinion that there have been no sigrificant events which have occurred since 1 January 2011 te the date of this report that are likely
to have a matenal effect on the Group's financial position as disclosed in these Financial Statements
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